

Education Sector Development Programme VI (ESDP VI)

2013 – 2017 E.C. 2020/21 – 2024/25 G.C.

The Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia



Federal Ministry of Education

Addis Ababa





Published by: The Federal Ministry of Education The Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia Addis Ababa, 2021







Education Sector Development Programme VI (ESDP VI)

2013 – 2017 E.C. 2020/21 – 2024/25 G.C.

The Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia

Federal Ministry of Education 2021 Addis Ababa

Foreword from the Minister

Educating a generation is like planting a tree, what is planted today bears fruit for the next decade, is basis for the economic, social and political wellbeing of a nation. Education is also a Human Rights issue, families and communities are not allowed not to educate their children. Ethiopian Constitution Article 90 dictates on Access to Education for All.

Ministry of Education of the Federal Democratic Republic of

Ethiopia has been conducting Education Sector Development Plan (ESDP) for the last twentyfive years. By implementing all of the previous ESDP-1 to ESDP-5, huge achievements have been registered in Access to Education and Coverage, though a longer mile is still remaining in terms of Education Quality, Equity, especially for students with Special Needs and those from pastoralist community.

The current Education Sector Development Plan, ESDP-6, is designed to strongly address the gaps of the previous EDSPs. Additionally Hallmarks of ESDP-6 are the new and revised curricula after more than two and half decades, use of digital technology for quality improvement, new thoughts in to the non-Formal and Adult Education, , introduction of skills training at Grade-11 and Grade-12 so that hundreds of thousands of students completing secondary education system become junior professionals in their areas of Training. This, in particular, is aimed to enabling the General Education produce skilled labor for the job market without requiring college level education for those that might not have the chance to join Tertiary Education.

If it were not for the immense support MoE has been receiving from Partners in Education, it would have been impossible for to be where we are now in terms of past achievements. In the future, too, no way MoE would be successful in ESDP-6 without the cooperation of our development Partners in Education. My appreciation, in particular, goes to the Global Partnership for Education (GPE), International institute for Educational planning (IIEP), Education Technical Working (ETWG), Steering Committees and Technical Committees and all of those that took part in the preparation of this ESDP-6.

H.E. Dr.-Ing. Getahun Mekuria KumaMinister, Ministry of Education,Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia



Table of contents

Section 1 Situation analysis of the education sector	9
Access, equity, and internal efficiency in general education	11
Pre-primary education	11
Primary education	11
Secondary education	12
Special support programme for the four emerging regions Internal efficiency	12 12
Adult and non-formal education	14
Quality of general education	15
Teachers' and leaders' development	15
Curriculum, teaching and learning materials	15
School improvement programme Information and communications technology	16 16
Quality assurance	17
School inspection	17
Teachers and school leaders' licensing Assessments and examinations	18
Capacity Development	18 20
Cross-cutting issues	21
Gender and education	21
Special needs and inclusive education	21
HIV/AIDS and education	21
Education in emergencies	22
School health and nutrition	22
Drug and substance abuse	23
Water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH)	23
Educational cost and financing	24
Monitoring and evaluation	25
Section 2 Developing the policy framework	
and the priorities and objectives of the Education plan	27
Ethiopia education and training Roadmap - 2030 Objectives	28
Philosophy	28
Vision	28
Values Goals	28
System goals	28 28
Learning objectives	28 29
Major objectives of ESDP VI	30

Section 3 Priority programmes: Goals, objectives,	
components, strategies, and key interventions	31
Programme 1: System strengthening, governance and accountability	33
Introduction	33
Component 1: Governance, accountability and decentralized management for education staff	33
Sub-component 1: Organizational structure of the education sector	34
Sub-component 2: Partnership	34
Sub-component 3: Decentralization and accountability Component 2: Management of Educational Information Systems	34 38
Sub-component 1: Digital technology and infrastructure	38
Sub-component 1: Educational data management	38
Component 3: Mobilization, equitable allocation and use of resources	40
Sub-component 1: Resource mobilization and utilization	40
Sub-component 2: Transparency and accountability	41
Component 4: Communication and research for educational development	43
Sub-component 1: Communication for education development	43
Sub-component 2: Research for educational development Component 5: Capacity development for improved management	44 47
Sub-component 1: Professional development	47
Sub-component 2: Career development and promotion	47
Programme 2: Values: National unity in diversity	49
Component 1: Curriculum content and teaching and learning practices	50
Component 2: School culture and ethos	52
Component 3: Extracurricular/after-school programmes	54
Component 4: Community engagement within the school	56
Programme 3: Quality improvement and relevance to the labour market	58
Sub-component 1: Strengthening national capacities for curriculum development,	
implementation and monitoring Sub-component 2: Establish a structured, vertically and horizontally integrated	59
curriculum content of the education and training system	60
Component 2: Curriculum redesign, development and implementation	61
Sub-component 1: Competency-based and differentiated curriculum	61
Sub-component 2: Curriculum implementation	61
Sub-component 3: Teaching and learning materials	61
Component 3: Transforming teaching into a profession of choice	66
Sub-component 1: Teacher and teacher educator training and professional development Sub-component 1.1: Mother tongue and English language education development	66 67
Sub-component 2: A competency-based incentive structure for teachers, principal	
and teacher educators	67
Sub-component 3: School leaders training and professional development	68
Component 4: Expanding and strengthening science, technology and innovation	72
Sub-component 1: STEAM-based teaching and learning process, creativity and innovation	72 73
Sub-component 2: STEAM-based in-service training for teachers and school leaders Sub-component 3: School and teacher college infrastructure and physical capacities	73
Component 5: Preparing students for the job market through a career and technical	
education programme	75
Sub-component 1: Vocationalize the general education system	76
Sub-component 2: Produce labour market-ready secondary school graduates	76
Sub-component 3: Develop career-aware middle school students with essential or basic career and life skills	76
Component 6: Transforming schools into effective teaching and learning centres	78
Sub-component 1: School standards	78
Sub-component 2: Supportive school environment and education in emergencies	79
4	

Sub-component 4: School leadership	80
Programme 4: Access to general education, equity and internal efficiency	85
Component 1: Pre-primary	85
Component 2: Primary	87
Component 3: Middle school	90
Component 4: Secondary school	92
Component 5: Special support to pastoral and semi-pastoral areas	95
Programme 5: Youth and adult non-formal education	97
Component 1: Youth and adult skills education and training	98
Component 2: Women's participation in youth and adult skills education programmes	99
Component 3: Continuing education programmes (evening and distance learning)	100
Component 4: Short-term non-formal vocational skills training for youth and adults	101
Component 5: Alternative basic education (ABE) for out-of-school children	102
Component 6: Organizational structure for ANFE at all levels	103
Programme 6: Use of digital technology for the education sector	105
Component 1: Use of digital technology for assessment and examination	106
Sub-component 1: Establishment of an online learning outcomes assessment platform Sub-component 2: Creating an online national examination platform	106 106
Component 2: Digital technology for online training for teachers and school leaders	108
Component 3: Use of data acquisition, processing and management technologies in the education sector	109
Sub-component 1: Use of digital technology for the acquisition of school informati	
(on a quarterly, half-yearly and annual basis)	110
Sub-component 2: Use of digital technology to acquire data on students' daily schooling	111
Sub-component 3: Use of digital technology for the school inspection system	111
Sub-component 4: Use of technology for the processing, dissemination, and management of general education statistics	111
Component 4: Creating digital-intensive secondary schoolsmanagement technologies	
in the education sector	114
Sub-component 1: ICT infrastructure for effective teaching and learning	114
Sub-component 2: Improving capacity to use digital technology	114
Sub-component 3: Digital content development	114
Sub-component 4: Digital learning for inclusive access to education Programme 7: Quality assurance	115 117
Component 1: School inspection	118
Component 2: Teacher and school leader licensing and relicensing	120
Component 3: Assessment and examinations systems	123
Summary of cross-cutting issues integrated into the priority programmes	126
Programme 2. Component 2: School culture and ethics	126
Programme 3: Quality improvement and labour market relevance	126
Programme 3. Sub-component 2: Supportive school environment and education in emergencies	126
Programme 4: Access, equity and internal efficiency	126
Programme 5: Non-formal education for youth and adults	126
Programme 6. Component 4: Digital learning for inclusive access to education	127

Section 4 Implementation, monitoring, and evaluation Introduction	129 131
Establishing baseline data and setting targets	131
Completing missed baselines and targets	132
Performance monitoring and evaluation	132
Implementation structures and processes	132
National Steering Committee	132
Education Technical Working Group (ETWG)	132
Technical Monitoring Group (TMG)	133
Programmatic Working Group	133
Regional Steering Committees (RSCs)	133
Continuous monitoring of the national to school level	134
Joint Review Mission	134
Annual Review Meeting	134
Mid-term and final evaluation	134
Thematic/specific studies and evaluations	134
Summary of key performance indicators (KPIs)	135
Section 5 Costand financing	139
Context	141
Distribution by sub-sector in education	141
Criteria used for the simulation	142
Key objectives	142
Assumptions on norms and standards of resource use	142
Macroeconomic framework for ESDP VI	143
Total cost and funding gap for ESDP VI	144
Cost of ESDP VI	144
Funding gap	146
Contributions from partners, the private sector, and households	147
Section 6 Major assumptions, risks, and mitigation measures Assumptions	149 151
Risks	151
Mitigation measures	152

List of tables

Table 1: Key performance indicators for ESDP VI	135
Table 2: Key assumptions for costing	143
Table 3: Projected GDP growth (million ETB, 2019 price)	143
Table 4: Projected education budget (million ETB, 2019 price)	143
Table 5: Costs by programme (million ETB, 2019 price)	144
Table 6: Percentage of recurrent and capital cost	144
Table 7: Projected costs by level (million ETB, 2019 price)	146
Table 8: Annual funding gap (million ETB)	146

List of figures

Figure 1: Implementation structures and arrangement	133
Figure 2: Distribution of education expenditures by sub-sector	142
Figure 3: Cost by programme	145
Figure 4: Cost by type	145
Figure 5: Cost by level	146
Figure 6: Projected funding gap over the ESDP VI period	147
Figure 7: Education budget and donor's contributions to education during ESDP V period	148

List of abbreviations

ABE	Alternative Basic Education	GPI	Gender Parity Index
ANFE	Adult and Non-Formal Education	HIV/ AIDS	Human Immune-deficiency Virus/ Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
BPR	Business Process Re-engineering	ІСТ	Information, Communication and Technology
BSC	Balanced Scorecard	IDP	Internally Displaced Person
CEICT	Centre for Educational Information and Communication Technology	IFAE	Integrated Functional Adult Education
CLC	Community Learning Centre	IFMIS	Integrated Financial Management Information System
CPD	Continuous Professional Development	KG	Kindergarten
CSO	Civil Society Organization	KPI	Key Performance Indicator
СТЕ	College of Teacher Education	МоЕ	Ministry of Education
C&TE	Career and Technical Education	MoF	Ministry of Finance
DP	Development Partner	NEAEA	National Educational Assessment and Examination Agency
DSA	Drug and Substance Abuse	NER	Net Enrolment Rate
E.C.	Ethiopian Calendar	NGO	Non-Governmental Organization
ECCE	Early Childhood Care and Education	NIR	Net Intake Ratio
EGMA	Early Grade Mathematics Assessment	NLA	National Learning Assessment
EGRA	Early Grade Reading Assessment	PSTA	Parent, Student and Teacher Association
EiE	Education in Emergency	REB	Regional Education Bureau
EMIS	Education Management Information System	SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
ESAA	Education Statistics Annual Abstract	SIP	School Improvement Programme
ESDP	Education Sector Development Programme	SMIS	School Management Information System
ЕТВ	Ethiopian Birr	SNE	Special NeedsEducation
ETWG	Education Technical Working Group	TMIS	Teacher Management Information System
G.C.	Gregorian Calendar	TVET	Technical and Vocational Education and Training
GDP	Gross DomesticProduct	WASH	Water, Sanitation and Hygiene
GEQIP	General Education Quality Improvement Programme	WEO	Woreda Education Office
GER	Gross Enrolment Rate	WHO	World Health Organization
GIS	Geographical Information System	ZED	Zonal Education Department

Section 1 Situation analysis of the education sector



Access, equity, and internal efficiency in general education

Pre-primary education

In 2018/19 pre-primary GER was 40.7%, which is well below the ambitious ESDPV 2019/2020 target of 80%. This is only a very slight improvement on the 2014/15 baseline of 39%. The grossenrolment rate increased in the early years of the plan, to 49% in 2015/16, before continuing to decrease in subsequent years.

There are significant regional disparities in access to pre-primary education, with very high pre-primary GERs in the capital regions of Addis Ababa (97.6%) and Harari (91.2%), and much lower enrolment in Benishangul Gumuz (36.7%), Oromia (28.4%), Afar (12.9%) and Somali (7.9%) regions.

In the baseline year (2014/15) O-class had the highest GER (25%), while Kindergarten and CtC each had a GER of 7%. The landscape has not changed significantly over the ESDP V period, but there has been a decrease in CtC enrolment and a slight increase in Kindergarten GER – in 2018/19 the GER in CtC was 2.9%, in O-class 26.7%, and in Kindergarten11.1%.

Research conducted by Young Lives on the scaling up of O-class shows that there was a lack of human capacity, both at the dedicated ECCE administrator level and at the regional level.

Qualified teachers and classroom facilitators (Woodhead et al., 2017). The shortage of O-class teachers resulted in overcrowded classrooms, teachers on low-paid temporary contracts, inadequately trained teachers, and low overall teacher motivation. Inadequate O-class facilities and lack of learning resources have also been a concern (Pankhurst, 2019).

Other challenges cited in the MTR included lack of adequate classrooms and facilities, lack of formal structure and personnel at the grassroots level responsible for pre-primary education, lack of clarity on the goals and modalities of preprimary education among REBs and woredas, and limited budget (Jimma University, 2019). It was also reported that the initial baseline data was flawed as it was based on population projections rather than the actual school-age population. Challenges specific to the CtC modality include lack of commitment from government officials, low commitment from facilitators due to high workloads and lack of incentives, poor academic performance of Grade 5 students assigned to the CtC programme, and lack of parental support.

Primary education

The NIR in Grade 1 has fallen from 107.8% (2014/15) to 92.4% (2018/19), against a target of 98%. There is a notable difference in the number of boys enrolled in Grade 1 compared to girls – the NIR is 8.3 percentage points higher for boys than for girls. The national NIR was 136% (2018/19), indicating that a large number of overage children are enrolling in Grade 1.

The GER for Grades 1-8 was 104.6% (2018/19) and is expected to reach the 106% target by year end.

The NER for Grades 1-8 was 94.7% in 2018/19, 3.3% away from the end year target of 98%. This implies that there are currently 5.3% of primaryschool-age children out of primary school. However, there are wide regional variations, with Afar and Somali having much lower NERs (43.3% and 57.6% respectively), while Gambella, Tigray, Harari and Addis Ababa have NERs above 100%.

The NER for Grades 1-8 in 2018/19 was 90.5% for girls, compared to 98.9% for boys, indicating that girls are still disadvantaged.

During the baseline year (2014/15), GER of Grades 5-8 was 64% and rose to 79.8% in 2018/19, still behind the target of 95%. This compares with a GER of 127.5% for Grades 1-4. This suggests that many students do not continue into the second cycle, either because of repetition or dropping out.

There were 3,666 new primary schools built during the ESDP V period, with the highest rate of increase in Afar (20.2%) and Somali (29.3%).

Overall, great progress has been made in increasing the national primary school enrolment rate in Ethiopia, from 5.7 million to more than 20 million over the past twenty years. Nevertheless, in Afar and Somali, primary school enrolment remains low, well below the national average and ESDP V targets. Enrolment in upper primary education is an area of concern, as many students drop out between lower and upper primary education. There is also a need to continue to focus on girls' education, as the enrolment rates for girls are nearly nine percentage points lower than for boys.

Secondary education

There has been a modest improvement in GER and NER in Grades 9-10, but enrolment is still far from the year-end targets. GER increased from 39.3% to 48.5% and NER from 20.5% to 24.1% compared to the targets of 74% (GER) and 47% (NER).

No targets were set for Grades 10-11 in ESDP V. The GER for Grades 11-12 increased only very slightly, from 10.6% in 2014/15 to 14.8% in 2018/19. The NER initially increased from 6% to 7.4% but then decreased again to 6.2% in 2018/19. This is mainly because enrolments are dependent on the ability of universities to accept preparatory students. There have been 909 additional secondary and preparatory schools established in the country over the last four years, an increase of 24.3% between 2014/15 and 2018/19. The majority of schools were built in Oromia, Amhara and SNNPR regions, while Afar and Tigray regions recorded the highest expansion rates (41% and 34%).

Challenges to secondary schooling include low capacity, low secondary school expansion rates, low transition rates from Grade 8 to Grade 9, as well as general socio-economic and cultural barriers, natural disasters, conflict, and demand for labour. Specifically, the lack of sufficiently accessible secondary schools has been shown to be a major problem, particularly in rural communities, and for girls (Jones et al., 2019).

Special support programme for the four emerging regions

Emerging regions were expected to reach the national pre-primary GER target of 80%. Gambella had the highest rate of expansion, from a baseline of 25% to 55% in 2018/15. Benishangul Gumuz dropped from 38% (2014/15) to 37% (2018/19). Afar and Somali lagged significantly behind the other regions, at 13% and 7% respectively.

There was only a primary GER target set in ESDP V for Afar, as the other emerging regions already had high enrolment rates. In 2018/19 Afar had a GER of 57%, down from the baseline of 70.3%, and well below the target of 98%. It can be noted that with a GER of 84%, the Somali region also remains below the national average (104.6%)

No baseline or target has been set for secondary education for the emerging regions. In 2018/19 Gambella had the highest level of achievement (65%) followed by Benishangul Gumuz (36%). GERs in Afar and Somali regions are considerably lower, at 11% and 17% respectively. Persistent problems in emerging regions are related to both school-based constraints, and non-school-based cultural and societal factors, including incompatibility of the educational structure with pastoralists' livelihoods; poor retention of qualified teachers; problems related to the language of instruction; insufficient school facilities, including lack of WASH; lack of school feeding; irrelevant curriculum; and managerial issues between schools and woredas offices (Woldba, 2013; Woldesenbet, 2015; Moges, 2017; Worku, 2017). The general issues of poverty, drought, hunger, conflict, child marriage and the need for child labour are also major persistent barriers to education in emerging regions.

Internal efficiency

Grade 1 dropouts have increased over the ESDPV period, from a 2013/14 baseline of 19% for both sexes to 25% in 2017/18, which is still far from the 2019/20 target of 5%. Efforts to reduce the number of Grade 1 dropouts include awareness raising, budget allocation, and community dialogue. Persistent challenges include socio-economic and cultural barriers of parents in urban and rural settings, poor school infrastructure, poor preparation for pre-primary education, inaccessibility of school feeding and security problems in some corners of the country.

Grades 1-8 dropouts have also increased over the last three years, from a 2013/14 baseline of 9.9% (male), 10% (female) to 17.7% (male) and 17.3% (female) in 2017/18, against the 2019/20 target of 2%.

The SNNPR region has the highest dropout rate (23.4%) followed by Somali (22.0%), Oromia (20.3%) and Afar (19.3%), all of which are above the national average of 17.5%. Dropout rates for girls are higher than for boys in all of these regions except SNNPR.

Dropouts are highest in Grade 1 (25%) followed by Grade 8 (18%), and Grade 2 and Grade 4, at 17.5%. Repetition rates in Grades 1-8 have decreased over the past three years, and at 4.2% (male) and 3.9% (female) in 2017/18, could reach the target of 2% in 2019/20. Repetition rates have been lower for girls than for boys in all three years.

Survival rates to Grade 5 are 26.8 percentage points behind target, at 42.2% (males) and 41.2% (females) in 2018/19, with a fast decline in the last year. Attention has been given to raising awareness at different levels, allocating budget and conducting a community dialogue. But, as with dropouts in Grade 1, socio-economic and cultural barriers, poor school infrastructure, inaccessibility of school feeding and security issues in some corners of the country remain the main challenges that require special intervention.

According to various research studies conducted in the country, the transition from lower to upper primary schools is negatively impacted by late school enrolment and slow progression between grades (Jones et. al., 2019; Pankhurst et. al., 2018). When children move to upper primary school at age 14 or 15, rather than age 10 or 11, the opportunity costs and pressures to drop out of school to undertake labour activities increase, particularly in rural areas and in poorer households. Poor quality school compound these issues, making investment in education less profitable.

While slight progress has been observed over the past five years in Grade 8 completion rates, the targets have not been met for either male or female students. Grade 8 completion rates were 64.4% (males) and 59.7% (females) in 2018/19, while the target was 67% in 2018/2019, and 74% in 2019/20. The completion rate for female students has been lower than their male counterparts by about 5 percentage points over the past three years.

There are many interrelated factors that cause students to leave school in Ethiopia. In general, the need for children to participate in paid work and home-based activities is a major contributor to school dropouts. Illness of the children themselves and their family members is another major cause of school absenteeism and dropout (Frost & Rolleston, 2013).

When families face major health or economic shocks, students may have to leave school for an extended period, after which it can be difficult for them to catch up and stay motivated (Tafere et al., 2015), especially when schools lack counselling services, school feeding, and there is low parental involvement.

In some schools, children who arrive late are not allowed on the school premises or are physically punished, causing them to miss full days of school rather than just a few hours (Jones et al., 2019).

Poor school quality, including inadequate infrastructure and WASH facilities, inadequate learning resources, overcrowded classrooms, poorly trained teachers, and teacher absenteeism often contributes to children leaving school (Jones et al., 2019; Tadesse, 2019). Some students have been pushed through to higher grades regardless of their skill attainment and end up leaving school because they are not able to follow their lessons (Jones et al., 2019).



Adult and non-formal education

Approximately 3.27 million adults participated in IFAE programmes in 2011 E.C., representing a 34% decrease in enrolments from the previous year.

Of the 1,620,000 adult learners enrolled in the E.C. for Level 2 of the IFAE programme in 2011, only 595,000 (37%) completed the programme indicating that many adults started in the second year and dropped out. This is a significant decrease from the 1.3 million graduates in 2010 E.C.

Since the beginning of ESDP V, approximately 3.95 million adults have graduated from IFAE programmes, or 30% of the 13.2 million illiterate adults, which is below the national ESDP V target of 100%.

The expansion of IFAE and post-IFAE has faced numerous challenges, including poor attention given to the programme at all levels, lack of a legislative framework, absence of a strong and efficient structure at all levels, poor integration of sectors at all levels, low level of expansion of community learning centres (CLCs), absence of short term non-formal vocational training centres, lack of qualified facilitators and poor training facilities, absence of joint children and parental education (little attention given to intergenerational learning), weak documentation due to absence of an adult education management information system, poor cross-sectoral engagement and cooperation among civil society and governmental/non-governmental organizations to increase the participation rate of adult learners.

Three-year post-literacy programmes were intended to be established in all regions, but this did not occur due to factors such as the poor expansion of CLCs, absence of shortterm vocational skills training in all regions, lack of trained facilitators, lack of post-literacy strategies and lack of contextualized teaching and learning materials in all regions.

The aggregate share of females graduating from the two- year IFAE programme increased every year, from 40.7% (2015/16) to 47.1% (2018/19), but this is still well below the target of 70%. Some of the major factors hindering women's participation in IFAE and post-IFAE programmes include household responsibility, lack of needs and practice-based learning materials, absence and/or low level of vocational skills training, poor attention given to facilitators towards attracting women to the learning centre, absence of childparent joint learning programmes and absence of other alternative means of programmes designed for women.

No in-service training programmes have been established in the emerging regions, due to the absence of ownership of evening and distance education, the unavailability of in-service training guidelines, lack of awareness of in-service training programmes among the concerned bodies, the lack of strong and effective structural arrangements, the absence of policy and strategy, and the lack of commitment among educational leaders at all levels.

To improve the quality of ANFE, various documents have been produced, including Minimum Learning Competency (MLC) for the post-literacy programme, Community Learning Centres (CLCs) Standards, Evening School Guidelines, Distance Education Guidelines, CLC Programmes Implementation Guidelines, and Short-term Vocational Skills Implementation Guidelines.

The policy and legislative framework for adult and lifelong learning has not yet been developed. It was also planned to establish Regional Adult Education Boards in the 11 regions and administrative cities. Legislation to establish a National Adult Education Council has been prepared but has not yet been endorsed or implemented.

Quality of generaleducation

Teachers' and leaders' development

The target was to have 100% of appropriately qualified teachers at all levels of general education (except for pre-primary, where the target was 15%). There was no achievement data available for pre-primary and achievement for the remaining levels was below the target, with a higher percentage of qualified male teachers than female. In Grades 1-4 (2018/19), 88.8% of teachers were appropriately qualified (85.5% female, 92.4% male), 90% in Grades 5-8 (86% female, 92.4% male), 94% in Grades 9-10 (80.4% female and 98.8% male) and only 28.6% in Grades 11-12.

According to ESAA 2011 E.C., 27,002 secondary school, second cycle (11-12) teachers are qualified in BA/BSC/MA/MSC. Out of this total number of qualified teachers, females and males represent 79.9% and 98.9% respectively. However, the teachers' training blueprint mentions that senior secondary school teachers should be qualified in MA/MSC only. Accordingly, out of the abovementioned number of qualified teachers, only 28.6% (F, M) are qualified in MA/MSC.

The target for new teacher intakes that scored above 2.6 in the Grade 10 examinations was 35% by 2019/20, and achievement in 2019 was well beyond the target, at 95%. The success was due to the newly developed selection criteria for new entrant candidates.

In 2018/19, 52.5% of parents ranked teaching as a high prestige profession, against the target of 60%

More than 189,139 mother-tongue teachers in primary school have been trained, which is 100% ofthetarget. In addition, 79,698 English language teachers were trained on the English Language Teaching Improvement Programme (ELTIP), which is above the target of 70,000 teachers for primary and secondary schools.

Moreover, 63.8% of teachers have received inservice training in mathematics and science, which is very close to the 65% target.

It was planned to establish centres of excellence for teaching in CTEs and universities, which has been 100% achieved.

The main contributing factors to the success of teacher training include the implementation of different incentive mechanisms, the commitment of stakeholders, the participation of NGOs, and the focus of government bodies on the professional development of teachers.

Key remaining challenges concerning inservice training are the high turnover of trainers of trainers (ToTs), inadequate follow-up and monitoring of the classroom practice of trained teachers, shortage of competent trainers and module developers, unreliable school data on the number of trained teachers, and lack of planning capacity to identify training needs.

Teachers' classroom attendance rate was planned to increase from a baseline of 88% (2014/15) to 96% (2019/2020). According to a study conducted by the Ministry of Education, the teacher attendance rate was 82% (MoE, 2017/18).

Teacher attrition rates in primary education decreased from 5% in the baseline year (2014/15) to 2.2% by 2018/19, on track to achieve the target of 2%. Attrition rates are slightly higher in secondary education, at 3% in 2018/19.

It was found that 30.2% of leaders in primary schools are qualified, which is well below the 100% target. The results are similar in secondary education, with only 29% of leaders qualified, and an equally low number of qualified female leaders both in primary (11%) and secondary (8%.) schools.

The overall proportion of female leaders decreased from a baseline of 16% (2014/15) to 11% (2018/19) at primary level, and from 14% to 8% at secondary level

The low rate of increase in the number of qualified leaders is attributed to the lack of interest of trainees, as the qualification is not highly valued.

The poor results in increasing the number of female leaders is due to the difficulty to attract competent and experienced female teachers, as they would likely be assigned to distant and remote schools, and in some cases were not assigned to the intended positions (Jimma University, 2019). The general lack of interest in becoming school leaders and the high turnover of female school leaders are other challenges noted (Education DevelopmentTrust, 2019.)

Curriculum, teaching and learning materials

It was planned to implement a curriculum reform, but progress has stalled. A major precursor to the curriculum reform was the establishment of a centralized curriculum institute, which has not yet been completed. However, the curriculum department has conducted a formative evaluation of existing curricula and capacity building of the directorate.

The target of a 1:1 pupil/textbook ratio was achieved at all levels.

On average, primary school pupils have access to four textbooks each; however, there are considerable regional variations: Tigray has a high pupil/textbook ratio with nine textbooks per pupil, while Somali has the lowest, with less than one textbook per pupil.

The pupil/textbook ratio in secondary schools in 2018/19 was 10.9. There is also a wide regional variation, with Dire Dawa having the highest pupil/textbook ratio at 14.5; and Gambella having the lowest ratio, at 6 textbooks per pupil.

The achievement of ESDP V textbook targets can be attributed to the high commitment of the Ministry of Education in printing and distributing textbooks, allocating budget, and using continuous follow-up strategies. The problems with textbooks shortages lie in the distribution and handling of textbooks, rather than in their production, particularly at the regional level.

There is also a lack of accurate data on the number of students and on the ratio of textbooks per subject, which inhibits good distribution decisions. The regional disparities in textbooks are due to inefficiencies in the process of distributing textbooks to schools and the inaccessibility of particular schools. Some regions also do not have enough space to store textbooks, even when the ministry can deliver the materials (Jimma University, 2019).

The ratio of textbooks to teachers' guides was planned to be 40:1, but achievement data is unavailable. It should be noted that there are also problems with the distribution of teachers' guides at regional and local levels.

School improvement programme

It is reported that 100% of schools have an active PSTA, and 100% of schools are developing and implementing a quality school improvement plan (although it is noted that not all plans are necessary for sufficient quality).

Nationally, 74% of schools are using at least half of their school grant for teaching and learning, which is above the 60% target.

In 2018/19, 27% of primary schools responding to surveys reported having electricity (although these numbers may be affected by low response rates). About 73% of secondary schools have electricity, with a 5% increase on last year.

Among primary schools, 38% have radios, 20% have tape recorders, and 7% video recorders.

78.7% of secondary schools have computers, but around 23% of computers are not functional. Secondary schools in Addis Ababa are the most connected to the internet (76%), followed by Harari and Dire Dawa, while internet availability at national level covers only 21.5% of the total secondary schools.

The 2018/19 pupil-section ratio for Grades 1-8 is 53, against the set standard of 50, and 56.8 for Grades 9-12 against the standard of 40. Somali has by far the highest pupil/section ratio, at 92 in primary and 112.8 in secondary.

Pupil/teacher ratios are above standards, at 39 for Grades 1-8 against the set standard of 50, and 22.5 for Grades 9-12 against the standard of 4-0.

The percentage of schools meeting and exceeding the standards is well below targets at all levels: 12% of pre-primary schools against the 60% target; 10% primary schools against the 70% target, down from the 25% baseline; and 19% secondary schools against the 70% target, also down from the 25% baseline.

The percentage of schools that met or exceeded the expected standards for school inputs, was only 6.7% in 2011 E.C., far below the target of 70% set for 2012 E.C. The results are similar for the percentage of schools that met or exceeded the expected standards for school processes, with an achievement of 10.7%.

The establishment of school-level PTSAs, the engagement of PTSAs in school activities, and their commitment to the design and implementation of school improvement plans, as well as improved government and nongovernmental organizations support, are the major factors contributing to the achievements of the SIP.

Challenges include low parental participation in the students learning and teaching process; school buildings not up to standards; poor preparation of the school improvement plan; shortage of human resources (both support and academic staff); lack of school facilities appropriate for special needs students and girls, shortage of budget; lack of accountability; capacity problems of PTAs in planning and implementing school improvement; lack of monitoring and evaluation, and lack of availability of quality data.

Information and communications technology

As regards the use of ICT, 72.7% of primary schools have access to radio-based assisted instruction, which is below the 100% target, but

an improvement from the 63% baseline (2007 E.C.)

It was planned that 50% of secondary schools would have computer-assisted instruction. 78.7% of secondary schools do have computers; however, 23% of computers are notfunctional. This is a notable increase from the 6% baseline (2007 E.C.)

Of the 2,069 secondary schools (out of 3,241) with appropriate VSAT technology, 62.3% used television broadcasts, which is below the 100% target.

It was also found that 100% of technologyassisted content was developed across all secondary school subjects, thus accomplishing the planned activity under ESDP V.

To make the digital content accessible to students with special needs, 100% of the digital learning resources in the plasma television broadcast were assisted with sign language.

Nationally 21.5% of secondary schools have internet access, which is below the 28% baseline (2007 E.C.) Secondary schools in Addis Ababa are the most connected (76%), followed by Harari and Dire Dawa

It was planned to establish a 'School Net Cloud Computing' infrastructure, where students and teachers would be able to access digital content centrally. A central data centre and a Network Operation Center (NOC) have been established, but an associated learning management system is not yet functional.

It was also planned to establish ICT maintenance centres, but this activity was not completed because of a limited budget.

The ICT for education policy has been drafted but not yet endorsed.

Grade 12 students in pastoral areas were provided with 180 solar powered cell phones and 480 solar-panel tablets, which included digital learning content (CEICT, 2019/20). There was also an initiative to establish an inclusive computer library network in selected schools (e-Braille readers), but no reports or baseline data were available.

Nearly 400 people, including teachers and ICT technicians across the country, have been trained on ICT.

The commitment of the regional education bureaus to establish computer laboratories, the commitment of the CEICT to establish the national data centre and the NOC, the production of broadcast-based digital content for secondary schools, and the installation of low-cost internet service in schools are the major factors that have facilitated the expansion and utilization of ICT. The absence of a clear ICT structure, shortage of budget, interruption in electricity, poor attitude of teachers and school leaders towards the use of technology, the absence of spare parts, and lack of qualified ICT personnel at school level have been the challenges faced so far.

Quality assurance

School inspection

From 2017/18 to 2019/20, 81% of primary schools, 66% of secondary schools achieved a secondround inspection. Similarly, between 2015/16-2018/19, 78% of kindergartens and 36% of ABE were externally inspected once, against the 100% target.

From 2017/18 to 2019/20, the highest proportion of primary and secondary schools were found to be at level 2 (70% of primary and 71% of secondary). There were only 9 primary schools, and 2 secondary schools were classified as level 4. Similarly, from 2015/16 to 2017/18 for kindergartens, 22.1% of schools were level 1, 65% at level 2 and 12.5% at level 3. While ABE had the lowest inspection results, with 85% of schools at level 1, and 15% at level 2.

The target was for 55% of schools to reach a higher level in the re-inspection, and the reports showed that 56% of level 1 schools moved to level 2, while 8% of level 2 schools moved to level 3.

Overall, the majority of primary and secondary schools are still classified as levels 1 and 2 (20.3% and 72.6% nationally), i.e., below the standards.

Despite the efforts made and the targets set, the second-round school inspection findings revealed that little progress has been made in moving schools from one level to the next. The low achievement is mainly the result of poor school infrastructure and facilities, including inadequate classrooms and pedagogical resources, the lack of qualified teachers and other staff, poor planning and support for teaching, lack of adequate teaching and learning materials, and inconsistent continuous professional development (CPD) programmes. Poor documentation and recording of data regarding females and students with special needs, coupled with the low level of support provided to them, are not given due attention as planned. In addition, the schools' relationships with parents, local communities and partner organizations to secure support are found to be weak and below the standards set. Moreover, the initiative from all school actors to proactively upgrade their schools to higher levels of performance, based on the feedback received from the regular inspection system, is minimal

The percentage of woredas conducting school inspection activities was 87% for primary, 75% for secondary, 43% for KG and 38% for ABE schools, which is below the target of 100%.

The majority of primary and secondary school leaders report having a copy of their inspection report, 96% and 91% respectively, which is very close to the 100% target. Achievement is lower in kindergarten, with 78% of leaders having copies of the report, and only 36% in ABE.

The arrangements of inspection services for CTEs and YANFE education centres have not been implemented. Both the inspection framework and checklist have been developed but not yet indorsed. Data on the percentage of school improvement plans that incorporate inspection findings to improve the quality of their school are not available.

Capacity building initiatives undertaken during the ESDPV period include: Printed copies of KG, ABE, primary and secondary school inspection framework, and guidelines and annual inspection reports were published and distributed. Motorcycles for each woreda inspector and computers for the zonal inspection service, were distributed.

Moreover, 10,546 zonal and woreda inspectors (9,074 male and 1,472 female) were trained in school inspection techniques, system monitoring & evaluation, and in techniques for capturing, organizing, and analysing school inspection data. The Ministry of Education has a quarterly consultative meeting with Regional education inspectors and stakeholders to review the status of school inspection implementation.

The MoE has started to publish and distribute all inspection reports through a magazine and website.

Major challenges regarding school inspection were: high turnover of inspectors from federal to woredalevelsduetolowpayment; the recruitment of supervisors is not based on competence or merit, so they do not focus on incorporating feedback from inspectors; inadequate school inspection programmes and lack of experts; lack of skills in collecting inspection data; late provision of inspection feedback affecting the school improvement process; poor organization and management; lack of reporting and feedback on specific cross-cutting sectoral issues; lack of digitalized and integrated data management system; lack of international experience of inspectors; and lack of autonomy in the country's quality assurancestructure.

Teachers and school leaders' licensing

The target was for 90% of primary and secondary school teachers, and 100%, of principals and supervisors to complete the licensing process. However, 72% of primary and 75.3% of secondary school teachers completed the licensing process. And only 24% of primary and 48.7% of secondary school principals completed the licensing process, and 31.5% of primary and 56.7% of secondary school supervisors completed the licensing process. Of the total applicants, only 24% were licensed.

The development of licensing requirements for teachers with special needs, guidance and support, development of a professional standard for CTE teachers, and the development and implementation of high-quality assessment instruments were somewhat completed. The establishment of steering committees and an operational licensing information system were among the incomplete items in the plan.

Success factors were the efforts made towards preparing the written examination, capacity building of licensing experts from the regions and woredas, monitoring and evaluation in all regions, the development of different licensing documents, and the sensitisation of teachers, school leaders and stakeholders to these documents.

Challenges included difficulties due to the regional licensing departments being established under different institutions, lack of incentives for examinees, lack of a fixed period for testing, failure to provide timely results and feedback, budgetary constraints, lack of capacity building, lack of experience sharing with countries with advanced licensing systems, lack of an integrated and digitalized operational information system for licensing, and absence of an authenticated framework as a quality assurance body.

Assessments and examinations

Among Grade 2 students, 70% were expected to reach 'basic' or higher level of proficiency in reading and comprehension, by language. The results achieved in the 2016 EGRA assessments were 60.1%, and then decreased to 53.3% in 2018, indicating that the target has not been met, and scores are worsening over time.

In ESDPV, pupils in Grades 4 and 8 were expected to score at least 50% and above (composite score) in the NLAs. In 2015/16, the composite scores for Grade 4 were only 33.6%, and achievement was lower in Grade 8, at 25.2%.

The target for the percentage of Grade 10 students scoring 50 and above was 50%, but only 9.1% of students reached this score. Likewise, the target for Grade 12 students was 70% and above, while the achievement was 26.6%.

In 2018, Grade 10 students' performance was lower than in the 2014 assessment in all subjects, falling from a composite score of 40.64 in 2014 to 33.3 in 2018, with the biggest decrease in English, which dropped by 10 points.

In the Grade 12 NLA results, students in 2018 also scored lower than in the 2014 assessment in almost all subjects, except for English. The composite score difference between students' achievement in 2010 and 2018 was 6.1 points, indicating that students' performance is declining.

In Grade 10, "Level 3" schools had an average of 37.1% in all the 5 subjects, while "Level 2" and "Level 1" schools had similar results, 32.9% and 32% respectively. In Grade 12, "Level 3" schools achieved an average of 44%, while "Level 2" and "Level 1" schools achieved an average of 40.2% and 38.6% respectively. In addition, 68.1% of Grade 10 students scored 2.00 points (passing mark) and above in the Ethiopian General Secondary School Examinations. This is an improvement on previous years, but still behind the ESDP V target of 87%.

In Grade 12, only 47.3% and 47.5% of students scored 350 and above in natural and social sciences respectively, which also falls short of the ESDPV targets of 75% and 56/57%.

Question items for the Grades 10 and 12 NLAs, and Grade 10 national examinations were taken from a curriculum-linked item bank, with psychometrically fit instruments. Analytical reports for all learning assessments and examinations were prepared frequently and kept on track. Capacity-building training was also offered to regions on classroom assessments, item development, and how to conduct educational assessments. Participation in regional and international student learning assessments has been well recognized by policy-makers and educators and is planned as part of ESDPV. The aim is to gauge the knowledge, skills, and performance of Ethiopian students in comparison with those of other countries, to indicate whether the education system is performing as well as it could, whether the school system is preparing students for the global knowledge economy of the 21st century, and what students are learning and what needs to be improved to improve learning. It is felt that this will help learn from policies and practices of countries that have demonstrated improvement; and set evidence-based policy targets against measurable goals achieved in other education systems. It has been acknowledged that this kind of international benchmarking is highly relevant towards achieving the Education SDGs that every country in the world has signed up to.

Accordingly, the NEAEA developed a national framework to guide officials in choosing the kind of assessment to be carried out, but Ethiopia has still not yet participated in any international or regional assessments as planned.

Challenges include inadequate physical facilities for the provision of the National Examination programme, and limited number of experts in the area of assessment-related fields like psychometrics and special needs. Another concern was that 21 fist century skills are not properly addressed in the assessment systems, as both NLAs and national examinations only use multiple-choice questions, which do not allow for the assessment of performance skills.

Lack of accountability for the assessment findings, lack of an integrated digital data management system and lack of timely dissemination of assessment results to the various key stakeholders were also some major challenges faced in the past five years.



Development

The MoE sought to develop a new job evaluation and grading system, to provide competencebased salary progression, but the system was not implemented as intended. The new structure was submitted to the civil service commission but was not approved.

A 10-year educational roadmap was developed and endorsed, outlining major strategic shifts for the Ethiopian education system. This includes a reorganization of the structure: six years of primary education, two years of middle school, and four years of secondary education, to facilitate better implementation and management. The education and training sector has also been split into two separate ministries: The Ministry of Education, which is now responsible for general education, starting from pre-primary to secondary, including the college of teacher training, and the Ministry of Science and Higher Education, responsible for TVET and universities. As of 2017/18, the EMIS has started capturing and incorporating data on issues related to WASH,

refugee education, and children with disabilities, but the quality and reliability of the data is still a concern because of the ill-equipped structure and underqualified staff. There are also limited resources for upgrading the data entry software.

It was planned to roll out the IFMIS system up to the woreda level across all regions. The system has been successfully applied at the federal and regional levels, but there have been challenges to its use, including a lengthy approval process, inconsistent internet connection, and lack of human resources. Due to these challenges, IFMIS is not yet fully functional at the woreda level.

It was planned to establish coordination offices at the federal and regional levels to support the integration of cross-cutting issues, to be linked to focal points in each zone and woreda. But these coordination offices have not been set up, and programmes are still treated in a mainstream way in the various directorates and units of the sector.



Cross-cutting

issues

Gender and education

The gender parity index has remained constant for pre-primary schooling, at 0.95. The GPI for both primary and secondary schooling declined; for primary schooling from a baseline of 0.92 in 2014/15 to 0.9 in 2018/19, and for secondary schooling from a baseline of 0.92 to 0.87 in 2018/19. The target for all levels of schooling was a GPI of 1.00, or full gender parity, which will not be met.

The GPI varies by region. The GPI for primary schooling in Addis Ababa is 1.15, which means that female enrolment is higher than male. Somali and Harari had the lowest GPIs, at 0.77 and 0.82 respectively. At secondary level, Afar and Somali have the lowest GPIs, of 0.70 and 0.69 respectively, while Addis Ababa (1.1) and Amhara (1.05) performed above the target level.

Barriers to girls' education in Ethiopia are caused by a range of institutional, socio-economic and cultural factors, including harmful traditional practices (HTPs), heavy workload at home causing girls being late, absent and having limited time for homework; long distances to school; gender-based violence in school committed by both peers and teachers; child marriage; low parental aspiration for girls' education; preference for investing in boy's education; lack of gender-sensitive facilities; and lack of gendersensitive teacher training (Altinyelken & Le Mat, 2018; Dea, 2016; MoE, 2014; Presler-Marshall & Stavropoulou, 2017).

Special needs and inclusive education

Total enrolments in primary and secondary schools grew from 78,471 (41% female, 59% male) in 2014/15 to 353,739 (43% female, 57% male) in 2018/19. Pre-primary enrolment in 2018/19 was 15,944 (43% female, 57% male), which is twice the enrolment of 2015/16 (7,899). In general, the enrolment of children with disabilities is trending upwards at all levels.

Data on children with disabilities is difficult to obtain and there is a lack of valid instruments to identify children with special needs. The calculation for the GER of children with special needs is based on the World Health Organization's estimate that 15% of the total population has special needs. Data on the actual number of students reported as having special needs would provide a more accurate GER.

Pre-primary SNE enrolment rates remained the same from 2015/16 to 2017/18 but then doubled to 1.3% in 2018/19. The target for GER of children with SNE in Grades 1-8 was 61% in 2018/19 and 75% in 2019/20, but in 2018/19 it was only 11%, 50 percentage points below the target. By the end of 2019/20, the enrolment rate for children with SNE in Grades 9-12 was expected to reach 45% but was only 2.8% in 2018/19.

The main challenges for pre-primary SNE include poor school facilities, lack of community awareness, lack of qualified teachers for their level, distance between 'O' classes and children's residences (especially in rural areas), and other socio-economic and cultural barriers.

Low enrolment rates of students with special needs in primary and secondary education could be attributed to various factors such as poor identification mechanisms, lack of appropriate organizational structures at all levels of the education sector, lack of qualified teachers in SNE and disability-specific skills, lack of special needs teacher training in regular teacher training programmes, absence of assessment centres in the regions, poor financing, lack of materials to facilitate learning, and poor coordination and collaboration between sector ministries /regional bureaus, etc. The general lack of conducive school environments and socio-economic and cultural barriers are also observed issues.

HIV/AIDS and education

The HIV prevalence rate in Ethiopia is estimated at 1% (UNAIDS, 2018), with wide regional variations, from 4.3% in Gambella to 0.2% in the Somali region, and an urban prevalence seven times higher than in rural areas (Federal HIV, 2018).

An estimated 690,000 people were living with HIV in 2018, of whom 36,000 (5%) were children under the age of 15 (UNAIDS, 2018). New infections in 2018 were estimated at 23,000, of which 2,700 were among children, while there were around 11,000 AIDS-related deaths, of which approximately 1,800 were children (UNAIDS, 2018).

HIV interventions at the school level mainly focus on preventing the transmission and spread of HIV, including curriculum integration, peer education, life skills education, voluntary counselling and testing, and condom promotion and distribution. The establishment and strengthening of anti-HIV/AIDS clubs, mini-media and AIDS resource centres are also important behavioural interventions. In some schools, income-generating activities (IGAs) have been established and financial and material support has been provided to needy students (particularly economically disadvantaged female students). However, income-generating activities were not included in the ESDP V and were performed as additional activities during the planning period.

It is difficult to track the achievement of the targets set in ESDP V, as regional and schoolbased HIV/AIDS interventions were not included in the routine reporting system, nor in the regular supervision checklist and review meeting. The EMIS also does not capture HIV-sensitive indicators. Therefore, weak reporting and data capturing system was identified as one of the majorgapsinmonitoring HIV/AIDS interventions.

Other weaknesses include high staff turnover in life skills and peer education; weak workplace interventions at all levels of the education system; low accessibility of most school-based HIV/AIDS prevention activities (less than 50% of students have access to prevention activities); absence/weak mini-media, resource centres and anti-HIV/AIDS clubs in some schools; little ownership at regional and school levels (no focal person or coordinator assigned), and lack of impact assessment

Education in emergencies

There was a severe drought in 2015/16, affecting an estimated 4 million children and teachers (Ethiopia Education Cluster, 2016). Water shortage and disrupted school feeding contributed heavily to school absenteeism and dropout, and interrupted livelihood meant that parents were unable to cover the cost of school supplies (Ethiopia Education Cluster, 2016). Internal conflict, flooding, and the effects of drough thave also contributed to massive internal displacement, leaving more than one million children displaced (National Disaster Risk, 2019).

The main barriers preventing children affected by an emergency from attending education services are lack of temporary learning spaces, inadequate food and water in schools, lack of learning resources, as well as the barriers of fear and trauma (National Disaster Risk, 2019).

To address these crises, the government, development partners and NGOs have coordinated their efforts, led by the Education in Emergencies Cluster, by providing temporary learning spaces, school materials, school meals, WASH facilities, accelerated school programmes, and psychosocial support. The rise in humanitarian emergencies had drastically increased the required amount of emergency funding, with around \$30-34 million needed for the education sector each year during the ESDP V implementation period. In 2018, 2.61 million children were targeted for emergency education services, but only 1.6 million or 32% of those targeted, were reached ((National Disaster Risk, 2019).

Ethiopia is the second largest refugee-hosting country in Africa, with more than 628,500 refugees (EMIS, 2019), of whom more than 60% are school-age children. Ethiopia has a long history of supporting refugee populations, including the development of a 2015-18 National Refugee Strategy aligned with ESDP V. The refugee law adopted and revised in early 2019 has granted refugees the same right of access to pre-primary and primary education as Ethiopian citizens; and access to secondary and tertiary schools within the limits of available resources.

National efforts include: establishing new school facilities and expanding old ones; increasing the supply of education; integrating refugee educationintothenationalsystem; and improving the quality and relevance of refugee education (EMIS, 2019).

The overall GER for ECE in refugee populations was 61% in 2018/19, a notable increase from 45% in 2017/18.

The primary GER for refugee populations was 67% in 2018/19, with considerable regional variations,7% enrolment in Samara, compared to 104% in Assosa and 114% in Dollo Ado. The bulk of primary enrolment is in the first cycle (1-4), with 85% compared to 49% for the second cycle primary.

The GER in secondary education is considerably lower than in primary and ECE, at 13%. This is because a large part of the secondary school population is still in primary school, has dropped out of primary school, or has never attended school.

The GPI is 0.91 at the pre-primary level and then decreases in the higher levels of schooling, 0.64 in primary and 0.34 in secondary.

While there have been dramatic increases in enrolment, 45% of school-age refugee children are still out of school. There are shortages of classrooms, supplies and qualified teachers, and most refugee schools do not meet minimum standards for safe learning (EMIS, 2019).

School health and nutrition

In 2016, approximately 20.5% of households were estimated to be food insecure, with the highest

percentage in Amhara (36.1%), Afar (26.1%) and Tigray (24.7%) (WFP, 2019). Nearly 7 million primary school-going children (almost 39% of the total primary school children in the country) live in these food-insecure areas and often go to school hungry, without breakfast (MoE, 2015a).

Considering these food insecurity issues, malnutrition is a common challenge among children in Ethiopia. Nationally, 37% of children under five are stunted, and 23.4% are wasted (EPHI, 2019).

The government has recently launched a National Nutrition Programme to address poor nutrition in Ethiopia, and school feeding is an important element of this initiative. The Ministry of Education has drafted a national school feeding policy and strategy to implement the programme.

The Government of Ethiopia has also taken the lead in responding specifically to droughtaffected school children. In 2015/16, the government secured \$30 million and provided emergency school meals to 2.8 million children in 6,742 pre-primary and primary schools. In 2017, the government allocated \$9 million and reached 1.3 million children, while in 2018, \$10.7 million was allocated to provide school meals to 2.2 million drought-affected students throughout the country. In 2018/19, 569,299 school children benefited from the \$9.3 million that was allocated by the regional governments (Addis Ababa, SNNPR, Oromia, Amhara and Benishangul Gumuz), of which \$1.76 million was for emergency school feeding response and the rest for the regular HGSF programme.

Drug and substance abuse

A meta-analysis on the prevalence of khat, alcohol, and cigarettes use among Ethiopian secondary and university students found that more than half of them had used at least one of these substances (Roba et al., 2019).

Early exposure to these substances is associated with increased risk of HIV infection and risky sexual behaviour, increased violent behaviour (particularly gender-based violence), poor academic performance, alcohol abuse, high risktaking, and suicide (Roba et al., 2019; Abebe, 2013).

The government planned to provide peer education and age-specific life skills education for HIV/AIDS and DSA awareness, through school clubs, 'student services' and broadcasting local digital contents focusing particularly on cross-cutting issues and related topics. It was also planned to raise awareness about drug and substance abuse through mini-media, health clubs, and short-term training. However, problems remain.

Water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH)

It was planned in ESDP V to ensure full access to WASH facilities at 100% of schools. But the percentage of primary schools with an adequate water supply declined from 40% in 2009 E.C. (2016/17) to 38% in 2010 E.C. (2017/18), and then to only 27% in 2011 E.C. (2018/19.¹ The highest proportion of access to water is in Addis Ababa (87%) followed by Dire Dawa and Harari, with 77% and 64% respectively. Somali has the lowest access; only 7% of its schools have an adequate water supply.

Nationally, 84% of secondary schools that responded to water-related questions reported to have water, and the functional water supply is 79%. Most schools, 64%, have water available from 5 to 7 days per week. About 66% of schools reported that their water supply is easily accessible for students with special needs.

Nationally, 79% of primary schools have toilets, of which 34% are traditional (which do not meet standards) and 45% are improved toilets. Nearly 36% of schools have toilets accessible for children with special needs, and 49% are accessible for young children.

At the regional level, Gambella has the lowest proportion of toilets accessible for students with special needs and young children, with only 14% of toilets for both.

In secondary schools, 96% have toilets, the majority of which are improved toilets, while only 23% have traditional toilets. However, there are significant regional variations.

According to a School Wash Mapping report prepared by the SIP directorate in 2017 (MoE, 2017) limitations to sufficient WASH facilities in Ethiopian schools include limited capacity in planning, monitoring, evaluating and reporting on WASH in schools; lack of a public budget line for WASH and dependence on external financing; poor operation and maintenance capacity; low levels of awareness of the proper use of facilities; inadequacy of existing facilities including lack of separate facilities for girls, and lack of WASH in emergency-affected areas.

¹ Note that WASH indicators were calculated based on the number of schools that responded to the related part of the questionnaire.

Educational cost and financing

National expenditure in education has more than doubled, from ETB 36.1 billion in 2012/13 to about ETB 88.6 billion in 2016/17, an annual average growth rate of 25.5% in nominal terms and 14.4% in real terms. (UNICEF, 2017).

The budget allocation for the implementation of ESDPs also shows increasing trends. The total budget for ESDP I was 12.2 billion birr, and the proportion of spending on primary, secondary and tertiary education was 47 %, 8.4 %, and 26.2 % respectively. While the total ESDP V budget of was 453,822 billion birr, with 7% spending on preprimary, 57% on primary and 26% on secondary level. This increasing trend in ESDP expenditure is mainly due to the growth in recurrent costs and a significant expansion of higher and secondary education.

According to the 2016 World Bank Public Expenditure Review, recurrent public expenditure per student at the primary level is 557 birr, 1,398 birr at the secondary level, and substantially more at the higher education level, at 14,493 birr. Under the current system, only 2.6% of the bottom 10% of the income group benefit from the higher education budget (World Bank, 2016).

While children can attend primary school without fees, households with children enrolled in primary education still spend about 1.1% of their total household expenditure on the costs related to school attendance. As there are still fees for secondary school, the cost of attending public secondary school was around 4 times higher than public primary school (Omoeva et al., 2016).

Government expenditure on education has increased significantly over the past two decades, but there are still budgetary gaps. To address this, the government has developed a enabling policy framework to mobilize resources from bilateral and multilateral partners.

Monitoring and evaluation

The National Steering Group met frequently to implement the educational and training roadmap and give strategic guidance and decisions. It also played a monitoring role to ensure a smooth teaching and learning process.

The sub-sector technical monitoring groups, which were meant to monitor progress against the plan in each region, were not well organized; and were not practical as intended.

The ETWG was instrumental in enhancing better coordination among pooled and non-pooled partners in the implementation of GEQIP-II. The group also played a key role in the design and negotiation of the General Education Improvement Programme for Equity (GEQIP-E). In addition, the ETWG reviewed and approved the application and proposal for the Education Sector Programme Implementation Grant. The ETWG also enhanced fund mobilization and increased financing for ESDP V through joint instruments – Education in Emergency (EiE) Cluster Group for internally displaced persons (IDPs).

The mid-term review was carried out in 2017/18. The findings of the review were shared with all stakeholders so that they could take appropriate measures to reverse the underperforming targets.

A joint review mission was expected to take place annually, but it was conducted only once during the ESDP V period.



Section 2

Developing the policy framework and the priorities and objectives of the Education plan



Ethiopia education and training Roadmap - 2030 Objectives

Philosophy

In Ethiopia, education is conceived as a life to be lived and a means of preparing young people for future life. It is an instrument for cultivating the individual in a holistic way, including moral, cognitive, social, spiritual, physical, psychological and vocational attributes. It is also understood as a public good based on indigenous and global knowledge, which serves as a means for social harmony and development. Education is perceived by society as an entity that depends on excellence, competitiveness and collaboration. Moreover, it is recognized as an instrument for expanding the horizons of knowledge and advancing science and technology, to transform the country into a respectable member of the world.

Vision

Transforming society through harnessing the full potentials of learners to become productive citizens.

Values

The values of the education and training system (policies, instructions, plans) are:

Good governance, expressed in terms of accountability and shared responsibility, reliance on standards, and other measures of quality and productivity.

Equity: fairness in sharing of the resources available for education and training, and

Excellence: high quality, acquisition of skills necessary for self-reliance, not only high scores on assessment tests, but also intellectual capacities to reason, interpret information and solve problems.

Goals

To realize the above-mentioned vision of education and training, Ethiopia aspires to achieve the following goals at the system level as well as at the individual learner level through the implementation of the Roadmap.

System goals

(a) Equity: Equitable access to and participation in quality education and training at all levels must be improved. All children and young people have equal access to quality education and training that will enable them to achieve their full potential. Achieve universal access and full enrolment of all children from pre-school to middle school education; increase secondary school enrolment for 15-18 years olds to 70% and post-secondary enrolment for 19-23 years olds to 17% by 2030. Regardless of geography, gender, socio-economic background, disability, gift and talent, equity will be maintained for every child and young person from pre-school to secondary school, TVET and higher education.

(b) Quality: The quality of education and training at all levels is to be enhanced to improve learning outcomes. All students will have the opportunity to achieve high levels of learning outcomes, comparable to those of high performing international systems. There is a need to maintain and strengthen national learning assessments for improvements.

Vocational skills assessments and exit examinations will be strengthened. Thus, the aspiration is to be among the best performing countries in the region in terms of student performance in international assessments such as TIMSS and PISA, as well as in world skill competitions, in 10 years' time. System-wide accreditations will continue to be maintained and strengthened at all levels to meet international, regional and national standards.

(c) Relevance: It is essential to ensure the relevance of education and training to the world of work and social participation. Curricula, pedagogy, teaching and learning materials and assessments need to be aligned with labour market requirements.

(d) Good governance: Enhancing and empowering leadership and management to ensure good governance that improves efficiency and effectiveness throughout the sector/system. The education and training system needs to develop a mechanism that enforces accountability, transparency and ownership.

(e) National unity in diversity: Schools, TVET institutions, universities and other learning centres play important roles in shaping and enabling students from different backgrounds, religions, and ethnic backgrounds to interact, understand, accept, and embrace differences in order to foster unity. This creates a set of shared experiences and aspirations for building national unity.

Learning objectives

The Ethiopian education and training system is expected to develop the following specific skills, competencies, and attributes that each learner needs to acquire in order to become a full, productive, nationally and globally competitive citizen, capable of adapting to economic, social and technological developments.

(a) Knowledge and skills: Every learner will be literate and numerate, master the core subjects of sciences, mathematics, social sciences, arts, vocational and occupational skills.

(b) Creativity and thinking skills: Every learner will be encouraged and guided to possess a spirit of inquiry and will be competent to continue to acquire knowledge throughout his/herlife, mastering a range of important cognitive skills such as critical thinking, reasoning, creative thinking, and innovation.

(c) Leadership skills: through formal and informal opportunities, every learner reaches his/her full

potential to work in teams and take leadership roles, and to demonstrate entrepreneurship, resilience, emotional intelligence, and strong communication skills.

(d) Multilingual proficiency: Every learner will be proficient in his/her mother tongue, the official national language(s) of communication, the interregional language(s), and English as a language of international communication.

(e) National unity in diversity: Learners across the education and training system will develop ethical, civic, and moral values that will prepare them to live in harmony and work for the unity of the country, through an appreciation of diversity, inter-culturalism and inclusion.

(f) Lifelong learning: Every learner will receive the opportunity to cultivate sustained learning habits and educational efforts as a personal commitment, including CPD and IFAE.

(g) Physical well-being and health: Every learner will have the opportunity to access quality physical and health education to develop physical skills, fitness, self-esteem and self-image.

Education and training are viewed as:

- 1. an instrument for cultivating the individual holistically, including his/her moral, cognitive, social, spiritual, physical, psychological, and vocational attributes
- a public good based on indigenous and global knowledge, which serves as a means of social harmony and development
- 3. an instrument for broadening the horizons of knowledge and advancing science and technology, to transform the country into a respectable member of the world

VISION & VALUES

HILOSOPHY

The vision is that the education and training system to transforms society through harnessing the full potentials of learners to become productive citizens

Three key guiding values: Good governance, Equity, and Excellence

All learners acquire:

Knowledge and Skills, Creativity and Thinking Skills, Self-reliance, Leadership Skills, Multilingual Proficiency, National Unity in Diversity, Lifelong Learning, Physical Well-being and Health

EQUITY	
EQUIT	



RELEVANCE





Education Sector Development Programme VI

29

Major objectives of ESDP VI

7. Quality assurance

To put in place a rigorous, systematic and objective quality assurance system to monitor the performance of schools, CTEs and ANFE centres; assess the competence of teachers and school leaders; ensure that acceptable standards of education are being maintained; and monitor students' performance to verify that students' learning takes place in school.

6. Digital technology for education Digital technology for education transformation:

Put in place an effective and efficient education system through utilizing digital technology that transforms the education management, teachinglearning process, assessment and examination, school inspection, teacher licensing, and the education data management system.

1. System strengthening and governance:

To put in place an effective educational management and administration system with sector-wide accountability, sustainable financing and good governance that strives for professionalism, innovation, excellence and quality service delivery

General Objective:

Enhanced education and training, especially from pre-primary, primary to intermediate-level compulsory education, supported by high-quality education, science and appropriate technology, contribute to the fairness of our nation by enhancing the individual's mental, physical, social, emotional and positive values, and developing competent citizens who will grow the economy and compete internationally.

2: National unity with diversity:

To develop ethical, civic and moral values in learners across the education and training system which prepare them to live in harmony and work for the unity of the country, through the appreciation of shared values, diversity, inter-culturalism, fraternity, peace, and inclusiveness

3. Quality enhancement and relevance to Job Market:

Improve the quality of general education by providing knowledge, skills, and values that makes all students creative, competent, productive, and responsible citizens.

5. Youth and Adult Non-Formal Education:

Build a learning society linked to a lifelong learning opportunity that meets the diverse learning needs of youth and adults.

4. Access, equity and internal efficiency

To improve equitable access and internal efficiency from preprimary through secondary education, enabling all children and youth to participate in quality and inclusive education

Section 3

Priority programmes: Goals, objectives, components, strategies, and key interventions



Programme 1

System strengthening, governance and accountability

Goal

Toput in place an effective educational management and administration system with sector-wide accountability, sustainable financing and good governance that strives at professionalism, innovation, excellence and quality service delivery

Introduction

Strengthening an education system means aligning its governance, management, financing and performance incentive mechanisms to produce learning for all.

System strengthening, therefore, needs to consider both the internal environment of policies, rules, structures, processes, actors and relationships within the sector as well as the wider forces that influence the functioning of the system.

Strengthening the education system, therefore, needs to consider the interaction of the three levels (institutional, organizational, individual); it is about aligning policy with rules, structures and behaviours, including the relationships between key actors, linked to the required resources – human and financial – to achieve results.

The promotion of effective leadership, management and governance at all levels

of the education and training system is a continuous priority of the Ethiopian government, reflected in GTP II as well as in ESDP V. Good governance is one of the guiding values of the system and enhancing governance, planning and management to improve efficiency and effectiveness throughout the sector/system is a major goal of the ESDP VI.

The strategies proposed under this programme aim to transform governance and empower stakeholders. They address the challenges identified earlier, in particular the complexity of the governance and management structure and the quality and use of data, they also focus on strengthening relationship with public and private partners.

Good governance depends on strong capacity within the administration and among the leaders and managers of learning institutions. Such capacity is also essential to the successful implementation of the sector plan.

Component 1: Governance, accountability and decentralized management for education staff

Objective: Institutional architecture and human resources are adapted to enhance good governance, effective management and professionally led reform across the education system, thereby delivering relevant and quali- ty education to learners in a decentralized environment

Indicator s	Baseline (2018/19)	Targets (2024/25)	Source
Revised organizational structure with clear functions and roles to achieve educational outcomes	Existing	Put in place at Federal / Regional levels	Mo E REB s
Percentage of institutions equipped and staffed with the minimum requirement for the post	DNA	TBD	Surve y report

Education Sector Development Programme VI

33
Sub-component 1: Organizational structure of the education sector

In previous strategic plans, the government has sought to improve the governance, accountability and management of education. ESDP VI, like previous sector plans, is consistent with this policy basis. ESDP VI will focus on a few select important policy priorities rather than trying to spread limited resources over too many priorities. These are aligned with the priorities set out in the ten-year education development sector plan which emphasizes the creation of well-rounded citizens.

During the ESDP V period, it was planned to restructure and put in place the organizational structure with clear roles and responsibilities. However, except for the split of the ministry into two departments, it was not restructured in a way that shows clear roles and responsibilities and clear relationships with other regions. Hence, it may be useful to examine the internal structure of the MoE and its relationship with the REBs, zones and woreda education offices. The lack of achievement of some key ESDP V objectives is related to structural relationships in the system. It was identified that there was poor management of resources and a mix of tasks in the structure at all levels, which was not based on operational work. Under ESDP VI, the review of the stated federal and regional structures will therefore motivate recommendations for improvement. Hence, the review of the organizational structure, functions and roles to achieve educational outcomes will be further emphasized and implemented during the five-year planning period and at the end of this strategic period stakeholders expressing satisfaction with the management and reform of the education system.

Sub-component 2: Partnership

The provision of equitable quality education for all needs synergy with the different stakeholders. This means creating partnerships with the private sector, NGOs, faith-based non-profit organizations and other organizations, including industrial bodies and domestic and foreign companies. They can play a role at all levels of the education and training system.

The partnership creates synergy to promote and support the role of local educational organizations by financing their work, by providing capacitybuilding assistance to improve their operations, organization and programme implementation. In addition, an agreed national strategy and guidelines will be developed for multi-sectoral collaboration and convergence. ESDP VI aims to support and encourage their participation in the education and training sector by establishing and strengthening partnership with sector ministries, institutions, the private sector, development partners (DPs) and civil society organizations (CSOs).

Sub-component 3: Decentralization and accountability

The rationale for decentralization and accountability in education tends to be associated with democratization, improved efficiency, and enhanced quality of education. However, the Education and Training Roadmap study identified poor management of resources where accountability was absent.

Good governance is one of the values guiding the system. "To strengthen governance planning and management to improve efficiency and effectiveness throughout the sector/system" is one of the major goals of the education sector. Governance of education and training is shared between many actors, at federal, regional, zonal, woreda and school levels with varying scope and degree of responsibility and mandate.

The policy of decentralization has been implemented for years and has allowed for greater autonomy at the sub-national level, on the assumption that this would be accompanied by accountability. Decision-making on important issues such as the appointment of teachers and other support staff, the assignment of schoollevel leaders and principals, and the use of the budget has shifted from the regional to the woreda level.

Many woredas are exercising their autonomy in the management of material, human and financial resources and prepare their educational development plans. On the other hand, others are still in their infancy and cannot fully assume their responsibilities due to the low capacity of the woredas on all fronts.

Moreover, the autonomy has not yet been fully materialized at school and institutional levels, where decentralization can make a difference. Schools should be considered as units of change to strengthen the decentralization process and practices, accompanied by accountability. Decision-making closer to the school level is expected to lead to a better adaptation of the curriculum to local settings, foster a greater sense of ownership, improve student and teacher motivation, encourage parental participation, and increase communities' willingness to contribute to the overall school improvement. Therefore, attention should be focused on deepening decentralization to woreda and school levels, where appropriate.

It is understandable that the transfer of authority should be carried out gradually, rather than all at once. Authority should be transferred to individual woredas and schools only after they have passed specific tests of readiness. In this regard, all efforts should be made to build their capacity to reach this level, on an equitable basis, across the country. Furthermore, in 'handing over' responsibilities, it is important not only to build capacity, but also to ensure that local authorities/schools fully understand the 'levels of autonomy'.

What is common at all levels of the education system is the lack of a strong accountability

mechanism that holds organizations, institutions and staff responsible for their performance. Decentralization must be accompanied by accountability to ensure that activities are performed efficiently and that output and outcometargets are achieved as planned.

Three key areas that require critical consideration in decentralizing education policy are ensuring equity, developing accountability measures and systems, and developing local-level capacity at all levels and in all sectors of the education system. Based on this underpinning principle, the establishment and monitoring of a system that will strengthen decentralization and accountability at all levels will get due attention during the five-year implementation period of ESDP VI.

Sub-component 1: Organizational structure of the education sector					
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
	Revised organizational structure implement- ed with clear roles and responsibilities of MoE, REB, ZED, WEO clarified	Existing structure not revised	Revised struc- ture with clear roles and responsibilities put in place		
Revised organizational structure, functions and roles to achieve education- al outcomes	Percentage of staff with appropriate qualifica- tions/expertise assigned to required positions	TBD*	100%	MoE, REBs report	
	Ratification of education law and policy	No	Education law ratified		
	Human resource develop- ment strategy developed and implemented	No strategy developed	Strategy de- veloped and implemented		
Revise the organizational str procedures, and guideline		oles, competen	cies), standard ope	rating	
Ratify and implement the	e education law and polic	y documents			
Revisit the existing gove	rnance system, its struct	ures and leade	ership mechanisr	ns	
Redefine the mandates, resp WEO and schools in light o		and relationshi	ps between the Mol	E, REB, ZED,	
Establish education and t	raining councils at natior	nal and region	al levels		
Leverage ICT to improve	Leverage ICT to improve service delivery				
Organize an independent, high-level think tank to study emerging challenges, evaluate and interpret policies and programmes, and advise the Ministry of Education from time to time					
Review/develop a human resource development strategy with a broader view of the capacity and professional development needs of the education sector as a whole					
Ensure that education leade professional competencie			nebasisofappropri	ate	
*TBD: to be determined					

Sub-component 2: Partnership					
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Establish and strengthen partnership with sector ministries, institutions, the private sector, devel- opment partners (DPs) and civil society organi- zations (CSOs)	Develop a standard operat- ing procedure and guideline for partnership between the public, private, DPs and CSOs	None	Standard oper- ating procedure developed and guideline put in place		
	Developed and adopted national strategy and guide- lines for different sectors to collaborate and create convergence	None	Developed and strategy and guidelines implemented	MoE, REBs	
	Number of govern- ment-NGO forums estab- lished and operationalized at federal and regional levels	1	GovNGO forums (13+) established at the federal level and in all regions	report	
	Number of talented and needy learners benefiting from private sector, DP and CSO scholarship pro- grammes	DNA*	TBD		
	Level of satisfaction of DPs and CSOs with the part- nership at the federal and regional levels	DNA	Satisfaction rated as `Very satisfac- tory'and above	Survey report	
	tructure for broad stakeholder ation, implementation and n		and consultation in e	ducation	
	ework and a national strategy f on with the MoE/REBs on fact			nvergence	
Introduce joint planning, bidentified interventions	oudgeting and implementation	that allows the	different sectors to v	work on	
Develop/revise standard of DPs and CSOs	perating procedures and guide	lines for partne	ership between publi	c, private,	
Strengthen the governme meetings	nt-NGO forum at national and r	egional levels	through regular cons	ultative	
Support the private see	ctor to engage directly in th	ne provision (of equitable, qualit	ty education	
	tives to strengthen private sect ture maintenance, school m			school	
Mobilize the private sector talented and needy lear	r, DPs, CSOs and individuals to mers	support schola	arship programmes f	or gifted,	
*DNA: Data not available					

Sub-component 3: Decentralization and accountability					
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
	Availability of a system for monitoring and reporting on sector performance by internal and external bodies	None	Sector-wide perfor- mance monitoring and reporting system in place	MoE, REBs report	
	Level of satisfaction of pri- mary beneficiaries with the quality and effectiveness of national support and shared services	None	Satisfaction rated as 'Very satisfactory' and above	Rapid	
Setting up and observ- ing a system that will solidify decentraliza- tion and accountability at all levels	Tools (policies, guidelines, manuals, etc.) developed to deepen decentralization and accountability at the school level	None	Decentralized responsibility and accountability exer- cised at school level	assessment report	
	Percentage of MoEbodies/ institutions and REBs using (a) ICT and (b) e-governance system	0	100%		
	Percentage of MoEorgans/ institutions, REBs and WEOs practicing effective results-based management (RBM)	TBD	100%	MoE, REBs	
	performance monitoring syster ure timely corrective action	m, focused or	n achieving results, to tr	ack progress	
Establish internal and ex Parliament	ternal regulatory bodies to mo	nitor the sec	tor and report on perfor	mance to	
	onitoring system to the school l ssessment and institutional pe				
Improve the effectiveness and quality of national support and shared services in the areas of ICT, programme and project management, strategic policy monitoring, knowledge management, data management and use, etc.					
Conduct statutory audits, sectoral audits, financial monitoring studies, periodic performance audits, routine monitoring and posting of released funds.					
Develop school policies, accountability in scho	procedures, guidelines and ma ols	inuals to stre	ngthen transparency an	d	
Developatrainingmod	duleforcommunity represen	tativesonso	choolmanagementco	nmittees	

Component 2: Management of Educational Information Systems

Objective: The education system will be transformed from being data-rich to a data-driven system by improving the quality, reliability, timeliness, and use of educational data and information at all levels

levels			
Indicator s	Baseline	Target s	Sourc e
Availability of EMIS policy	None	EMIS policy issued and implemented	
Formal and timely release of analytical statistical abstracts on education at the macro and micro levels.	Partially practiced	Reliable and timely statistical data produced at all levels.	MoE , REB
Use of the results and recommendations of the ESDP VI mid-term evaluation to make evidence-based adjustments to policies, strategies, and targets, as appropriate.	Mid-term evaluation findings and recom- mendations requiring action	Actions taken to address the recom- mendations of the mid-term review	s, EMI S
Development and introduction of diversified EMIS data formats that allow stakeholders to access more detailed data on the quality and efficiency of the education system, as well as on access to and participation in it	Non-existent	Diversified EMIS data formats available to stakeholders	EMIS

Sub-component 1: Digital technology and infrastructure

Digital technology is a technology that brings together different applications, devices and systems and connects people to the digital world. ICT is currently used in many sectors. It not only increases efficiency, but also saves time and allows the exchange of information in a short period of time, which contributes significantly to economic and social development. Education in Ethiopia has traditionally been centered on sources such as schools, teachers and textbooks. Students can only acquire knowledge through the teaching and learning process, through presentation and direct contact with the teacher in the classroom. Due to the global transformation into a digital system, modern society wants to know information as it happens and when it happens, and the world is moving from an information society to a knowledge society.

By using ICT, making learning materials accessible to all will enable students to acquire sufficient knowledge, skills and abilities. By updating teaching strategies and assessment systems, it helps students to easily understand the curriculum content and improve their academic achievement. They are also used to improve information management in schools and facilitate information exchange.

In the 21st century, any education and training system, educational management and administration, and information-based monitoring, evaluation, and decision-making systems can only be effective if they are used within the framework of information and communicationtechnology development.

The lack of ICT infrastructure in schools, the lack of skills in using ICT equipment, the lack of ICT skills and knowledge in educational institutions are key issues.

Therefore, the educational system in the next five years can be properly planned, expand the technological infrastructure, implement and evaluate to achieve the objective and expected results of the sector. If we can build a better digital technology infrastructure and put it into practice, it will be possible for the education sector to contribute significantly to the success of our country's vision of prosperity by transforming student outcomes to the desired level and producing a quality skilled manpower.

Sub-component 2: Educational data management

Data management is the process of feeding, storing, organizing and maintaining the data created and collected by an organization. The data management process includes a combination of different functions that collectively aim to make sure that the data in education systems is accurate, available, reliable and accessible.

The Education Information Management System is a system that collects, analyzes, and informs policymakers and the government about the state and challenges of the actual performance of the education system so that it can be used for operational decision-making and strategic Education Sector Development Programme VI

planning in particular, and policy formulation and revision in general.

During the next five years of the strategic planning period, the education information management system will introduce more diverse EMIS data formats allowing stakeholders to access more detailed data on quality and efficiency of the education system, as well as on access and participation in the system. Collecting and analyzing information on the allocation and use financial resources for the education sector, as well as collecting data on the contribution of the school community, donors, governmental and non-governmental organizations, private sectors and school revenues, by developing and updating data collection tools

Based on the data collected and investigated the managers can understand whether the limited resources allocated to the education sector and the resources from various partners are used for the desired purpose or not. Thus, the accountability system will be established at all levels.

Sub-component 1: Digital technology and infrastructure				
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	Availability of a student database with all relevant traits	None	Student database made available	
Establishment of a digital technology and infrastruc- ture	Percentage of institu- tions networked with a digital infrastructure for EMIS	0	100%	MoE, EMIS
	GIS, SMIS and TMIS integrated with EMIS	Not integrated	Fully integrated	
Develop a student database v level, resident, refugee, inte				
UpgradeEMIShardwareand	dsoftware;digitizetheedu	ucation managen	nentanddatacolle	ctionsystem
Developinfrastructurefor	EMISimplementationpla	atform(network	, software, and ha	rdware)
Leverage technology to disse technology and other mea		ation that can be	easily accessed thr	ough mobile
Integrate GIS, SMIS, and	TMIS with EMIS			
Update and rationalize th	e number and content	of EMIS tools/q	uestionnaires	
Sub-component 2: Educat	ional data management			
Strategy	Indicators	Baselir	ne Targets	Source
	Number of regions re timely and reliable edu data with EMIS		12 +	
Collection, processing, and dissemination of education-	Percentage of KPIs fo information is present analyzed in the annual cal summary	ed and	100%	EMIS
al data to inform decision making	Percentage of officials on how to collect and us data for planning and d making	se their DNA	100%	
	Percentage of stakehol satisfied with EMIS re		90%	
Produce and distribute federal and regional brief statistical abstracts to all regions and stakeholders				
electronically				

Adopt web-based dissemination of EMIS data and make the education system more open and transparent

Develop an integrated data management system using up-to-date school, teacher and student identifiers

Improve the organizational structure of EMIS (at MoE, REB, woreda and school levels) by assigning adequate and competent staff and providing the necessary IT infrastructure at all levels

Strengthen the professional capacity of EMIS and education experts to develop high-level tools that are harmonized and updated with international tools

Design a robust human resources strategy to retain EMIS staff through competitive packages, including succession plans for departing staff members

Build the capacity of local officials on how to collect better data and use it for planning and decision-making in a consistent manner

Produce an integrated report (EMIS, Inspection, Licensing, TDP and NEAEA) annually

		r			
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Collection, processing, and dissemination of financial performance data to inform decisions	Availability of financial data in EMIS report	0	Financial data captured by EMIS	EMIS	
Collect financial data from v	Collect financial data from various stakeholders and incorporate it into the EMIS annual report				
Collect financial data on community contribution (cash and in-kind)					
Support implementation of fin	ancial performance data collectio	on, record kee	eping, analysis	and reporting	

Establish a system for tracking the allocation and use of funds

Component 3: Mobilization, equitable allocation and use of resources

Objective: The education sector will have a reliable and sustainable source of financial resources that must be used effectively, transparently and accountably

Indicators	Baselin e	Targets	Source
Availability of a comprehensive resource mobilization strategy for the education sector	0	Strategy developed and implemented	MoE
Monitoring system in place to track the use of the budget	0	Monitoring system implemented	, REB
Accountability mechanism designed and implemented	0	Mechanism in place	s, EMI S

Sub-component 1: Resource mobilization and utilization

According to a study released by the World Bank, Ethiopia is one of the first countries in sub-Saharan Africa to invest more than 25% of its budget in education, of which 45% is spent on primary education and 12% on secondary education, which is very little compared to the number of students and teachers at these levels. Practically; 85% of the total budget is allocated to salaries. Funding secured from development partners and the community to fill the budget gap has been commendable. However, significant results were not achieved in improving the quality of education as a whole and students' achievement in particular. As noted in the section on costs and financing (Section 5), the funding gap will range from 13% to 18% of the total education budget during the ESDP VI implementation period, as projected based on baseline assumptions as well as new initiatives envisioned to be implemented during the plan period.

Major changes will be introduced in the education and training system during the implementation period of the 10-year education and training plan. The structure of education is reorganized into 6+2+4, i.e. six years of primary education (Grades 1-6), two years of middle school education (Grades 7-8) and four years of secondary education (Grades 9-12). The age of completion of general education is raised from 16 years (at the end of Grade 10) to 18 years (at the end of Grade 12). Secondary education is organized into

three categories: General education, Foundation TVET, and Special school for the talented.

The vocationalization of education by integrating learning with practice, life, production, etc. at the general education sub-sector level will be the focus of ESDP VI. In addition, free and compulsory education will be provided from pre-primary to Grade 8, while secondary education will be free. It is envisaged that school feeding will be introduced gradually from pre-primary to Grade 8. A robust application of digital technology will be a major undertaking of ESDP VI in all areas of the education system. Technology will be used as a powerful tool to transform learning.

These and other related innovative interventions will require a huge budget to succeed.

To address this challenge, the strategy is to diversify and intensify financial resources.

The role of the community, the private sector, and the international community is vital to the advancement of the education and training system, and its proper functioning.

Strengthening public-private partnerships at different levels is essential to mobilize financial resources as well as an innovative idea.

Establishing accountability through developing a policy and strategy for mobilizing finance and resource to increase their contributions to the sector will be implemented.

Moreover, a high-level resource mobilization Committee/Task Force/ that negotiates with bilateral and multilateral development partners and the creation of Education and Training Development Fund/Bank and a system for monitoring budget utilization will be put in place.

Sub-component 2: Transparency and accountability

The Education and Training Roadmap study identified poor management of resources where accountability was weak and at times absent. Improving governance and accountability in the management of education is related directly to empowerment and transparency.

A transparent system will encourage accountability in that it holds institutions and those in authority accountable for their actions. An accountable institution, in turn, encourages public participation in governance. When responsible individuals and groups are held accountable, the system engenders trust.

Organizations are transparent when they enable others to see and understand how they operate honestly. To achieve transparency, an organization must provide stakeholders with information about its activities and governance that is accurate, complete and timely. For accountability to be achieved there must be transparency. Transparency enables accountability. Transparency is a prerequisite for accountability.

In this connection, public access to information is key to greater transparency and accountability in education. With open data, it is possible to monitor educational progress and identify any bottlenecks and bad practices in the system.

School report cards are instrumental in sharing school-level data with stakeholders. They can cover many aspects of the schoolenvironment, from student enrolment and achievement, funding, teacher qualifications and pupil-teacher ratios, the state of school facilities, to materials such as textbooks. This information can enable the school community – and specifically parents – to verify that the school has received all of the services and resources it was entitled to.

In general, the process of decentralization can substantially improve the efficiency, transparency, accountability, and responsiveness of service provision.

Accountability and transparency can take different forms, and the relationship between them depends on the extent to which they are designed to support each other. Empirical studies show that, in some cases, transparency is a prerequisite for accountability. In other cases, transparency requirements can make accountability confusing and difficult to achieve.

Furthermore, the existence of transparency will result in better governance, more accountability and less corruption. Better and more information allows citizens, government entities to hold institutions accountable for their policies and performance. Transparency and accountability assess the extent to which educational leaders and managers at all levels and implementers can be held accountable for their use of funds and the results of their actions by the public, the legislature and the judiciary. This reinforces the extent to which institutions and individual staff are held accountable for administrative decisions, the use of resources, and the results obtained.

The establishment and implementation of a performance monitoring and evaluation system that will strengthen internal and external performance audits will be put in place. Moreover, regular audit/inspection systems will be intensified at all levels, including in schools, to ensure compliance with financial management, public accountability and transparency; and the publication of comprehensive, reliable, and timely financial data.

Sub-component 1: Resource mobilization, allocation, and utilization					
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Diversify and intensify the	Share of government ex- penditure in the education sector	68%	72.3%		
mobilization and effective and efficient use of finan- cial resources	Share of education and training budget mobilized from partners	21%	14.7%	MoE, REBs, EMIS	
	Share of private and com- munity contribution	11%	13%		
Develop a resource mot	pilization strategy for the	education secto	r		
	ling committee/task force on and expand existing ones, pro				
Ensure targeted funding	for national priority area	is that need urg	ent attention		
Ensure adequate budget al students with disabilities	location at the federal, regior	al and school leve	ls for the educatio	n of	
Analyze past trends, curre	nt status, and sustainability	offinancial resou	rcesfortheeduca	tion sector	
Explore the possibilities and system for education and	d create an education and tra d training	ining developmen	t fund/bank or sim	ilar funding	
Mobilize resources from all multilateral developmer	stakeholders, including NGO It partners	s, the private sect	or, and bilateral a	nd	
Strengthen the engagemen and others to support the	t/investment of the private se e education system	ector, NGOs, faith-	based organizatio	ns (FBOs),	
Conduct a comprehensi	ve donor mapping and up	date it periodica	ally		
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Diversify and intensify the	Share of government ex- penditure in the education sector	68%	72.3%		
mobilization and effective and efficient use of finan- cial resources	Share of education and training budget mobilized from partners	21%	14.7%	MoE, REBs, EMIS	
	Share of private and com- munity contribution	11%	13%	_	
Implement an advocacy ca for additional investmen	mpaign in print, online, and a ts in education	t stakeholder ever	nts to drum up pub	lic support	
Undertake a review of t	racking expenditures in th	ne education see	ctor		
Installarobustmonitoring	and control system to ensur	eeffectiveandeff	icientuseofprogr	ammefunds	
	xpand results-based financin ts, while ensuring that inec			vement	
Conduct resource mobiliza	tion training for staff and me	embers of resourc	e mobilization co	mmittees	
Develop a policy framework revenues	c and guidelines for institutio	ns and schools on	how to generate a	nd use their	

Sub-component 2: Transparency and accountability				
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	Development and imple- mentation of a perfor- mance audit system	NA	Performance audit system in place	
Establishment of an effective accountability and transparency mechanism to be applied	Percentage of MoE bodies, REBs and WEOs that un- dergo annual performance audits	0	100%	MoE, REBs, EMIS
at all levels	Frequency of financial audits conducted at all levels	DNA	Annually (every two years if not possible for a valid reason)	
Develop an education s	ector accountability frame	ework		
Establish and implemen	t a performance monitori	ng and evaluati	on system	
Strengthen the internal	and external performanc	e audit system		
	lic accountability and transpa nation on budget allocatior		ng complete, reliabl	e and timely
Conduct regular inspection management standards	s at all levels, including scho	ols, to ensure con	npliance with finance	cial
Automate the planning,	reporting and human res	ources manage	ment system	
Ensure transparency and a levels	ccountability in the procurem	ent and supply ch	ain management s	ystem at all
Strengthen the engagemen and others to support the	t/investment of the private se e education system	ector, NGOs, faith-	based organizatior	ns(FBOs),
Conduct a comprohensive dener manning and undate it periodically				

Conduct a comprehensive donor mapping and update it periodically

Component 4: Communication and research for educational development

Objective: Policy development and decision-making will be underpinned by evidence and findings from quality research, surveys, case studies, evaluations and assessments, and supported by two-way communication with all stakeholders at all levels

Indicators	Baseline	Target s	Source
Availability of a comprehensive education sector communication strategy	No strategy	Communication strategy devel- oped and implemented	MoE report
Number of high-level research studies with policy and strategy implications undertaken	DNA	TBD	report

Sub-component 1: Communication for education development

The education and training sector has played an important role in the development and growth achievements of the past two decades and, as a result, significant results have been achieved, especially in rural and pastoral areas. These results are recorded in the policies that the government has formulated in the current context of the country, through strategies, packages and plans. Efforts have also been made to improve communication and public relations results and gaps to make them accessible to the public through various communication channels.

Extensive public mobilization activities at the beginning of the school year, including getting school-age children into school, resulted in many students being brought into school.

Despite the above strengths, not much work has been done in terms of inclusion and accountability in providing reliable and up-to-date information to the public since it is not systematically organized. The education and training sector lacks adequate, relevant and timely data for planning, management and decision making. The system of data collection, management and use is not supported by appropriate technology. While there has been an improvement in the collection, analysis and dissemination of information, the quality of data remains a concern.

The Ministry developed initiatives to restructure and strengthen EMIS to digitize the work of each directorate within the Ministry and to audit and update data, and to integrate EMIS with other systems inside and outside the Ministry, the result of which has shown there is still a gap in the quality and appropriate use of information.

To address these challenges in ESDP VI, data management systems will be better connected, collaboration among directorates at various levels and in different ministries and agencies will be strengthened, while the capacity to analyse data, use the findings for decision making, and monitor implementation will be enhanced.

Furthermore, the information-sharing mechanism is also enhanced through developing a comprehensive education sector communication strategy that promotes a culture of communication for educational development through strong participation.

Upgrading and regular updating of the MoE website as part of a review of internal and external communications will be implemented.

To provide and ensure sufficient, accurate, clear and timely information, to internal and external stakeholders, the publication and dissemination of policy documents will be enhanced through education magazines and journals at regular intervals. Promoting policy dialogue, debates, at all levels and multi-year campaigns to inform parents and communities about current educational achievements and challenges will also be considered.

Sub-component 2: Research for educational development

Education research provides fundamental knowledge that can contribute to improving learning and other relevant educational outcomes. It seeks to test, develop, or refine theories of teaching or learning and may develop innovations in methodologies and/or technologies that influence and inform research and development in different contexts. It contributes to knowledge development, practical improvement, and policy

information to improve their competencies and the teaching and learning process.

It also contributes to core knowledge used to understand teaching and learning, the processes involved in learning and instruction; the functioning of education systems; and models of systems and processes.

Though research and publication have been given a lot of attention in Ethiopian academic institutions, disseminating research outputs through scholarly publications has become challenging (Berhanu Abera, 2018).

Even research in higher education is conducted mainly by postgraduate students, but nolonger with the aim of sharing knowledge, but to gain promotion.

Financial support to research is also low. For instance, in 2011/12, financial allocation for research by universities accounted only 1% of their total budget.

Research focused on thematic areas remains weak and not systematically planned to identify major challenges and recommend a scientific solution for policy formulation and decision making.

The challenges of setting up a research agenda and designing selected research projects need serious consideration.

To address the problems, the identification of research topics in high priority areas, the encouragement and design of an incentive mechanism for REBs and higher education to conduct value-added research that improve quality education will be implemented.

Establish research and evaluation committees to monitor the research activities and organize policy-oriented workshops, conferences and dialogues to share research findings with key stakeholders.

The development of new policies that motivate stakeholders, the allocation of resources for research, the provision of information and facts for monitoring and evaluation, the promotion of learning and the improvement of the quality of decision-making will be taken into account in the next ESDP.

Furthermore, publications of the research findings in any media format and broadcasted on behalf of the MoE for public consumption will be made familiar.

Strategy Promote education ystem performance through various forms of two-way communication with various stakeholders	Indicators Effective and synergic communication system in place	Baseline	Targets	Source
ystem performance through various forms of two-way communication	communication system in	No ovicting	<u> </u>	
through various forms of two-way communication	-	No existing system	Communication system established	
	Number of spots communicated	0	TBD	MoE, REBs
	Programmes published/ transmitted through print and broadcast media	0	TBD	
Develop a comprehensi [,]	ve education sector comn	nunication strat	egy	
	culture of "communication fo d sharing of knowledge and i			
Develop public awareness p content and direction of	programmes on the main eler ESDP VI	ments of the educ	ation law and the s	pirit,
	ate the Department of Educat review of internal and exte			tment of
Provide and ensure that int information	ernal and external stakehold	ers receive suffici	ent, accurate, clear	and timely
Develop snapshots of e	ducation sector accomplis	hments and cha	allenges for the p	ublic.
	education sector transformat onents and implications, curri			
	periodically publish and dist to stakeholders and the pu		licy documents, edu	ucational
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Promote education	Number of educational events that received media coverage	DNA	15 times	
system performance in media and communica- tionn	Number of outreach and empowerment programmes prepared and delivered to parents each year	DNA	20 programmes	MoE, REBs
Provide information and se effectively in the promot	nsitize journalists and other r ion of ESDP VI	nedia professiona	als to enable them to	o participate
Provide media coverage	e of major educational eve	ents in the coun	try	
Engage in policy dialogue, on a tional and regional lev	debates and other discussion vels	forum on educati	on issues at interna	tional,
	arents about policies and plar al role to play in implementin			

Plan and implement a multi-year campaign to inform parents and communities on current education issues and challenges

Sub-component 2: Res	earch for educational develop	oment		
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	Research topics identified and planned, to be undertaken at least annually	DNA	Research conducted	
Encourage a culture of research and use of	Number of research projects conducted in the year	0	TBD	
findings and results for policy and deci- sion-making	Research and evaluation committee established	No committee	Commitee established	MoE, REBs
Sion making	Numberofqualityresearch projects undertaken by REBs and higher education institutions	DNA	TBD	
Establish specialized	research and development u	units at the fede	eral MoE and REE	level
research; ensure that re quality required to be	evaluation committee that will esearch is planned and budgete published on behalf of the Mir earch topics to be conducted in t	d for; and verify t histry of Education	hat the products ar on	reofthe
	research/surveys, case studies, nd agencies are not duplicativ			ned by the
	usive education and equity filter ive education issues are appr			nd ensure
	n incentive mechanism for REBs ue to improving the delivery (conduct
	al and action research to inf	•		
Strategy	ate evaluation products and Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Encourage a culture of research and the use	Number of research findings formally communicated to stakeholders	0	TBD	
offindings and results for policy and decision making	Number of conferences, workshops organized to dis- seminate research findings	0	TBD	MoE, REBs
	case studies, success stories, a ill be useful for learning, planr			
Provide monitoring and e and improve the quality	evaluation information and facts ty of decision-making	that will become	knowledge, promot	e learning,
	any media format published on l working papers, and videos a			, including
Review and download res reports	search, including surveys, studio	es, evaluations an	d programme asse	ssments,
Create a repository of	f research studies accessible	e to stakeholder	S	
	l workshops, conferences, and d plications for reform in the se		ss research findings	that have
Create a sustainable me REBs and WEOs "learr	chanism to facilitate the exchan ning organizations	ge of information	and expertise and r	nake MoE/

Component 5: Capacity development for improved management

Objective: Education reform will be managed and led by professionals with the required skills, knowledge, abilities and commitment at all levels

Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Level of staff satisfaction with the implementation of the capacity development plan and strategy	DNA	90%	Surve y report
Career pathway developed and implemented	DNA	Career pathway put in place	MoE, REBs

Sub-component 1: Professional development

The management capacity of the education administration and the capacity of the education system is one of the key factors limiting the successful implementation and achievement of the sector plan. Considering this fact, in ESDPV, it was planned to improve an adequate supply of staff with the right mix of technical and leadership skills for each position/level and to improve the necessary resources and motivating conditions of work.

A professional development programme will be linked to each staff member's profile. Such a programme will replace one-of training sessions with a personally targeted set of workshops, courses and other training-related events, together with the provision of support and guidance materials.

Critical skill gaps reported include the following: skills in budget analysis, disaggregated by budget category, education sub-components and budget items; skills in making reliable projections, strategic policy formulation and influencing.

Long- term and short-term training through different modalities and technologies will continue to provide support and competencies required in response to identified gaps. The professional development of staff will increasingly include regular mentoring by the immediate line manager and experienced and skilled individuals. The training and mentoring process will be linked to the production and delivery of results that lead to organizational effectiveness

Sub-component 2: Career development and promotion

The career path encompasses the employee's desired destination and the steps, experience, and staff development that will be needed to progress along the journey. A career path gives the employee a sense of direction, a way to assess career progression, and an opportunity to achieve career goals and milestones along the way.

The revision of the existing career and promotion system will contribute to the successful transformation of governance, which demands that competent staff is selected for leadership, management, and administrative positions in the ministry, agencies, offices and institutions that design and implement education policy. This will demand the production of detailed profiles for such positions, diversified career pathways, and the implementation of competence and performance-based career progression to attract at all levels of the post. Staff motivation will be strengthened through the development of rewarding career paths, and a more robust constructive performance assessment, which will ensure that the right person is in the right post and will be linked to incentives for good performance.

Education Sector Development Programme VI

Sub-component 1: Pro	essional development			
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Transforming and	Development and implementation of a capacity development plan	No comprehensive plan	Development of a capacity building master plan	
revitalizing the profes- sional development of staff through needs- based training and development system	Percentage of national regional and local officials, with the required profile for the post they hold	DNA	100%	MoE, REBs
development system	Percentage of trained profes- sionals based on the needs' assessment	0	100%	
Undertake an assessmer the jobs	t of the gaps in qualification, kr	nowledge, skills, a	nd competencies r	equired for
Develop, approve and im education sector	plement a medium- to long-ter	m capacity develo	pment master plan	for the
	relevant staff in undertaking re based reform, planning and r		pment and targete	d policy
Enable the planning a	nd management of the edu	cation system		
Design the knowledge m learning organizations	anagement system so that educ	cation organizatio	ns at all levels beco	ome true
Sub-component 2: Car	eer development and promoti	on		
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Reviewing the existing career and promotion	Development and implementation of a career pathway	Unrevised career path	Review and im- plementation of the career path and promotion	MoE, REBs
system	Percentage of staff satisfied with the new career pathway	DNA	90%	Survey report
Diversify career pathways to attract staff at all levels				
Diversify career pathy	vays to attract staff at all le	vels		
	vays to attract staff at all le cy and performance-based		ion	
Implement competen	-	career progress		rts
Implement competen Design gender-respor Review and improve recr	cy and performance-based	career progress iled profiles of I posts and staff pr	eaders and expe	
Implement competen Design gender-respor Review and improve recr advancing gender equ	cy and performance-based sive career paths with deta uitment processes to align with	career progress iled profiles of I posts and staff pr ties	eaders and expe ofiles, with an emp	hasis on

Programme 2 <u>Values: National unity in diversity</u>

Goal

To develop ethical, civic and moral values in learners throughout the education and training system in order to prepare them to live in harmony and work for the unity of the country, appreciating shared values, diversity, interculturality, brotherhood, peace and inclusion

Ethiopia is a multilingual, multicultural and multi-religious country. It is a country with a deep-rooted and long history of its citizens enjoying mutual interactions and unity with diversity. The societal bond among its diverse groups is very strong and unshakable shared values that prevailed through generations and at the same time values of differences have been recognized and respected as well.

Although there has been a positive and longstanding cultural practice in Ethiopia, recent studies reveal that the education system has to further deepen it aggressively to curb signs of negative and unwanted behaviours and practices that endanger the life and long-term peace, prosperity and happiness of societies and the country at large.

In this regard, schools need to be safe environments to learning and to strengthen students' positive values to foster inclusion and representation and to embrace pluralism, appreciating the similarities and differences between ethnicities, religions, and cultures. Schools are also in a unique and important position to foster cohesion, but a broad range of partners need to be involved to strengthen school-level initiatives. These include the wider community, government, local authorities and civil societies.

Learners need to develop the knowledge, attitudes, and skills required to interact positively with people from diverse groups and to participate in the nation's civic life. Students must be competent in intergroup and civic skills to function effectively in today's complex and ethnically polarized world.

Students should be taught to study, live together, and work in harmony and unity with others. Efforts should be made from early childhood to ensure that children, young people and adults share common values and experiences and embrace diversity. To help them achieve this, enough attention should be given to this theme within the training of teaching and administrative personnel. Therefore, to realize the goal of developing active and value-driven citizens, ESDP VI will give due emphasis to incorporating national unity, moral and citizenship education into the curriculum at all levels; positively transforming the teaching-learning process, techniques and approaches in the classroom; facilitating interaction between schools and institutions, ethnic and socio-economic groups, promoting learners' participation in community services; creating a conducive environment for students' active participation in extracurricular activities; boosting positive school culture and ethos as one big family and community; reviewing the existing teacher deployment criteria; creating an opportunity for potential teaching staff to learn various Ethiopian languages.

There will be a stronger focus on extracurricular and out-of-school activities, as essential activities contributing to the promotion and practice of ethical and moral values. Interaction across schools, ethnicities and socioeconomic groups will be facilitated. At the same time, students will be encouraged to participate in community service around the school and there will be zero tolerance for any form of school related genderbased violence. Part of this strategy will include a review of existing teacher deployment criteria to promote unity in diversity

Through their ethos and curriculum, schools can promote a sense of common identity and support diversity, showing pupils how different communities can be united by common experiences and values.

Building and strengthening community cohesion means working towards a society in which all communities have a common vision and sense of belonging; a society in which the diversity of people's backgrounds and circumstances is appreciated and valued; a society in which similar life opportunities are available to all; and a society in which strong and positive relationships exist and continue to be developed in the workplace, in schools and in the wider community.

In general, schools are entrusted, by society to find ways to respect the diversity of their students and to help to create a unified nation to which all of the nation's citizens pledge allegiance. Schools have a responsibility to produce citizens who have a common historical memory, who reflect common values in their daily lives, and who believe in a common and shared destiny. Schools must be supported to inculcate and nurture national consciousness through fostering common ideals, values, aspirations and loyalties to mould national unity and national identity in a multi-ethnic society. In this connection, four components are identified under this critical programme to be implemented over the next five years. These are curriculum content and teaching and learning practices; school culture and ethos; extracurricular/ after-school programmes and the wider school community engagement.

Component 1: Curriculum content and teaching and learning practices

Objective: The national curriculum and related policies will be revised and implemented to provide the knowl- edge and skills required to practice and promote shared values, unity in diversity, tolerance, brotherhood and self-awareness, thereby strengthening social cohesion

Indicators	Baseline	Target s	Source	
The extent to which shared values that promote national unity in diversity are covered and addressed in the curriculum framework, textbooks, and the classroom teaching-learning process	TBD	100%	Assessme nt and survey reports	

The curriculum and the teaching and learning practices in schools are expected to teach students to understand others, to promote common values, to value diversity, to raise awareness of human rights and the responsibility to uphold and defend them, and to develop skills for participation and responsible action.

An effective school has a high standard of teaching and curriculum that supports high standards of attainment, promotes shared values, and builds students' understanding of the diversity around them, recognizing similarities and appreciating different cultures, faiths, ethnicities and socioeconomic backgrounds. Peace education should be intensified in the curriculum as a vital tool to promote children's peaceful behavior, nonviolent skills and positive attitudes on how to solve conflicts peacefully, and to live in harmony with oneself, with others, and with the natural environment. It also enables children to find peaceful solutions to recurring problems, and to raise awareness in a new generation to commit to boosting a culture of peace and tolerance.

A classroom may be filled with students from various religious, ethnic, and linguistic backgrounds. Teachers should recognize these differences and celebrate the diversities prevailing in classrooms. This is because the classrooms are the best places for students to learn, share and respect the basic values and essences of their counterparts. When doing or practicing these activities progressively, students will feel more comfortable in the classroom as they realize they have more similarities than differences with their classmates. To this end, the curriculum framework, textbooks and, most importantly, the process and approaches to teaching and learning in the classroom should be designed and applied in such a way that they contain shared values, promote national unity in diversity, and serve as tools for building community cohesion in a sustainable manner. The curriculum and its implementation in schools should aim at instilling a spirit of patriotism, which is defined by pride in being an Ethiopian citizen, a spirit of loyalty to the nation, the spirit of the motto 'United we stand, divided we fall", discipline, industriousness, and productivity.

Textbook writers must be more sensitive to the goal of nation building. At the same time, an open and democratic approach to instruction and learning, rather than a closed and controlled one, should be encouraged in all classrooms.

In this connection, strategies identified for the component include revising and implementing the curriculum and associated policies to promote shared values and national unity in diversity; building the capacity of teachers, principals, supervisors and non-teaching staff for them to internalize and practice the revised curriculum on positive values and unity in diversity; and developing learning materials, including textbooks and supplementary readers, appropriate to the age and grade level of the students, which incorporate positive and shared values and promote national unity in diversity. These strategies are to be materialized over the plan period through fourteen key activities outlined in the tables.

Education Sector Development Programme VI

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
	Numberoffederal and regional education sector plans to incorpo- rate values and national unity in diversity contents	0	12+		
Review and implement the curriculum and associated policies to promote shared values and national unity in diversity	An analytical report mapping and identifying policies, subjects, top- ics, and practices that are poten- tial sources of misunderstanding that aggravate conflict, as well as those which that promote positive values and unity in diversity	0	1	MoE, REBs	
	Curriculum revised by subject and grade level as envisioned	NA	100% revised		
	Moral education incorporated into the revised curriculum	0	100% incorpo- rated		
Analyse policies and practices mitigate conflicts among d	s within the education system in term	ns of their pot	ential to aggr	avate or	
Restructure the content of th	e whole educational system to integ t for diversity and peace education in				
Review the civic and ethic	al education curriculum in line v	vith interna	tional stand	ards	
Make moral education as a se	parate subject for Grades 1-6; and c	ivic educatio	n for Grades 7	-10 onwards	
Ensurethattheelements of	peace education are reflected and	lintegrated	intorelevant	subjects	
Ensure that every subject has process	positive values and inculcate them i	n students in	the teaching	and learning	
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Building the capacity of teachers, principals, super-	Percentage of teachers, principals and supervisors trained on the re- vised curriculum through in-ser- vice and pre-service training programmes, disaggregated by region, subject, level of education and gender	0	100%	MoE, REBs	
visors, and non-teaching staff to internalize and practice the revised curric- ulum on positive values and unity in diversity	Percentage of non-teaching staff aware of their role and contribu- tion to promoting positive values and unity in diversity, by region, gender, school level and job category	0	75%		
	Level of satisfaction of teachers, principals and supervisors regarding the training	0	One survey report	Rapid survey assessment report	
human rights, democratic pai	Develop and put in place a systematic and continuous teacher training (in-service and pre-service) on human rights, democratic participation, unity in diversity, peace education, social cohesion, handling biased teaching and learning materials, etc.				
	cocheck and ensure that education is subjects and textbooks for politic		a weapon to d	estroy social	
management that embraces	d school cluster supervisors in preju students' diversity, promotes a positi e learning and teaching process.				
Consider the training of teachers and school principals as compulsory throughout the country, regardless of the subject they teach, as a kick-off action reminding and mobilizing them that promoting positive values and strengthening national unity in diversity is everyone's responsibility					

Reinforce the regular professional and supervisory support for teachers to implement more positive behavioural and management techniques in the classroom and create a more respectful environment for all students.

Plan and implement a sensitization programme for all support staff in schools, as shared values and unity in diversity should be nurtured in students when all teaching and non-teaching staff demonstrate and model democracy and inclusion in schools.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Developing learning mate- rials, including textbooks and supplementary readers,		0	All textbook writers	
appropriate to the age and grade level of students, which incorporate positive and shared values and promote national unity in diversity	Number and types of supplemen- tary readers produced based on the new curriculum and distribut-	0	Atleastfive by level	MoE, REBs
Train textbook writers on the revised curriculum framework and be more sensitive and responsible for the nation-building intent while drafting textbooks				
Develop appropriate textbooks, training packages, and modules to enable students to have proper ethics and morals				

Support and coach students to promote citizenship through activities such as peer mediation, the student leadership programme, service-learning initiatives

Encourage publishers and writers to produce supplementary reading materials on different topics, appropriate for school levels, which deepen positive values and national unity in diversity

Develop and produce easy-to-understand reminders/materials such as posters, leaflets, brochures, slogans, and others on different themes that promote peace and unity

Component 2: School culture and ethos

Objective: Schools will be transformed so that school communities see themselves as learning communities where the values and ethos of unity in diversity, citizenship, fraternity, peace, are promoted and practiced in the school with shared responsibility and commitment as "one big family"

Indicators	Baseline	Target s	Source
Level of positive change in attitude and practice demonstrated in schools that deeply internalize common values and appreciate unity in diversity, by region	NA	80% +	REBs, MoE, Surve y report s

For schools, the term 'community' has several dimensions including the school community – the pupils it serves, their families and the school's staff; the community in which the school is located – the school in its geographical community and the people who live or work in that area; the Ethiopian community of – all schools are, by definition, part of this community.

Through their ethos and curriculum schools can promote a sense of common identity and support diversity, showing learners how different communities can be united by common experiences and values. To create such a positive school ethos, the whole staff must be committed to values-based education as central to the school's mission.

Schools should uphold the principle of inclusion as part of their daily practice. Every member of the school, every student, every teacher and every non-teaching staff member must feel included and not excluded because of certain economic, social and cultural disparities or backgrounds

Intergroup relations should be strengthened in schools. Students should learn about stereotypes and other related biases that have negative effects on ethnic relations. Students should learn about the values shared by virtually all cultural groups (e.g., justice, equality, freedom, peace, compassion, and charity). Schools should provide opportunities for students from different ethnic, cultural, and language groups to interact socially under conditions designed to reduce fear and anxiety. Schools should build young people's passion for upholding harmony in their communities through activities that focus on tolerance, responsibility, love, forgiveness, unity, reconciliation, empathy, peace, respect, integrity, etc.

Education Sector Development Programme VI

A school's organizational strategies should ensure that decision-making is widely shared and that members of the school community learn collaborative skills and dispositions to create a caring environment for students.

Students have a greater sense of cohesion when they feel safe. To promote cohesion, schools need to protect pupils from bullying and build a secure environment for learning. All schools should have effective approaches in place to deal with incidents of prejudice, bullying and harassment.

Monitoring of whether students from particular groups are more likely to be excluded or disciplined than others should be accompanied by appropriate behaviour and discipline policies in place to deal with this. Schools need to evolve into a zone of peace and a community hub (school community within the wider community) for peace with active school staff, community, parental, student and other stakeholder involvement and code of conduct reviewed periodically.

Students should be allowed to create their own code of conduct for the classroom and school and to express their concerns freely. Besides, greater emphasis needs to be placed on peermanaged mechanisms for handling violence and conflict between children, such as the use of peer juries and peer mediation.

Students' voices and participation ensure that they have significant opportunities to collaborate with school staff, exercise leadership, and make choices and decisions. Students have clear areas of input and participation and are actively involved in decisions regarding their classrooms, school campus, and the community.

Cooperative learning, peer-to-peer learning, the horizontal relationship between teacher and students, the development of independent thinking, self-efficacy and self-esteem, the school and community relationships, creating platforms (e.g. student government) for student action in school and community are of vital importance for the development of positive values towards to promote unity in diversity and love of the country.

Two strategies, with ten key activities, are identified for the realization of this component within the plan period: to inculcate positive values and promote unity in diversity and strengthen social cohesion among school communities as one big family; and to ensure that schools are safe, orderly, peaceful, adequately maintained environments through the cooperative efforts of staff, community, parents, and students

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Inculcate positive values and promote unity in diver- sity and strengthen social cohesion among school communities as one big family	Diversity is valued, equality is actively promoted, and inclusion is embedded in the school ethos	NA	One survey report	Survey report
	Percentage of schools that have developed and implemented a code of conduct	0	100%	
	Percentage of teachers learning at least one Ethiopian language other than the mother tongue, disaggregated by region, lan- guage, gender	0	5% +	MoE, REBs, EMIS
	Number of woredas organizing training/orientation/discussion sessions for principals, teachers, students, and non-teaching staff	0	1,000 +	
	le of conduct for the school communi sity, in consultation with students and			
Support schools to create opportunities to rehearse civic responsibility, practice social skills, and develop an awareness of other values and positions, so that notions of social cohesion are developed beyond the teaching of democracy, citizenship, and governance				
Establish a strong foundation of general knowledge and understanding of current affairs, develop critical thinking skills and foster a positive ethos throughout the school				
Train school principals, teachers, students and non-teaching staff through the whole country compulsorily				
Review the existing deplo	yment criteria of teaching staff	that foster	unity in dive	ersity
Create an encertunity for	prochactive teaching staff to lo	arn various	Ethiopian la	naupaoc

Create an opportunity for prospective teaching staff to learn various Ethiopian languages

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Ensure that schools are safe, orderly, peaceful, and adequately maintained environment through the cooperative efforts of staff, community, parents, and students	Level of satisfaction of staff and students with the overall safety and conduct of schools	NA	80%+	MoE, REBs, Survey report
	Percentage of schools reporting cases of violence in schools	0	100%	REBs, EMIS report
	Percentage of schools with peer mediation/ jury mechanism es- tablished	0	50%	REBs, EMIS
Reinforce school code of conduct and provide fertile platforms and mechanisms to foster non-violent school culture and climate				
	protect students from bullying and h			ure

environment for learning, non-violent and inclusive school culture and climate to inculcate a greater sense of cohesion, safety and security

Encourage schools to eliminate barriers to success for students from all backgrounds, and to eliminate variation in the treatment of different ethnic groups through school policies

Introduce and make student peer mediation processes and peer jury mechanisms so that students are empowered to solve interpersonal and intergroup conflicts peacefully in school and community

Component 3: Extracurricular/after-school programmes

Objective: Students will have the opportunity to experience in democratic living, training in ethical conduct, practice in teamwork, improvement in social manners, appreciating peace and tolerance, exercising conflict resolution, critical thinking and problem solving, promoting fraternity, unity in diversity and social cohesion

Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Percentage of schools organizing extracurricular pro- grammes functioning throughout the academic year	NA	100%	REBs' reports, EMIS
Perception of principals, teachers, students, and parents on the contribution of extracurricular pro- grammes to advance shared values, and unity in diversity for strong social cohesion	NA	75% +	Survey report

Extracurricular activities include clubs and other activities offered to students outside the regular school day.

Schools should provide all students with opportunities to participate in extracurricular and co-curricular activities that develop knowledge, skills, and attitudes that enhance academic achievement and foster positive cross-cultural relationships.

Promote students' social development by providing opportunities to broaden their social experiences, to practice social skills, and to internationalize their moral and social values.

Students, through extracurricular activities, learn and understand essential ethical values regarding different cultures, religions, events of national and international significance, and the discipline and ethics of school life. They learn to understand different social ethics, patience, empathy, motivational skills, compatibility and contentment.

In addition, students should be encouraged to participate in well-organized and planned extracurricular activities that will help them hone their communication skills, expression, public speaking, participation, and sense of belonging through various activities. Well planned and organized extracurricular activities are instrumental in offering experience in democratic living, training in ethical conduct, and practice in teamwork.

Social outcomes achieved through these activities include acquiring practices of working with others, developing responsible democratic groups, and learning good human relations. Civic and ethical outcomes include building bridges of understanding among students regardless of ethnicity, creed, religion, status, and ability; implementing the unifying process essential to sustaining Ethiopian ideals; interpreting and diversifying the curriculum; and helping students enjoy school.

Extracurricular activities can be used to promote cohesion both within each school and between each school and the surrounding community, and provide a common ground for the interests of students, parents, and teachers.

In this regard, two strategies and eleven key activities are identified for implementation within the plan period. The strategies include

organizing and making extra-curricular programmes mandatory as an integral part of the education system for students primarily to interact with each other, get to know each other closely, deepen unity, appreciate diversity and uphold social cohesion; and institutionalizing and introducing voluntary work and national service; and the strengthening of interaction between schools.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Organize and make ex- tra-curricular programmes mandatory as an integral	Development and implementation of guidelines and manuals for extracurricular programmes	No	Availability of guidlines/ manuals	
part of the education sys- tem for students primarily to interact with each other,	Percentage of schools with at least five clubs established	TBD	100%	MoE, REBs
get to know each other closely, deepen unity, appreciate diversity and uphold social cohesion.	Percentage of secondary schools with active student councils	TBD	100%	REBS
Develop guidelines and man	uals for the establishment and mana	agementofe	extracurricular ad	tivities
Establish dedicated organizat appropriate staffing at all I	ional structure/ extracurricular prog evels	rammes coo	rdinating units wi	th
Adapt components of conflict clubs' guidelines	resolution and tolerance for social co	ohesion and	incorporate in sch	nool
school publications, student events, domestic tourism, gu	acurricular activities such as games, council, school clubs, boy and girl sc est speakers' programme, etc. as ave the other benefits of such activiti	cout competi enues for pro	tions/contests, s	ocial
Train school club leaders, bot extracurricular activities	h teachers and students, on the conc	cept and man	agement of	
	to student councils to plan and orga ecial school days, events that suppo			,
Establish strong monitoring, e and school levels	evaluation, and feedback mechanism	n on extracur	ricular activities a	it woreda
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
II I	Developed and implemented legal flame work, and guideline on national citizenship and voluntary services	None	Legal frame- work and guideline available	MoE
Institutionalizing and introducing voluntarism and national service; and strengthening school to school interaction	Number of regions that established national citizenship service programme in woredas other than their birthplaces	None	12 +	MoE,
	Percentage of woredas that launched a programme for studentstoparticipate in volun- tary service in their communities	None	100%	REBs
Develop a legal framework for volunteerism and national citizenship service				
Develop standard operating procedures and guideline for the effective implementation of volunteerism and national citizenship service				
Establishasystemtofacilita	ate interaction acrossschools, eth	nicitiesand	socioeconomico	jroups

Component 4: Community engagement within the school

Objective: The link between schools and the wider communities will be maintained and strengthened based on a shared commitment to promote and consolidate positive civic and moral values, human rights and equity, respect for unity and diversity, peace and tolerance, brotherhood, compassion and social justice, democracy and national pride with strong social cohesion

Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Percentage of parent/guardian, student, staff, and community survey respondents satisfied with schools' efforts to embody positive values and strengthen unity in diversity in schools and commu- nities	NA	75% +	Survey report
Number of students engaged in volunteer service	DNA	TBD	MoE, REBs

Schools can benefit from partnership arrangements, both to share good practice and to provide opportunities for students to meet and learn from others from different backgrounds. Shared use of facilities also allows students to interact, as do opportunities for meaningful cross-cultural activities such as sports and drama. When developing partnership agreements, schools must manage engagement appropriately to ensure that students can meet and interact in the right environment. To this end, learners in school should not be disconnected or isolated from what is happening around them.

Good partnership activities with the local and wider community can include working with community representatives, ensuring that the students' voices are heard and can drive change. Maintaining close links and multiagency working between the school and other local agencies, such as youth services, police, social services and health professionals, placing students in community volunteer activities, engaging with parents through meetings and social events, providing extended services and in particular bringing together parents from different backgrounds through parenting and family support and community use of facilities for activities that take place outside of school hours, including adult and family learning, developing peace processes based on indigenous customs and traditions, engaging youth in community reconciliation processes where appropriate.

Partnerships with organizations strengthen the school's ability to meet the academic and developmental needs of its students and to build relationships with students' families or caregivers. Effective partnerships help the school stay connected to the broader community and professional networks, allow it to leverage opportunities and resources that support student success, and increase its sustainability.

Advancing the commitment and ethos of building partnerships between schools to share good

practice and encourage mixing between ethnic groups; working with the community to help students have a voice in local decision-making and leadership in the community; providing services to help students from different ethnic groups mix and opportunities for their parents; maintaining strong links with other agencies (e.g., police, health institutions, youth service, civil societies, professional associations, etc.); and supporting the school's ability to provide services to its students.

It is also essential to provide students and their families with the means to interact with people from different backgrounds and to build positive relationships, including links with different local, national and international schools and communities.

Schools should be encouraged to actively participate in social activities that will mobilize their energy to study social issues and take responsibility for providing practical help – for example, by helping charitable organizations, community services (sanitation, help for the elderly, repairing centers for the disabled, etc.).

Schools should be very welcoming, their doors should never be closed so that parents and community members can come in and talk to staff members.

Involving parents and the broader community in in young students' education helps build schoolfamily-community relationships and, more broadly, foster community cohesion. Schools can help improve parenting skills, communication between home and school, parent volunteerism in the school, guiding family learning at home, involving parents in school governance, and securing supportive resources from the broader community. These measures will ultimately build trust, buy-in and commitment from parents and the broadercommunity.

The two main strategies developed to achieve the goal of this component include developing and implementing effective systems to build stronger

bridges between education and the broader community, promoting and achieving national unity in diversity and strong social cohesion; and empowering students and teachers to initiate and reflect change in their communities as social mobilizers and change agents, bringing communities together for collaboration, national unity, and strong social cohesion through a sustained school-community link.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Develop and implement ef- fective systems to strength-	System facilitating interaction between schools, ethnicities, and socioeconomic groups: developed and implemented	None	System fully operational	MoE, REBs
en the links between education and the wider community, promoting and	Percentage of schools that high- light community cohesionissues in school improvement plans	0	75%	REBs
achieving national unity in diversity and strong social cohesion	Development and implementation of a strategy and guideline for schools to establish and maintain partnerships with other agencies and institutions	None	Availability of strategy and guide- lines	MoE, REBs
	egion-to-region, woreda-to-woreda ncourage mixing among ethnic g		chool partnersh	ips to
Develop a mechanism to worl and leadership in the com	<pre>with the community to help studen nunity</pre>	ts have a voic	ce in local decisi	on-making
	strong ties with agencies outside of tl , social welfare institutions and pr			lice, youth
	nels, and activities in schools to main cluding the involvement of the school ss			
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Empower teachers and students to initiate and spread change in their communities as social mo- bilizers and change agents, bringing communities	Percentage of parents/guardians, students, staff, and communi- ty members responding to the survey who feel that there are suf- ficient opportunities to be involved if they choose to participate in shared school or woreda deci- sion-making.	NA	75%+	MoE, REBs, Survey
together for collaboration, national unity, and strong social cohesion through a sustainable school-commu- nity connection	Percentage of parents/guardians, students, staff, and communi- ty members responding to the survey who feel that the level of communication about their local school and woreda is adequate	NA	75%+	report
Introduce a system for studer outreach activities	nts to participate in serving the comn	nunity around	the school thro	ough
	Encourage schools and communities to share resources and support each other in organizing and conducting social activities			
Establish a system to create positive interaction between schools, ethnicities, and socioeconomic groups through extracurricular activities				
Undertake qualitative research to examine the relationship between official policy and actual school practices in the areas of tolerance and multicultural understanding, and disseminate the results and recommendations for improvement				

Programme 3

Quality improvement and relevance to the labour market

Goal

To improve the quality of general education by providing knowledge, skills and values that make all students creative, competent, productive and responsible citizensthe unity of the country, appreciating shared values, diversity, interculturality, brotherhood, peace and inclusion

Indicator s		Baseline (2018/19, unless stated) (F/M as relevant)	Targets (2024/25) (F/M as relevant)	Source	
	Pre-primary	15,000 (79.5/20.5)	44500 (88/12)	EMI	
Number of qualified	Primary and middle	57824(40.6/59.4)	324770 (55/45)		
teachers	secondary	7903 (19.3/79.7)	58171 (24/76)		
Percentage of appr vo- cational and te teachers for Grades	chnical education	0	100%	S	
	Pre-primary	0	50		
Percentage of li-	Primary	24.1%	58.5%		
censed teachers	Middle	24.1%	58.5%	EMIS, Licensing	
	Secondary	24.1%	58.5%	J	
Percentage of	Pre-primary	DNA	10,571		
appropriately qualified school	Primary and middle	66.4 (11.2/55.2)	100 (19/81)	EMI S	
leaders at all levels	Secondary	62.8 (6.8/56)	100 (11/89)		
Percentage of qualified	Cluster supervisor s	77.8 (5/72.8)	100 (27.2/72.8)		
school supervisors	Secondary school supervisors	90	100 (14/86)		
	Pre-primary	DNA	57%	EMIS, Licensing	
Percentage of licensed	Primary	DNA	70%		
school	Middle	DNA	70%		
leaders	Secondary	DNA	70%		
Percentage of	Grade 6	DNA	85%	NLA, EMIS	
Grade 6, 8, and 12 students scoring 50	Grade 8	25.2	80%		
or higher on national learning assessments	Grade 12	26.6%	75%	NLA, LIMIO	
Percentage of pre-primary to secondary level 3 schools	Pre-primary	5%	45.2%		
	Primary	11%	45.2%		
	Middle	11%	45.2%		
	Secondary	11%	45.2%	Inspection	
Percentage of	Pre-primary	0.01%	10.8%	Inspection EMIS	
pre-primary to	Primary	0.01%	10.8%		
secondary level 4 schools	Middle	0.01%	10.8%		
	Secondary	0	10.8%		

Education Sector Development Programme VI

Specific objective 2: Continuously improve performance to match the best performing countries in the world and those in East Africa with high student achievement

Indicator s	Baseline	Targets	Sourc e
Joined regional/international educational assessments	New initiative	Participate and establish a base- line for accom- plished Ethiopia	Assessment report, NEAEA

Specific objective 3: Ensure the relevance of the curriculum, the teaching and learning process, the teaching ma- terials and the evaluation system, in relation to the world of work and social participation

Indicator s	Baseline	Targets	Sourc e	
Percentage of relevant school curriculum content by grade level	DNA	100%	Evaluations (formative& summative) report	
Percentage of schools covered by fully equipped re- source centres	DNA	100%	EMIS and Inspection Report	
Percentage of Grade 6, 8, and 12 students	Grade 6 – New initiative	85%	National learning assessment	
scoring 50 and above	Grade 8 – 25.2	80%		
	Grade 12 – 26.6	75%		
Percentage of Grade 2 and 3 students scoring at or above EGRA.	8.1/4.2	48/36%		
Percentage of Grade 2 and 3 students scoring at or above EGMA	DNA	50%	NEAEA/EMIS	
Percentage of students enrolled in Grades 6, 8, and 12 who scored at or above 50	DNA	75% +		

Specific objective 4: Ensure good governance by developing a leadership and education system that enhances effectiveness and efficiency and promotes accountability, transparency and ownership

ownersnip					
Indicator s		Baseline	Targets	Sourc e	
Percentage of schools that	Cluster supervisor	DNA	100%	EMIS	
are visited closely by super- visors	Secondary schools	DNA	100%		
Percentage of teacher attendance (time spent by teach- ers on task)		80%	100%	Surve y	
Percentage of schools that prepare three-year partici- patory implementation plans		67%	100%	Assessment	
Percentage of schools that allocate at least half of the school grant to teaching and learning		DNA	100%	Audit and Supervision report	
School performance audits at all levels		DNA	100%	Internal and external audit	
Education law approved and	oved and implemented 0 Education law approved N		MoE, REBs		
Percentage of government general education	centage of government budget devoted to eral education		13.7 %	MoE, MoF	

Sub-component 1: Strengthening national capacities for curriculum development, implementation and monitoring programmes to strengthen the consistent application of the new curriculum's key messages, materialsandsupportingprogrammes. Therefore,

tailored and refined training will be provided to new and existing curriculum developers at the federal and regional levels. As part of ESDP V, a federal curriculum research and development institute was to be established. Over the next five years, an institute for curriculum development and research will be established at the federal and regional levels. This will advance the nation's education.

Education Sector Development Programme VI

A national curriculum development policy with a clear strategy for curriculum development and improvement process will be developed. In the same vein, a National Curriculum Review and Development Committee/Council and working groups composed of professionals and appropriate stakeholders will be established

Sub-component 2: Establish a structured, vertically and horizontally integrated curriculum content of the education and training system

Ageneral curriculum framework will be developed to address the key findings of the Roadmap study, namely, indigenization, professionalization, and morality. In addition, the development of the new curriculum will be primarily competency-based and will be based on the progression of concepts and skills within and across disciplines. This approach reduces the burden of the curriculum by identifying displaced or unnecessary content that is not part of the progression. This approach will reinforce the use of progression frameworks across subjects. By using common frameworks for areas such as language arts, science, and technology, overlap can be avoided and concepts developed effectively.

Ethiopia is a federal and diverse country, and the curriculum development process needs to reflect this. This will require engagement with schools, colleges, communities, and industry, and should align educational and economic policy. To align with current and future labour markets, curriculum flexibility will be introduced in Grades 11 and 12 to provide equitable access to the skills, knowledge and values needed to access different career paths and to make effective use of school resources.

To support the diversity of educational contexts in Ethiopia, the curriculum development process will include planning for learners with special educational needs during development. Indigenous knowledge will be integrated into the progression frameworks along with universal knowledge from the start. Similarly, elements of vocationalization will be mainstreamed into each subject from the pre-primary level.

Based on the curriculum, the teacher training programme will be developed to maintain its alignment. Similarly, the ANFE curriculum that can meet the pressing needs of the adult population will be developed.

Component 1 objective: Institutional and individual capacity to transform and advance curriculum reform				
Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Number of institutes/bodies established for curricu- lum development and implementation at the federal and regional levels	0	13	MoE, REBs	
Number of national curriculum councils established	0	1	MoE	
Number of curriculum development policies developed	0	1		

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Strengthen federal and regional capacity for curriculum development,	Strategic and operational plans prepared, endorsed and imple- mented	0	Strategic and operational plans implemented	MoE, REBs	
implementation and monitoring	Number of curriculum/textbook writers trained by subject and grade level	0	All textbook writers		
Develop strategic and operational plans with consultation, clear risk assessment, management strategies and budgetary requirements					
Develop a national curriculum development policy with a clear strategy for curriculum development and improvement process					
Create a National Curriculum Review and Development Committee/Council and working groups composed of professionals and appropriate stakeholders					
Establish an institute for survisulum development and implementation at the forderal and regional levels					

 $\label{eq:stablish} Establish an institute for curriculum development and implementation at the federal and regional levels$

Build the capacity of the institute with competent staff, a dedicated budget, and the necessary infrastructure
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Reorganize and revise the curriculum structure and content of the education and training system	Competency-based curriculum framework developed	None	Curriculum framework developed and implemented	MoE, REBs
Reorganize the structure of the education and training system (pre-primary; primary; middle school, secondary; teacher training, ANFE)				
Develop and implement a broad national framework of competency-based curricula, enhancing the relevance of education at all levels				
Develop and implement a competency-based general education curriculum from pre-primary to Grade 12.				

Component 2: Curriculum redesign, development and implementation

Sub-component 1: Competency-based and differentiatedcurriculum

Achievement of Ethiopia's national "Prosperity Plan" requires that citizens be equipped with the necessary skills to find employment in emerging industries and sectors. Recognizing that education is the key to maintaining Ethiopia's prosperity and that it is through education that the country will transform into a knowledgebased society, adopting new technologies and using them to solve the problems of today and tomorrow. During the lifetime of ESDP VI, a curriculum review will be undertaken from preprimary to Grade 12. It is hoped that this review will enable children and youth to develop the various skills required for productive employment. It will also ensure that Ethiopian children and youth are equipped to lead healthy and safe lives, both inside and outside the school environment.

Responsibility for the development of the new Ethiopian curriculum is shared between the Curriculum Development and Implementation Directorate, under the auspices of the Curriculum Development and Research General Directorate (curriculum framework, minimum learning competencies, syllabi, and teaching and learning materials for secondary schools) and the Regional Education Offices (adaptation of the national curriculum to the regional context, teaching and learning materials for primary and secondary schools). As part of the training, teachers will receive training on the effective implementation of continuous classroom assessment.

The curriculum development process will include editorial and academic quality assurance processes to ensure that agreed-upon design principles are applied consistently.

Sub-component 2: Curriculum implementation

Teachers are the primary implementers of any school curriculum. The minute-by-minute decisions they make in their classrooms are what the new curriculum will attempt to guide and enhance. The implementation of the new program will require, first and foremost, training for teachers and principals. Tothis end, training materials for teachers and trainers will be developed. The instructional design of the training will be a cascade model. Master trainer training will be conducted at the federal level while trainer and teacher training will take place at the regional level.

Teachers at all levels will have a strong stake in the program development process. This will make the implementation of the programme more effective. As teachers implement the new curriculum, they will be able to target their teaching based on students' background knowledge, readiness, preferences, and interests. This approach is intended to facilitate teaching and learning for students of different abilities in the same classroom. The new curriculum will allow teachers to maximize the individual growth and success of each student.

Upon implementation of the new curriculum, formative assessment will be conducted on a regular basis. As clearly stated in the National Curriculum Framework, summative assessment will be conducted at exit levels. The Ministry of Education and the regional education offices will perform the tasks incongruently.

Sub-component 3: Teaching and learning materials

To maintain the quality of teaching and learning materials (TLM), guidance on the use of TLM

development will be provided to textbook authors and reviewers. The quality assurance team must ensure that textbooks are not ponderous and prescriptive.

In all schools, an adequate supply of materials for teachers and students is a prerequisite for effective learning. This includes non-print learning materials such as DVDs, radio, and web content where appropriate. All students will have access to the basic resources needed for learning. New curriculum-related workbooks will be developed and tested for their effectiveness in improving student learning in the classroom and independently.

Textbooks will be provided to primary and middle schools in print form, while all high school students and teachers will be provided with tablets loaded with TLMS and other digital resources that can boost learning.

All CTEs will receive sufficient teaching and learning materials at the school level so that preservice teachers will be exposed to the resources they will use in the classroom as soon as possible. It will be the responsibility of the Curriculum Development Institute to specify and guide CEICT in the production of digital learning materials for use in the regions and to guide schools in providing adequate equipment in science labs. The provision of mother-tongue teaching and learning materials will have a particular focus on literacy and numeracy in the early grades, as is the case with teacher training. Schools will be provided with mother tongue 'reader' packages for the early grades to support students' literacy progress. Teachers will be guided through practice packets to support the development of students' basic numeracy skills. To ensure that hazards cause minimal loss of life and disruption of learning, measures are included to support the establishment of a safe and prepared school environment. Where schools operate in areas at risk from emergencies, including drought, floods and conflict, they will be equipped with a standard set of 'emergency' teaching and learning materials. This package, along with training for teachers and school leaders, will ensure uninterrupted education for all. Supplies will include hygiene kits, WASH resources and a teaching/management kit. This equipment will provide temporary relief, which will be supported by regional and national responses. All cluster resource centres will be equipped with additional materials for learners with special educational needs. Experts in special needs education will work in these centres and schools will be able to use them effectively.

Component 2 Objective: 21st century higher-order skills such as critical thinking, creativity, scientific temper- ament, communication, collaboration/teamwork, multilingualism, reasoning, problem solving, ethics, social responsibility, and digital literacy will be developed in learners from all sectorsm

from all sectorsm			
Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Percentage of revised curricula in all subjects and at all levels	0	100%	
Percentage of STEAM-specific competency- based curricula	0	100%	
Percentage of revised curriculum for teacher education	0	100%	
Percentage of revised ANFE curriculum	0	100%	
Percentage of Grade 2 or 3 students scoring at or above the EGRA	8.1/4.2	50/50%	
Percentage of Grade 2 or 3 students who scored at or above EGMA	DNA	50/50%	
Percentage of students enrolled in Grade 6 who scored at or above the NLA composite score	New initative	85%	MoE, REBs
Percentage of students enrolled in Grade 8 who scored at or above the NLA composite score	34	80%	
Percentage of students enrolled in Grade 12 who scored at or above the NLA composite score		75%	
Percentage of students scoring at or above 50% in all subjects on the primary, middle and high school exit exams	DNA	50% +	
Participation in regional/international assessment tests (SACMEQ, PISA, TIMSS) and establishment of baselines for future goal setting	None	Regional/international assessments attached and baselines established	

Percentage of teachers, educators, and facilitators from preschools, primary, middle, and high schools, ABEs, ANFEs, and CTEs trained in the new curricu- lum. F/M	0	100%	
Percentage of STEAM teachers trained in the new curriculum. F/M	0	100%	
Textbook to learner ratios at different levels. (pre- pri- mary, primary, middle)	1:4	1:1.5	
Number of teaching and learning materials adapted for children with special educational needs or disabilities based on the new curriculum	0	TBD	MoE, REBs
Percentage of students using textbooks in primary and middle schools	DNA	100%	
Percentage of secondary schools digitized teaching and learning materials	0	100%	
Percentage of teacher guides/ratio of teachers in primary and middle schools	DNA	100%	

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Reorganize andrevise the structure and con- tent of the curriculum to ensure quality and relevance as well as regional and interna- tional competitiveness	Competency-based curriculumframeworkforkin- dergarten through secondary school	0	Development of a new curriculum framework	
	Competency-based curriculum in all subjects and grades	0	Competency-based curriculum in all subjects and at all levels	
	Development of STEAM competency-based curriculum	0	Introduction of a competency-based STEAM curriculum	MoE, REBs
	Review and development of the teacher education curriculum.	0	New curriculum for teacher education implemented	
	Review and development of the ANFE curriculum	0	New curriculum for ENFA implemented	
	Development of a language in education policy	0	Approval of the Lan- guage in Education Policy	
Organize writing workshops for curriculum and textbook writers, and plan events for stakeholder consultation and scheduled media briefings				

Develop and implement a competency-based general education curriculum for pre-primary through Grade 12

Integrate digital skills instruction into all curriculum areas

Introduce vocational and technical education reforms beginning in middle school to encourage dual qualifications

Identify and include relevant indigenous knowledge and cultural diversity in the curriculum contributing to the development of a unified civic and national identity

Adapt the regular curriculum to meet the educational needs of learners with special needs/students with disabilities

Develop and implement a comprehensive language-in-education policy that encompasses both a flexible medium of instruction and trilingual language education (first language, official language(s) and English)

Introduce and gradually improve sign language as a medium of instruction in schools for children with hearing loss.

Identify gaps and integrate gender responsive pedagogy into the teacher training curriculum Revamp the ENFA curriculum

Transform the current STEM curriculum and approach into STEM + Arts (STEAM), as outlined in Component 4

Use ICT to transform the teaching and learning system, as outlined in Component 5

Revise the teacher training curriculum to incorporate digital technology-based pedagogy

Develop the teacher training curriculum and framework, ensuring that it is aligned with the school curriculum

Conduct regular formative evaluation

Conduct a summative evaluation at the end of each cycle

Establish a digital textbook monitoring system for effective use of textbooks

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Strengthening and improving assess- ment and examination systems	Percentage of primary and secondary schools regularly implementing ongoing classroom assessments	DNA	100%	MoE, REBs, Survey
	Extent of regional assessments in Grades 6 and 8, based on the new competency-based curriculum	0	100%	MoE
	Frequency of completion of EGRA and EGMA at the end of each grade	TBD	TBD	MoE, NEAEA
	Participation in at least one cross-national assessment of learning (SACMEQ, PISA and TIMSS)	0	Participate in at least one	MoE
	Availability and implementation of IQ tests for gifted and talent- ed students	NA	IQ tests developed and used	MoE, NEAEA

Revamp the implementation of ongoing classroom assessments/formative evaluations to provide timely feedback to students to improve their learning

Develop and institutionalize a standardized assessment system to evaluate student learning outcomes

Develop and administer regional assessments at the end of Grades 6 and 8, based on the new competency-based curriculum

Use ICT for student assessment and testing

Strengthen EGRA and EGMA and undertake a learning assessment at the end of each grade

Participate in cross-national learning assessments (SACMEQ, PISA and TIMSS)

Adapt and implement IQ tests for gifted and talented students

1 1			
Strategy	Indicators (Baselines and targets as indicated in the table in Component 2 above)	Source	
Training teachers, facilitators, educa- tors and principals to implement the new curriculum	Percentage of preschool, primary, middle and secondary school, ABE, ANFE and CTE teachers, educators and facilitators trained in the new curriculum Percentage of STEAM teachers trained in the new curriculum	MoE, REBs	
Train teachers, principals, and supervisors to improve, adapt, and respond to regional and local realities and individual learner needs in the new curriculum			
Train ANFE and ABE	facilitators on the newly developed curriculum		
The factor of the state of the state			

Train all principals, group supervisors, and lead teachers in the new curriculum

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	Textbooks and teacher's guides revised to reflect the new curriculum	NA	Publication of revised textbooks and teacher guides	
Improve the distri-	Number of teaching and learning materials adapted for children with special educational needs or disabilities	NA	TBD	MoE, REBs
bution and use of teaching and learning materials	Availability of a tracking system to monitor the distribution of textbooks and teacher guides	None	Development and implementation of a system to monitor the distribution of textbooks and teach- er guides	
	Degree of use of new instructional materials in schools	None	Evaluation report produced for other appropriate actions	MoE, REBs, Survey report
Revise textbooks and	teacher guides to reflect the r	new curricu	ilum	
Ensuretheavailability o timely manner	ftextbooks, teacherguides and ot	herlearning	materialsforallschool	sina
Develop and implement	a tracking system to monitor the c	distribution	oftextbooksandteach	erguides
Evaluate the use of ir	nstructional materials at the sc	hool level		
Adapt, transcribe and	distribute textbooks by subject	ct and grad	le	
	ning materials for children with spe s in Braille, e-text, audio, etc.	cial educatio	onal needs – textbooks a	and other
Provide good quality	supplementary reading materia	als to assis	t students and teach	ers
Digitalize secondary s	school teaching and learning m	aterials for	r all subjects	
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Support and nurture the abilities of students	Development and implemen- tation of a manual on how to create and manage centres for gifted students	None	Manual developed and implemented	MoE,
with particular interests and talents	Number of regions initiating projects and events for students with special talents and interests	0	All regions	REBs
Establish a system and develop manuals for creating theme and project-based clubs at the school, group, and woreda levels				
Introduce a system of centrally/regionally funded themed residential summer programmes throughout the country in various subjects for students with special interests and talents				
Strengthen Olympiads and competitions in various subjects, with clear coordination and progression from school to woreda, regional, national, and international levels, as appropriate				

Component 3: Transforming teaching into a profession of choice

Objective: Students at all grade levels will be taught by passionate, motivated, qualified, professionally trained, and well-equipped teachers and educators

Indicato s	or	Baseline	Targets	Source
Percentage of high-performing through the standard performar	teachers assessed – nce appraisal system	0	80%	Surve
Percentage of teachers satisfied with their job		F/M (65%)	90%	y report
	pre-primary	DNA	50%	
Percentage of appropriately	primary	11.6	64.6%	
qualified, teachers	middle,	DNA	70%	
	secondary	6.7	49.9%	
Percentage of licensed teachers		24.1	58.5	
Percentage of appropriately qu technical teachers for Grades 1	alified professional and 1 and 12	0	100%	
Attrition rate for teachers at all	grade levels. F/M	2.6%	1%	EMIS
Percentage of teachers trained proficiency. F/M	in native language	100	50%	
Percentage of teachers trained in English language proficien- cy. F/M		100	50%	
Number of teachers trained in sign language. F/M		DNA	50%	
Percentage of middle school English teachers trained in special English language skills training. F/M		100	50%	
Percentage of appropriately qualified teacher trainers. F/M		DNA	100%	
Percentage of CTEs that meet	the minimum standard	DNA	100%	Inspection n
Percentage of schools that hav teacher education institutions	e benefited from linking	DNA	100%	Survey
Percentage of certified teacher	educators	0	100%	
Decent of qualified principals	Pre-primary, (F/M)	DNA	57.4/57.4 %	EMIS
Percent of qualified principals at all levels.		66.4%	100/100%	Linio
	Middle(F/M)	66.4%	100/100%	
	Secondary (F/M)	62.8%	100/100%	
Percentage of leaders who are	Principals	65%	100/100%	Surve
satisfied with their work (F/M)	Supervisors	65%	100/100%	y report
Percentage of leaders who go	Principals	36%	100/100%	
through the licensing system (F/M)	Supervisors	36%	100/100%	EMIS
Percentage of qualified supervisors	Cluster supervisors (F/M	77.8%	100/100%	2.0.10
	Supervisors	77.8%	100/100%	

Sub-component 1: Teacher and teacher educator training and professional development

Education is a process by which man transmits his experiences, new discoveries and values accumulated over the years, in his struggle for survival and development, through the generations. Furthermore, it is the process that facilitates learning, or the acquisition of knowledge, skills, values, beliefs and habits. Education often takes place under the guidance

of teachers; however, learners can also educate themselves. Teaching is a process that involves the active participation of the teacher and students. In the early days, teaching was a bipolar process that included only the student and the teacher, but today another dimension, namely the curriculum, is well recognized and is the programme through which the teacher and students interact. All of these components have their role to play. The successful implementation of a high-quality curriculum depends on the quality of teachers, teacher educators, and

66

Education Sector Development Programme VI

educational leaders. Therefore, they will be trained and retrained to improve, adapt, and meet the individual needs of learners when implementing thecurriculum.

The sub-component includes the development, communication and implementation of teacher management policies, recruitment of suitable candidates to join the teaching profession, teacher qualification, professional development and support for teachers, reform of the education and teacher training programme, improvement of teachers' skills in teaching the mother tongue and English, transformation of education and teacher training institutions into effective learning systems. In addition, the development and sharing of best practices, mentoring to support teachers and encourage students to enter the profession will be expanded. Teaching centres of excellence will be established in CTEs and universities; support will be provided through group supervision; and implementation of existing teacher development policy will be strengthened to improve teacher distribution, equity, and skill balance in all regions.

These strategies are to be realized over the plan period through key activities outlined in the tables

Sub-component 1.1: Mother tongue and English language education development

The language of instruction affects the quality of education offered throughout the education system. To support the acquisition of basic skills, training of primary school teachers in mother tongue instruction began during the implementation of ESDPV. Inaddition, the general low English language skills among teachers, the design of different intervention training programmes and the provision of these trainings on the English language teaching development programme to minimize the problems are the other mechanisms that have been implemented to improve the quality of education (ESDPV).

In order to alleviate the above-mentioned bottlenecks, there were four main objectives to be achieved in ESDP V in terms of the development of native and English language instruction. These were to develop pre-service education and training, provide in-service training for native language and English teachers, design principles of academic mentoring in English and native language, prepare standards, manuals, guidelines, strategies, and conduct various studies to improve native language and English teaching, as well as monitoring, support, and evaluation. Subsequently, capacity building training for inservice mother tongue and English teachers was completed. Various manuals, strategies and guidelines on the development of mother tongue and English language teaching were being prepared.

On the other hand, some experienced language teachers and most of the newly employed language teachers were not able to attend the inservice training. There was also a lack of training centres and appropriate facilities to conduct the training.

The concerned agencies did not send correct data on language teachers to the REBs and the MoE so that they could plan a budget and train the language teachers. In addition, pre-service teacher training has not received much attention, although a few English language courses have been provided in the ELIC centres of teacher training colleges. Guidelines, strategies, and manuals for the development of language teaching, which had already begun, were not completed. In addition, a national impact study on the English language instruction/ELTIP/training improvement curriculum was not conducted.

Therefore, strategies, manuals, guidelines, and standards on ELTIP development will be developed and implemented under ESDP VI. Needs-based language proficiency training will also be provided to pre-service and in-service language teachers. School-based language mentoring/coaching training will also be the focus for reaching language teachers and moving them to all levels of schools.

In addition, relevant and appropriate English language proficiency training will be provided to teachers of other subjects using English as a medium of instruction. Similarly, teachers and students in middle schools (Grades 7 and 8) will receive special training in English. In addition, an impact evaluation and various research on the development of native and English language teacher training will be undertaken to design a new intervention.

Sub-component 2: A competencybased incentive structure for teachers, principals and teacher educators

Education is the most effective instrument for national development and teachers are the executors and facilitators of education. Improving the qualification and competence of teachers is very important for improving the quality of education. This recognition has accelerated efforts to establish compensation, evaluation, incentive and support systems to ensure that effective teachers are prepared, recruited, retained and motivated. The lack of incentives affects teacher motivation and job satisfaction. This prompts the education sector to review incentives and institutionalize an incentive system for teaching service. Establishing a continuous incentive mechanism requires teachers and leaders to regularly reveal their dedication and commitment to their work.

Teachers are responsible for the effective communication of all curriculum content with high levels of competence, transmission of knowledge, skills and values. The classroom teaching and learning process requires teachers to use active teaching methods and effective classroom management to maximize time on task. These approaches will benefit all students when applied effectively. However, lack of subject matter knowledge and instructional skills is one of the major barriers to effective curriculum implementation.

Therefore, professional support needs to be provided to teachers, leaders and teacher educators through needs-based and wellorganized training.

Therefore, teachers, leaders, and teacher educators must be professionally supported through a needs-based and well-organized CPD programme and ongoing supervision processes. In addition, teachers need to be motivated and incentivized through improved compensation and performance-based incentives to motivate and increase teacher engagement at all levels. Teachers are also satisfied if salary, benefits, the work itself, administrative relationships, physical working conditions, recognition, advancement, training, and retraining are offered in a favourable manner. To this end, it has become imperative to examine the incentives in the teaching profession and capacity building to serve as a scientific explanation of the factors that affect teachers' motivation to work, and then to discover the areas in which teachers have needs and how to meet those needs to ensure educational quality and productivity.

With this in mind, different strategies will be implemented to execute this subcomponent. The strategies include ensuring favourable working conditions for teachers, educators, and leaders; reviewing and implementing an attractive competency and performance-based career progression and incentive mechanism; providing adequate benefits and incentives for teachers; organizing a nationwide award ceremony for model teachers; and ensuring teacher qualification, professional development, and support.

Sub-component 3: School leaders training and professional development

Instructional leadership is an approach used by school leaders that focuses on the behaviour of teachers in certain activities that impact student academic outcomes. The main task of the school leader is to apply instructional leadership because this leadership style is related to the implementation of the innovation programme for the promotion and improvement of student learning. In addition, the roles and duties of instructional leadership are to develop and disseminate school goals, set targeted standards, coordinate curriculum, supervise and evaluate teachers' classroom instruction, encourage students to study, increase professional development of teachers and administrative staff. Principals are responsible for providing instructional leadership, which involves ensuring quality teaching and learning by overseeing the instructional programme and ensuring the effective use of instructional time to support the achievement of educational goals and objectives. Similarly, effective instructional leadership enhances the diversity and quality of the instructional programme to effectively achieve the set academic goals and objectives directly related to the instructional process, involving the interaction between teachers, students and the curriculum. Therefore, competent school

However, school leaders and supervisors face a lack of expertise in improving school quality and in identifying the inputs and actions that will lead to the results they seek. They also do not know how to convert additional resources into better student learning outcomes through the achievement of minimum standards in schools. Moreover, neither group currently has the capacity to conduct informed classroom observation and provide appropriate and constructive feedback to improve teacher performance.

leadership is the key factor for successful change,

school improvement or school effectiveness.

To address this problem, leadership and management training programmes were designed and implemented for principals and supervisors. This training included both theoretical and practical skills. Principals use their training to establish school-level structures and processes that support shared leadership in which everyone is collectively responsible for student learning and the overall environment of their school.

To improve school leadership, any teacher who aspires to be a leader will receive support from the school and training from school supervisors. To increase the share of female school leaders in the profession, a special support programme has been put in place; however, the capacity of leadership in implementing instructional leadership at the school level is not as expected.

To overcome the problem of instructional leadership, different strategies will be implemented to carry out this subcomponent in ESDP VI. The subcomponent includes reforming the head teacher training programme, ensuring transparent and merit-based recruitment and appointment for head teachers, revising and updating female head teacher training and recruitment guidelines for placement, developing and implementing selection guidelines for ongoing head teacher training, improving the qualification of school leaders on the basis of the national standard, introducing an alternative certification pathway linking preparation for leadership, updating head teachers through inservice training, ensuring favourable benefits and working conditions, ensuring the qualification of head teachers, and providing professional support for head teachers to ensure the quality of educational leadership for school effectiveness.

These strategies are to be realized over the plan period through key activities outlined in the tables.

Strategy	Indicator	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Development, communication and implementation of teacher and teacher educator manage- ment policies	Number of teacher management policy frameworks developed and implemented	0	Policy framework developed and implemented	MoE, REBs, Survey	
Formulate a comprehensive policy framework for teacher management					
Raise awareness ar	nd provide guidance on ne	ewly develop	ed teacher management p	olicies	
Develop a national	performance monitoring	and evaluation	on system		
Review and update po and corrective actio	•	, evaluation an	d support, including responsi	bilities	
Ensure the impleme	entation of the evaluation	system in a	l schools		
	ducation institutions, so that		orm process and in the govern elf-esteem, self-respect and a		
Strategy	Indicator	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Acquiring the right candidates to join the teaching profession	Revised criteria for attracting theright candidates	No	Revised criteria in place	MoE, REBs	
Revise and develop a the teaching profess		d criteria that v	vill ensure a relatively better e	entry into	
Conduct promotion	to attract the right candi	date into the	profession		
Conduct awareness	-raising training on the te	eaching profe	ession for the education sc	ciety	
Develop a national ent candidates	rance examination protocol a	and conduct an	entrance examination for tea	cher	
Develop a national exi for new graduates	t examination framework for	pre-service ca	ndidates and conduct exit exa	minations	
Ensure good govern	nance in the education se	ctor			
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Build teacher capac-		None	Revised CPD programme put inplace		
ity through a revised and well-organised programme of con- tinuing professional development, sup-	Percentage of teachers and head teachers trained through the revised CPD programme at all levels	0	TBD	MoE, REBs	
ported by ongoing support	Number of teachers whose qualification is improved	DNA	TBD		

Create professional networks, peer interaction and cooperation scheme to cultivate a culture of professional excellence for teachers

Redesign the content and quality of professional development programmes, including for school headmasters and leaders, on the basis of past experience and lessons learnt

Institutionalize a well-organized and managed programme of continuous professional development (CPD) at all levels, so that teachers have constant opportunities to develop and learn about the latest innovations and advances in their profession

 $Conduct evaluation/research on teacher satisfaction with the implementation of the {\tt CPD} programme.$

Provide practice-based engagements and trainings for teachers, based on needs and demand, which are rooted in the daily practice of the participants to build on them.

Upgrade teacher qualifications based on national standards

Evaluate and review the teachers' CPD programme

Train teachers in the CPD framework

Integrate gender-sensitive pedagogy into the CPD programme

Develop a standard for student/teacher ratio

Develop a national framework for teacher education and training

Train professional and technical teachers in different modalities					
Strategy	Indicator	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Reformtheteacher education and training programme	Teachers' training strat- egies and modalities revised and developed	0	Development and im- plementation of teacher training modalities	MoE, REBs reports	
Revise teacher training implementation strategy					
Reform pre-service	training to be competend	ce and values	s based		
Design various mod	dalities of education and p	preparation for	or teacher training		
Incorporate differen	ntiated training for specia	l needs into l	teacher education program	nmes	
Expand special nee	ds teacher training oppor	tunities to co	over diploma and degree le	evels	
Strategy	Indicators (Baselines and targets as indicated in the table in Component 3 above)			Source	
	Percentageof teacherstrainedinmothertonguelanguageskillsF/M				
Improving teachers' skills in mother	Percentage of teachers t	1 MoE, REBs			
tongue and English language teaching	tongue and English Percentage of middle school English-language teachers with special				
	Number of teachers train	ned in sign la	inguage. F/M		
Prepare strategies, ma English education	anuals, guidelines and stand	ards on the dev	elopment of mother tongue a	nd	
Trainmothertonguea	and English language teache	ersinmotherto	ongue and English language p	roficiency	
Provide school-base	ed training on mother ton	igue and Eng	lish language mentoring		
	m Teachers Improvement Pr ish as a medium of instruc		TIP) training for teachers of ot	her	
Undertake an impact a order to design a ne		mother-tongu	e and English language teach	ers in	
Conduct research into the development of other mother tongue languages for use as languages of instruction in the education system					
Print and distribute the Mother Tongue and English Language Improvement Centre guidelines to improve the effectiveness of centres, teacher candidates and teacher educators					
Provide sign language training for teachers					
	d the development of nationa nd facilitate the exchange		and international best practice s between professionals	in	

Strategy	Indicators (Baselines and targets as indicated in the table in Component 3				
	<i>above)</i> Percentage of qualified teacher educators				
Transforming edu- cation and teacher	Percentage of CTEs mee			MoE, REBs,	
training institutions			r trainer linkage Percentage	EMIS, Li-	
into effective learn-	of certified teacher train			censing reports	
ing systems	Percentage of licensed to	eacher educa	tors	reports	
Revise and implement a policy for teacher educators' institutions					
Implement a standa	ardized teacher educatior	n curriculum			
Develop and implement cooperation	nt a guideline for liaison betw	veen teacher eo	lucation institutions and profe	essional	
Equip teacher educ	ation institutions with the	e necessary re	esources		
Provide needs-base	d capacity-building traini	ng for teache	er educators		
Organize training on t	he Higher Diploma Program	nme(HDP)fora	all newly deployed teacher ed	ucators	
Organize training for	or teacher educators on c	ontinuous pro	ofessional development (C	PD)	
Build the capacity of	of teacher training institut	tions to meet	standards		
Improve the performa support	nce assessment of teacher e	ducators by pro	oviding them with special prof	essional	
Strategy	Indicator	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Ensuring favourable benefits and working conditions for teach-	Availability of competency and performance-based career progression and incentive mechanism	None	Competency and performance-based career progression and incentive mechanism approved and implemented	MoE, REBs	
ers and leaders	Award ceremony organized for model teachers	None	Award ceremony for model teachers organized on a regular basis	RED3	
Review and implement mechanism	t a competence and performa	ance based attr	active career progression and	incentive	
Review and update pe other professions	riodically teachers' and head	teachers' sala	ries to make them competitive	e with	
Provide adequate bene related packages	efits and incentives for teach	ers, including i	mproved hardship allowances	and	
Develop incentive g	uidelines for SNE teache	rs who teach	in special classes and sch	ools	
Organize a national	award ceremony for mo	del teachers i	in the country		
Develop guidelines	to align career promotior	n and incentiv	ves with performance and	licensing	
Strategy	Indicator	Baseline	Targets	Source	
	Introduction of a revised and updated school leaders' CPD programme	Existing, unrevised programme	Implementation of a revised and updated CPD programme for school leaders	MoE	
Strengthening school leadership and professional	Percentage of qualified principals at all levels. (F/M)	TBD	100%	EMIS	
development	Percentage of principals satisfied with their job (F/M)	DNA	100%	Survey report	
	Percentage of qualified supervisors at all levels. (F/M)	TBD	100%	EMIS	
Develop and impler	nent selection guidelines	for the in-se	rvice training of head tead	hers	
Upgrade school lead	ders' qualifications to the	national star	ndard		

Education Sector Development Programme VI

Establish a mechanism to ensure transparent and merit-based recruitment and appointment of head teachers

Review and update recruitment guidelines to improve women's training and placement in school leadership

License school headmasters and cluster supervisors

Introduce an alternative certification pathway linking leadership preparation, research, teaching and policy

 $Provide \, needs-based, short-term \, training \, for school \, leaders to \, fully \, implement instructional \, leadership$

Train school leaders in the CPD framework and toolkit, gender responsive pedagogy and inclusive education.

Evaluate and review the school leaders' CPD programme

Implement a school leadership training programme

Increase the participation of women in school management

Component 4: Expanding and strengthening science, technology and innovation

Expanding and strengthening science, technology, and innovation in the education system create a wide range of opportunities that can stimulate students' interest in science and convergent creative thinking. This is done through the inclusion of STEAM (science, technology, engineering, art, and mathematics) education in the national curriculum to prepare citizens to be creative, productive, innovative, and effective. In addition, STEAM-based education will be implemented to improve scientific literacy to utilize the knowledge embedded in the newly revised national curriculum. To this end, citizens will develop and demonstrate research, critical thinking, and creative problem-solving skills, be innovative, and boost their scientific and technological literacy through the STEAM approach.

STEAM is a new approach to the education system to develop and strengthen science, technology and innovation. This approach will be implemented through different strategies such as improving STEAM-based teaching-learning process, creativity and innovation capacity, inservice training for teachers and school leaders, and improving the infrastructure and facilities of schools and teacher training institutes.

Sub-component 1: STEAM-based teaching and learning process, creativity and innovation

STEAM education has emerged recently to develop human resources with creativity in mind and to see and understand the human society of the future. STEAM education is defined as an education in which students' understanding and interest in related subjects such as science, technology, engineering, etc., promote the conversion of thinking and problem solving based on science and technology. Therefore, the purpose of STEAM is to make learners creative and innovative, and to apply knowledge in everyday life. In addition, it is also essential to leverage STEAM as a framework that leads to new ways of thinking to solve 21st century problems.

STEAM is an essential paradigm for creatively fulfilling teaching and learning in the STEM disciplines. By adding the "Arts", STEAM enables learners to imagine, implement, and communicate a broader and more creative range of applications for science, although focusing only on science is not sufficient. As a result, learners are likely to be job-ready or more able to apply their knowledge in a variety of contexts to familiar and unfamiliar real-world situations when they have learned and understood how to integrate the skills of the STEAM subjects.

Toachievetheaboveoutcomes, it will be important to design strategies and develop manuals on how STEM and arts teachers collaborate in the process of introducing and practicing STEAM at all levels of schools. There is also a need for a series of consultation forums on the integration approach and consensus building with arts and STEM educators and teachers. In addition, documentation and dissemination of STEAM best practices at all levels, as well as research on the implementation of STEAM education will be implemented as part of ESDP VI. It will also be essential to design and implement different strategies to provide STEAM education supported by digital technology.

Sub-component 2: STEAM-based in-service training for teachers and school leaders

In ESDP V, the focus on science and mathematics remained restricted at all levels, with an expansion of the pilot science and mathematics improvement programme to all regions and the development of regional science and mathematics training units (often within CTEs) to complement the existing federal training centre. This was accompanied by the training of regional trainers and key teachers to help all subject area teachers acquire the skills necessary to improve math and science instruction.

Under ESDP VI, there will be a shift toward the training of science, technology, and innovation (STEAM) proficient teachers to implement a STEAM-focused middle and secondary school curriculum. In this regard, pre-service and CPD programmes will improve the quality of instruction and training methods. Teachers will also learn to use computers to enhance their knowledge and skills, and to design quality instruction and materials using technology.

Likewise, STEAM-specific curricula will be updated and offered to enhance subject knowledge and develop skills and abilities. Through a modular approach to teaching, higher education institutions (HEIs) will also develop new courses and programmes that respond to current or emerging labour market needs. ICT will be systematically and extensively integrated into all HEIs programmes. Courses will also be offered both online and through blended approaches.

As a result, quality practical training will be provided to existing science and technology and art teachers, as well as laboratory and workshop assistants, as part of the new STEAM approach. The current CPD system will also be revised and an effective system will be established for science and technology teachers. Likewise, teachers will receive hands-on training and sustained professional support on how STEM and art teachers collaborate for a common goal of effective STEAM implementation at the school level. In addition, school and college leaders and supervisors will be trained in the STEAM approach to support teachers and students at all levels.

Sub-component 3: School and teacher college infrastructure and physical capacities

The provision of appropriate infrastructure in the various centres, taking into account the needs of the curriculum they offer, is a key strategy for the expansion of science and technology. Under ESDP V, it was planned that all schools would have a set of minimum educational resources, such as a functional laboratory (for primary and all secondary grades), with the necessary equipment and materials. However, this project has not been as well implemented as planned.

As a result, one of the main obstacles to training and teaching in STEAM-related fields is the lack of appropriate infrastructure in schools and teacher training centres.

Under ESDP VI, improving the infrastructure and physical capacity of schools and educational institutes will receive the attention necessary for effective implementation of STEAM. Students must learn through experimentation, observation, and active inquiry if they are to develop competencies in STEAM areas. New teaching and learning materials will be developed and distributed to schools across the country. In addition, the technological and physical infrastructure of schools and teacher training institutions will be improved. Regional centres of excellence will also be established for the development of ICT-supported curricula, materials and teaching in various subjects.

Similarly, a national and regional centre for science, mathematics, and technology education will be established. The laboratory standards of all schools and teacher training institutes will be developed and equipped with the necessary equipment and technology in accordance with the standard. All stakeholders, including the regions and the Ministry of Education, will support and guide the regions in establishing regional science and technology education training centres. These centres will also be equipped with the necessary teaching materials for STEAM education, developed from locally available materials.

Therefore, equipping and capacitating schools and educational institutes with improved infrastructure and materials will strengthen STEAM education. Educational institutions will be equipped with digital and other types of technology. New and existing well-resourced and functional laboratories and workshops will be created, furnished and reorganized efficiently. Component 4 objective: Students will develop and demonstrate research, critical thinking and creative prob- lem-solving skills, demonstrate innovation and boost their scientific and technological literacy through the STEAM approach

Indicator s	Baseline	Target s	Source
Percentage of need-based STEAM training manuals dev- el-oped	DNA	100%	
Percentage of STEAM teachers trained through in- service training	DNA	100%	
Percentage of STEAM teachers trained in CPD	DNA	100%	
Percentage of laboratory assistants trained in short term	DNA	100%	MoE, REBs,
Percentage of schools with digitalized laboratory	DNA	100%	EMIS reports
Percentage of schools with standard laboratory equipment	DNA	100%	ť
Number of science and technology centres	0	12+	
Percentage of locally improvised laboratory equipment	DNA	100%	
Number of teachers recognized for innovation	DNA	150	
Number of students recognized for innovation	DNA	150	

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Enhanced STEAM- based teaching and learning process,	Development of strat- egies, framework and manuals to promote STEAM-based and prac- tice-oriented education	0	Development and imple- mentation of strategies, frameworks and man- uals for STEAM-based education	MoE, REBs
creativity and inno- vation	Number of STEAM-based fairs and competitions organized at national and regional levels	None	Fairs and competitions organized each year	report
Organize national ar	nd regional STEAM competi	tion fairs and	academic competitions for	r students
Organize a series of co STEM educators and	onsultation forums on the inte I teachers	egration appro	ach and build consensus wit	h arts and
Develop a detailed roa phases of the STEAN	dmap and realistic implemer 1-based curriculum	itation plan on	the introduction and implem	entation
	IdevelopmanualsonhowST lementing the STEAM app			cessof
Conduct research o	n the implementation of s	STEAM educa	ation	
Inform and dissemi	nate best practice in STE	AM at all leve	els	
Develop and impler	ment the STEAM educatio	n improveme	ent framework	
Design and implem	ent different strategies to	deliver tech	nology supported STEAM	education
Develop strategies	to implement STEAM sch	olarships for	female students	
Prepare laboratory	samples (simulation) and	support reg	ions and schools	
Design and implem	ent strategies to improve	the innovati	on work of teachers and	students
Design and implement creative and innova	t strategies to deliver STEAM tive citizens	education fron	n pre-primary level onwards	to develop
Provide STEAM edu	cation supported by digit	al technology	/	
Organize a facilitati	on team to support regio	ns and schoo	ls in their STEAM activitie	es
Strategy	(Baselines and targets a	Indicators s indicated in ti above)	he table in Component 4	Source
	Needs-based STEAM tra	ining manual	developed	
Provide STEAM- based in-service	Percentage of STEAM teach	ners trained th	rough in-service training	MoE,
training for teachers	Percentage of STEAM tea	achers traine	d through CPD	REBs
and school leaders	Percentage of laboratory as training	sistants traine	d through short term	reports

Provide quality practic approach	cal training for in-service science, technology and art teachers with the r	ew STEAM
Provide quality practic the new STEAM app	cal training for laboratory and workshop assistants in science and techno roach	logy with
Review the current C	PD system and establish an effective one for science and technology te	achers
	ing and sustainable professional support on how STEAM and arts teache common goal of effective STEAM implementation at school level	ers work
Provide training for	school and college leaders and supervisors on the STEAM appl	roach
	training materials on STEAM and train teachers to improve the teaching room and student outcomes	-learning
Collaborate with instit approach at all leve	utions and NGOs working in the field of STEAM to strengthen and expan Is	d the
	renlightening the publicon the basic concepts of STEAM and their applic or cultivating a scientific culture	ationin
Institutionalize tead	cher training to introduce new teaching methods/approaches	
Develop a STEAM t	raining manual tailored to the needs and train teachers and lea	ders
Undertake research	on the implementation of STEAM education	
Strategy	Indicators (Baselines and targets as indicated in the table in Component 4 above)	Source
Improving STEAM	Percentage of schools with a digitized laboratory	
infrastructure and	Percentage of schools with standard laboratory equipment	MoE, REBs
facilities in schools and teacher training	Percentage of established science and technology centres	reports
colleges	Percentage of locally improvised laboratory equipment	
Establish a nationa	l and regional centre for science, mathematics and technology	education
Develop laboratory	standards for all schools - KG/elementary/middle and high sch	nool
Develop laboratory sta regional centres	andards for teacher training colleges, the national science and technolog	y and
Equip laboratories and standard	d workshops with the necessary equipment and technology in accordanc	e with the
Establish a Nationa	Exploratorium or Museum of Science and Technology	
Prepare improvised	materials for schools and provide training	
Conduct research o	n science and technology education in schools and educational	institutes
Support and guide reg	jions in establishing regional training centres for science and technology	education
Develop and impleme available materials	nt the necessary teaching materials for students and teachers from loca	lly
Design the mitigation school laboratories	solution to be adopted and implement how to remove obsolete chemical	s from

Component 5: Preparing students for the job market through a career and technical education programme

Career and technical education (C&TE) is designed to empower students to become successful citizens, workers, and leaders in a global economy, while providing lifelong learning and academic and technical preparation for success in their chosen career. The goal of offering C&TE from pre-primary through college is to enable students to understand the fundamentals of any career as early as possible so that they can develop essential skills into adulthood and prepare for future career opportunities. On the other hand, C&TE in secondary schools is the practice of teaching specific technologybased, career-oriented skills in seven areas, namely: manufacturing, construction, biological and chemical sciences, information technology and computer science, business sciences, language and social sciences, and performing and visual arts, with the goal of enabling secondary school graduates to obtain job opportunities in the labour market and facilitating school-towork transitions.

Sub-component 1: Vocationalize the general education system

The vocationalized general education system is an educational system in which all learning activities, from pre-primary through secondary school, are supported by relevant practical exercises to equip learners with industrial, entrepreneurial, and life skills and prepare them for the world of work.

Sub-component 2: Produce labour market-ready secondary school graduates

Secondary school graduates, as part of the general education professionalized curriculum, complete a vocational and technical education programme in addition to core academic subjects in Grades 11 and 12 in seven areas: manufacturing, construction, biological and chemical sciences, information technology and computer science, business science, language

and social sciences, performing arts, and visual arts, in order to acquire the knowledge, skills, attitudes, and entrepreneurial foundations necessary to enable them to join the world of work upon completion of general education.

Sub-component 3: Develop careeraware middle school students with essential or basic career and life skills

As stipulated in the general education curriculum for professionalized general education, middle school students will be expected to participate in career and technical education in a selected industry sector. In doing so, learners will be equipped with essential industry and personal skills, a positive work attitude, and an exploration of career opportunities. In addition, career and technical education in the middle school provides students with exposure to the realities of the world of work through career awareness and job shadowing activities, in order to make decisions about their future career aspirations.

employability and entrep	reneurship			
Inc	licator s	Baseline	Targets	Source
Percentage of qualified tea education (C&TE)	chers in career and technical	0	100%	
Percentage of schools with	0	100%	MoE, REBs	
Percentage of secondary s C&TE	0	100%		
Sub-component 1. Vocat	ionalize the general educatior	system		
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Reorganize and revise the structure of general education towards career	Implementation strategy developed for C&TE	None	A comprehensive strategy developed and implemented	MoE,
and technical education (C&TE)	Percentage of secondary schools (Grades 11 and 12) ready forC&TE	None	100%	report
Develop an implementation	n strategy to effectively impleme	nt career and	technical education i	in all schools
Provide quality practical tra	aining for career and technical te	achers at INS	ET	
Provide quality education a	and training for career and techn	ical teachers a	at PRESET	
Reform initial training to inc	clude C&TE			
Reform and equip seconda	ary schools with facilities and ma	aterials for C&	ГЕ	
Equip higher education ins	titutions with facilities and mater	ials for C&TE		
	d with industry-recognized skills a school students to take them	and qualificat	tions in these areas,	and

Component 5 objective: To develop students' attitudes, knowledge and skills for

Education Sector Development Programme VI

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Development of the	Availability of a legal framework for C&TE	0	Legal framework developed and implemented	MoE,	
career and technical education system	Availability of C&TE standards for middle secondary schools	0	C&TE standards developed and adhered to	REBs report	
Develop a legal framework	for C&TE				
Draft guidelines and stand	ards (for middle and secondary s	schools)			
Harmonize/align certificate	s with a national qualification fra	mework			
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Developing institutional capacity for C&TE	PercentageofC&TEwith infrastructure	0	100%	MoE, EMIS	
· ·	ents of C&TE infrastructure, ma	-		ndards)	
Complete the infrastructure, machinery and equipment required for C&TE					
Develop and implement m	aintenance and repair guidelines	5			
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Develop capacity of teachers and leaders	Percentage of teachers and leaders trained	NA	100%	MoE, REBs	
	ents of teachers and headmaste				
Develop recruitment standards for C&TE teachers, counsellors and managers					
-	E training package for the in-se		-		
-	E training package for the pre-s				
-	E leadership training package for		· · ·		
Sub-component 2. Equip students with the knowledge, skills and attitude needed in the labour					
market Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
market	Indicators Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE				
MarketStrategyCertifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12	Percentage of secondary school students certified in	Baseline 0	Targets 100%	Source MoE,	
StrategyCertifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12Evaluate students' skills in	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE	Baseline 0 inuous, standa	Targets 100%	Source MoE,	
StrategyCertifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12Evaluate students' skills in	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through cont	Baseline 0 inuous, standa	Targets 100%	Source MoE,	
StrategyCertifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12Evaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 students	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through cont who have successfully complete	Baseline 0 inuous, standa d the C&TE	Targets 100% ardized exit exams	Source MoE, REBs	
marketStrategyCertifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12Evaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 studentsCertify Grade 12 studentsStrategyEstablish school-indus- try/sector partnershipsIdentify and select potentia	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through conti who have successfully complete Indicators Number of industries partnering with schools al industries	Baseline 0 inuous, standa d the C&TE Baseline	Targets 100% ardized exit exams Targets	Source MoE, REBs Source MoE	
marketStrategyCertifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12Evaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 studentsCertify Grade 12 studentsStrategyEstablish school-indus- try/sector partnershipsIdentify and select potentia	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through conti who have successfully complete Indicators Number of industries partnering with schools	Baseline 0 inuous, standa d the C&TE Baseline	Targets 100% ardized exit exams Targets	Source MoE, REBs Source MoE	
Market Strategy Certifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12 Evaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 students Strategy Establish school-indus- try/sector partnerships Identify and select potentia Raise awareness and pror	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through conti who have successfully complete Indicators Number of industries partnering with schools	Baseline 0 inuous, standa d the C&TE Baseline	Targets 100% ardized exit exams Targets	Source MoE, REBs Source MoE	
Market Strategy Certifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12 Evaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 students Strategy Establish school-industry/sector partnerships Identify and select potentiat Raise awareness and pror Clarify roles and responsib Formulate and sign memory	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through conti who have successfully complete Indicators Number of industries partnering with schools al industries note C&TE and its benefits willities of schools and industry randa of understanding	Baseline 0 inuous, standa d the C&TE Baseline	Targets 100% ardized exit exams Targets	Source MoE, REBs Source MoE	
Strategy Certifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12 Evaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 students Strategy Establish school-industry/sector partnerships Identify and select potentia Raise awareness and pror Clarify roles and responsite Formulate and sign memo Ensure and leverage partner	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through conti who have successfully complete Indicators Number of industries partnering with schools al industries note C&TE and its benefits iilities of schools and industry randa of understanding ership with industry in C&TE	Baseline 0 inuous, standa d the C&TE Baseline	Targets 100% ardized exit exams Targets	Source MoE, REBs Source MoE	
Market Strategy Certifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12 Evaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 students Strategy Establish school-industry/sector partnerships Identify and select potentiat Raise awareness and pror Clarify roles and responsib Formulate and sign memory	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through conti who have successfully complete Indicators Number of industries partnering with schools al industries note C&TE and its benefits willities of schools and industry randa of understanding ership with industry in C&TE stainable partnership	Baseline 0 inuous, standa d the C&TE Baseline 0	Targets 100% ardized exit exams Targets 7 industries	Source MoE, REBs Source MoE	
Strategy Certifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12 Evaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 students Strategy Establish school-industry/sector partnerships Identify and select potentia Raise awareness and pror Clarify roles and responsite Formulate and sign memo Ensure and leverage partner	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through conti who have successfully complete Indicators Number of industries partnering with schools al industries note C&TE and its benefits iilities of schools and industry randa of understanding ership with industry in C&TE	Baseline 0 inuous, standa d the C&TE Baseline	Targets 100% ardized exit exams Targets	Source MoE, REBs Source MoE	
Strategy Strategy Certifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12 Evaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 students Certify Grade 12 students Strategy Establish school-industry/sector partnerships Identify and select potentia Raise awareness and pror Clarify roles and responsib Formulate and sign memo Ensure and leverage partner Support and maintain a su	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through conti who have successfully complete Indicators Number of industries partnering with schools al industries note C&TE and its benefits willities of schools and industry randa of understanding ership with industry in C&TE stainable partnership	Baseline 0 inuous, standa d the C&TE Baseline 0	Targets 100% ardized exit exams Targets 7 industries	Source MoE, REBs Source MoE report	
MarketStrategyCertifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12Evaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 studentsEvaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 studentsStrategyEstablish school-indus- try/sector partnershipsIdentify and select potentia Raise awareness and pror Clarify roles and responsite Formulate and sign memo Ensure and leverage partner Support and maintain a suStrategyProvide vocational and technical education in seven selected industry sectorsAssess existing and dema	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through conti who have successfully complete Indicators Number of industries partnering with schools al industries note C&TE and its benefits ilities of schools and industry randa of understanding ership with industry in C&TE stainable partnership Indicators Number of industry sectors offering C&TE	Baseline 0 inuous, standa d the C&TE Baseline 0 Baseline	Targets 100% ardized exit exams Targets 7 industries Targets 7 industries	Source MoE, REBs Source MoE report	
MarketStrategyCertifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12Evaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 studentsEvaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 studentsStrategyEstablish school-indus- try/sector partnershipsIdentify and select potentia Raise awareness and pror Clarify roles and responsite Formulate and sign memo Ensure and leverage partner Support and maintain a suStrategyProvide vocational and technical education in seven selected industry sectorsAssess existing and dema	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through conti who have successfully complete Indicators Number of industries partnering with schools al industries note C&TE and its benefits willities of schools and industry randa of understanding ership with industry in C&TE stainable partnership Indicators Number of industry sectors offering C&TE	Baseline 0 inuous, standa d the C&TE Baseline 0 Baseline	Targets 100% ardized exit exams Targets 7 industries Targets 7 industries	Source MoE, REBs Source MoE report	
MarketStrategyCertifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12Evaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 studentsEvaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 studentsStrategyEstablish school-indus- try/sector partnershipsIdentify and select potentia Raise awareness and pror Clarify roles and responsite Formulate and sign memo Ensure and leverage partner Support and maintain a su StrategyProvide vocational and technical education in seven selected industry sectorsAssess existing and dema Align the demand for careed Organize the teaching span	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through conti who have successfully complete Indicators Number of industries partnering with schools al industries note C&TE and its benefits ilities of schools and industry randa of understanding ership with industry in C&TE stainable partnership Indicators Number of industry sectors offering C&TE and for careers around the school ers with the seven selected industion ce, infrastructure, machinery and	Baseline 0 inuous, standa d the C&TE Baseline 0 Baseline 0 Baseline 0 Stry sectors	Targets 100% ardized exit exams Targets 7 industries Targets 7 industries	Source MoE, REBs Source MoE report	
marketStrategyCertifying students with different vocations when they complete Grade 12Evaluate students' skills in Certify Grade 12 studentsStrategyEstablish school-indus- try/sector partnershipsIdentify and select potentia Raise awareness and pror Clarify roles and responsite Formulate and sign memoEnsure and leverage part Support and maintain a suStrategyProvide vocational and technical education in seven selected industry sectorsAssess existing and dema Align the demand for careed	Percentage of secondary school students certified in C&TE Grades 11 and 12 through conti who have successfully complete Indicators Number of industries partnering with schools al industries note C&TE and its benefits ilities of schools and industry randa of understanding ership with industry in C&TE stainable partnership Indicators Number of industry sectors offering C&TE and for careers around the school ers with the seven selected industion ce, infrastructure, machinery and price collaborative learning	Baseline 0 inuous, standa d the C&TE Baseline 0 Baseline 0 Baseline 0 Stry sectors	Targets 100% ardized exit exams Targets 7 industries Targets 7 industries	Source MoE, REBs Source MoE report	

Offer entrepreneurship train	ning programmes			
Conduct assessments and	certify C&TE students			
Leverage industry partners	hips for graduate placement			
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Develop a system of student support services	Creating guidelines and manuals on career guidance, support and placement	None	Needed documents produced	MoE,
(career guidance and counselling, job place- ment)	Percentage of secondary schools with an established and functioning student support service	0	100%	REBs report
Develop career guidance a	nd placement manuals			
Provide career guidance su	upport (for secondary school C&	TE)		
Provide job shadowing sup	port (for middle school C&TE)			
Provide job placement serv	vice (for secondary school C&TE	E)		
Sub-component 3: Produ	ce career-conscious students	with essenti	al or basic skills	
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Provide C&TE to middle schools to equip and orient students with essential basic skills	Percentage of middle schools offering C&TE subjects and skills for future training and	0	100%	MoE report
forfurthertraining and preparation for the future labour market	development in the labour market			report
preparation for the future labour market		onment		τοροτε
preparation for the future labour market Assess existing and in-den	market		identified)	
preparation for the future labour market Assess existing and in-den Select industry/sector-base	market nand careers in the school enviro	n C&TE areas	,	
preparation for the future labour market Assess existing and in-den Select industry/sector-base	market nand careers in the school envir ed training topics (from the sever achinery and equipment for seco	n C&TE areas	,	
preparation for the future labour market Assess existing and in-dem Select industry/sector-base Organize infrastructure, ma Provide C&TE to students	market nand careers in the school envir ed training topics (from the sever achinery and equipment for seco	n C&TE areas Indary school	C&TE	
preparation for the future labour market Assess existing and in-den Select industry/sector-base Organize infrastructure, ma Provide C&TE to students Provide appropriate entrep	market hand careers in the school enviro ed training topics (from the sever achinery and equipment for seco in the selected area	n C&TE areas Indary school middle schoo	C&TE	

Component 6: Transforming schools into effective teaching and learning centres

Educational institutions are the most respectful organizations where productive and responsible citizens are produced.

Therefore, schools must be safe, secure, childfriendly, and attractive for the learning and teaching process and for achieving desired outcomes.

Therefore, educational institutions need to be equipped and empowered to perform their functions at the highest level and utilize the availablematerial, humanandfinancial resources, including revising the block grant guideline and requiring each woreda to implement the budget allocation in accordance with the new directive to reduce resource problems in schools.

Special attention will be given to children affected by natural and/or man-made emergencies so that they can receive the same services and continue their education in an environment conducive to learning and teaching.

Sub-component 1: School standards

Schools need the basic structure and resources to improve and develop school standards, in order to operate efficiently and effectively. Standards need to be developed in a way that takes into account local differences. These standards should include guidelines for staff, including guidance and support personnel, on the appropriate organizational structure. The goal is for all schools to be educational institutions that meet at least the basic standards (Level 3 and above) interms of inputs, outcomes, and impacts. Itistherefore necessary to develop and implement standards for pre-primary, primary, middle and secondary schools. The school system has a well-organized organizational structure and is well staffed with administrative/support personnel, including the deployment of qualified laboratory technicians, computer technicians, librarians, and consulting staff. Develop and implement an accelerated school transformation strategy to improve school standards, provide capacity building training to education leaders following the developed strategy; compile and develop best practices for pre-school, primary, middle and secondary schools; improve the school improvement programme framework and guidelines.

Sub-component 2: Supportive school environment and education in emergencies

The existence of a supportive and positive atmosphere for the learning and teaching process has a huge contribution to make in providing quality education to improve learning outcomes by improving student behaviour and the learning environment. It is about enabling students to acquire competencies in terms of knowledge, attitudes and skills. To achieve this objective, schools must identify their strengths and weaknesses and improve their weaknesses first. As a result, considerable effort will be made to ensure the adequacy and normalcy of the school environment. The school environment is necessary to support an effective teaching and learning process.

Members of the school community and other stakeholders are expected to work in coordination and collaboration to create a supportive environment that meets the individual needs of students. When students feel safe in the school community, they can pursue their education with motivation. Students need to be empowered and their voices heard to contribute and actively engage and participate in the decision-making process of their school.

In each school, a set of 'student services' will be offered to support the development of students' life skills and to promote a healthy and safe school environment. Student services will pay particular attention to HIV/AIDS, DSA, school and student health and nutrition. To increase the reach and relevance of 'student services', the education administration will work closely with other government agencies and NGOs working in these areas. School feeding will be provided from pre-primary to primary school level.

Other health interventions, such as school-based deworming, will be linked to the 'student services' provided, and all schools will have a safe water

supply, adequate and gender-sensitive sanitation facilities, and a basic set of facilities for children with special educational needs.

Schools will be encouraged to prepare and equip sports facilities according to their local context. Standards for school WASH facilities will be consistent with the agreed-upon One WASH national strategy. 'Student services' will integrate life skills instruction with sports or after-school resources and clubs (developed by curriculum staff and cross-curricular specialists) to promote a healthy and safe school environment.

Sub-component 3: Public, private and community partnership

Public, private, and community partnership is one of the school improvement programmes that focuses on public, private, and community engagementinschoolplanningandmanagement. The relationship between these institutions has strengthenedtheoverallactivities of the education system to bring about effective changes in school outcomes. Therefore, given that the character and roles of these institutions contributing to the school system vary, comprehensive policy design clarifying the roles of public, private, community, and community leaders can play a vital role.

During ESDP V, the current approach to school improvement planning led by self-evaluation and community-based decision making was implemented. Schools were encouraged to strengthen their parent-student-teacher associations (PSTAs) and these community groups were provided with more information through the 'school report card' to make evidence-based decisions for improvement. In addition, two outreach strategies were planned to increase community participation in school management and decision making. These were a media campaign focused on promoting education, engaging the community in school leadership, and providing face-to-face information, and encouraging households and community members to engage in education. However, there was no legal framework for promoting education and conducting collaborative educational activities between the private, public and community sectors.

Therefore, strengthening private, public, and community partnerships and parental involvement in schools is envisioned as a strategy for providing quality education in ESDP VI. To execute this strategy effectively, a strong policy that can outline the roles and responsibilities of the private-public-community partnership will be developed. An inclusive policy and system that maximizes the involvement of a variety of stakeholders across the curriculum will also be developed and implemented.

In addition, establishing a guiding principle for school management and leadership, community involvement, and financial guidelines will also be an area of focus for this plan. Finally, parent, community and private sector engagement programmes will be put in place to track the learning progress of learners and actively participate in monitoring and evaluating the delivery of educational services.

Sub-component 4: School leadership

The leadership and management programme will be supplemented with streamlined guidance for evidence-based planning and decisionmaking that principals can use when engaging their PSTAs. All guidance documents are used to prepare three-year strategic plans and annual school-level operational plans – consistent with current SIP cycles.

Under ESDP VI, it is planned to provide regular, close-to-school support, deploy qualified secondary school and cluster supervisors based on national standards, develop general guidelines for school supervisors and technical guidelines (coaching and supervision tool), allocating and distributing grants to schools, providing awareness training on the proper use of these grants, preparing the school's strategic plan, and improving the efficient use of teachers' time through various support mechanisms.

Component 6 objective: School performance, functioning and efficiency will be improved by translating avail- able resources into quality learning outcomes

Indicators		Baseline	Targets	Source
	pre-primary	5	45.2%	
Percentage of schools achieving the minimum stan- dard (level 3) at all levels	primary & middle	11	45.2%	
	secondary	11	45.2%	EMIS, MoE.
	pre-primary	0.01	10.8%	REBs
Percentage of schools reaching the higher standard (level 4) at all levels	primary & middle	0.01	10.8%	
	secondary	0	10.8%	
Percentage of schools with active/functional PTSAs at all levels	primary & middle	85	100%	
	secondary	85	100%	Surve y
	pre-primary	DNA	50%	
Percentage of schools with strong public, private and community partnerships at all levels	primary & middle	DNA	50%	report s
	secondary	DNA	50%	
Percentage of students enrolled in education in em situa- tions at all levels	nergency	DNA	100%	EMIS
Number of new schools built		DNA	750	
Number of schools expanded and renovated		DNA	1162	
Percentage of primary and middle schools with acc electricity	cess to	27%	75%	EMIS,
Percentage of secondary schools with access to el	ectricity	73%	100%	REBs
Percentage of primary and middle schools with lab facilities	oratory	26%	80%	
Percentage of secondary schools with access to a	laboratory	64%	100%	
Percentage of schools with environmental protection legacy in place	on and green	DNA	100%	REBs

Education Sector Development Programme VI

Pupil/classroom ratio	primary	DN A	1:50	
	secondary	DN A	1:40	
Percentage of schools with access to an improved	pre-primary	DN A	50%	EMIS,
water source at all levels	Primary	27%	50%	REBs
	Secondary	79%	100 %	
	pre-primary	33%	50%	
Percentage of schools with access to improved gen- der-segregated latrines at all levels	Primary	79%	89%	
	Secondary	96%	100 %	

Percentage of school men- strual hygiene r	s with access to improved nanagement facilities	Primary	DN A	85%	EMIS,
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,		Secondary	DN A	85%	REBs
	s with at least half of the scho ing and learning area of the S		DN A	100 %	REBs, Assessme nt report
Percentage of teache	r attendance (time on task)	Primary	DN A	100 %	
		Secondary	DN A	100	
Percentage of schools visited by supervisors based on the standard		Primary	DN A	100 %	
based on the standard		Secondary	DN A	100 %	REBs
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targe	ts	Source
	Revised and updated school standards	None	Revised and a school standa published		
Revision, updating and implementation of school	Percentage of schools with an accelerated school transformation strategy	0	100%		MoE, REBs
standards	Percentage of schools with administrative/support staff in line with organiza- tional structure	TBD	100%		
Review and develop take into account the	minimum standards for pre-pr diversity of contexts	imary, primar	y, middle and se	econdary sc	hools that
Ensure that the school administrative/support	ol system has the appropriate t staff	organizationa	al structure and a	adequate	
Deploy qualified labor	ratory technicians, ICT techni	cians, librariar	ns and guidance	and couns	elling experts
Develop and impleme	ent an accelerated school trar	sformation st	rategy		
Equip schools with m	inimum learning resources				
Document and disser	ninate best practice in pre-sc	hools, primary	, middle and se	condary sch	nools
Create well-equipped	and functional laboratories a	nd workshops	;		
Revise and implement mainstreaming guide	nt gender equality strategies, a lines	anti-harassme	ent code of cond	uct and ger	nder
	actical professional support a ment and have high expectati				
Ensure that teachers in the classroom	use assessment results and o	data to improv	e the learning a	nd teaching	process
Ensure that teachers	use appropriate assessment	methods takir	ng into account t	he age leve	els of their

students

Education Sector Development Programme VI

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	Development of a public-private-community partnership policy	None	Public-private- community partnership policy and strategy in place	
Strengthen public- private-community	Revised guidelines on school management and leadership, community involvement and finance	0	Revised school management guidelines published and implemented	
partnership and pa- rental involvement in schools	Percentage of schools with strong public, private and community partnerships at all levels	TBD	100%	MoE, REBs
	Percentage of schools benefiting from community input in various school activities (labour, finance, materials and their pro- fession)	TBD	100%	
Develop a policy of p	rivate-public-community partn	ership	1	
Develop an inclusive all school programme	policy and system that maxim	izes the invol	vement of a variety of stake	holders in
Develop school mana	gement and leadership, comr	munity particip	pation and financial guidelin	ies
Develop parental eng	agement programmes to mon	itor children's	learning progress	
	reby parents, the community a ating education service delive		e sector are actively involve	ed in

Strategy	Indicators (Baselines and targets as indicated in the table in Component 6 above)	Source
	Percentage of schools/learning centres implementing minimum standards in emergencies	
	Percentage of students enrolled in school during emer- gencies	
Equipschoolswith	Number of new schools built	
services and re- sources to support	Number of schools expanded and renovated	MoE, REBs reports,
a safe and healthy environment	Percentage of schools with access to an improved water source at all levels	EMIS
	Percentage of schools with access to improved gender-segregated latrines at all levels	
	Percentage of schools with access to improved menstrual hygiene management facilities	-
Equip school cluster education	r resource centres with teaching and learning materials, inclu	uding for special needs
Provide adequate W	ASH services in all schools, with special attention to emerg	ing regions
Equip schools with I	earning resources and support materials for children with sp	pecial needs
Train teachers in inc	clusive education on classroom management	
Strengthen life skills drug abuse education	, HIV/AIDS, sexual and reproductive health (SRH), gender, on	deworming and
Provide schools with	n a standard set of teaching and learning materials for emerge	gencies, including WASH
Familiarize relevant latrines	WASH stakeholders with the design and construction manu	al for water supply and
Implement a school	health and nutrition strategy	

Develop and impleme	ent a strategy to expand, reno	vate and build	I schools accord	ding to the s	tandard
Establish and strengt	hen extracurricular/co-curricul	ar clubs in all	schools		
Establish and strengt	hen functional learning centre	s in all school	S		
-	with the necessary equipmer			ool libraries	
	h the necessary resources to		-		
	mplement a code of conduct/a				nce in school
Revise and implemen	nt a gender strategy for the ed	ucation sector	r		
Strategy	Indicators (Baselines and targets as indicated in the Source table in Component 6 above)				urce
	Percentage of schools devoting and logical sectors are sectors as a sector sector sector sectors as a sector sector sector sector sector sectors as a sector sector sector sector sector sectors as a sector				
leadership and	Percentage of schools develop high-quality school improv		ementing a		REBs, ent reports
management	Percentage of teacher attend	lance rates (ti	imeontask)		0
-	Percentage of schools visi	ted by super	rvisors		
Increase female parti	cipation in school leadership				
Provide regular suppo	ort close to the school				
Deploy qualified supe	ervisors to clusters and second	dary schools ir	n accordance w	ith national	standards
Develop general guid	elines for school supervisors				
Develop technical gui	idelines (coaching and superv	rision tool)			
Award and dissemina	te school grants				
Provide awareness tr	aining on the correct use of th	e school gran	t		
Provide awareness tr	aining on the preparation of th	ne school strat	tegic plan		
Improve the effective	use of teachers' time by using	g different sup	port mechanisn	ns	
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targe	ts	Source
	Percentage of pre-primary schools meeting the mini- mum standard (Level 3)	5%	45.20	%	
	Percentage of primary and middle schools meeting the minimum standard (Level 3)	11%	45.20	Ио	
Develop and imple- ment an accelerated	Percentage of secondary schools meeting the mini- mum standard (Level 3)	11%	45.20	%	EMIS,
school transforma- tion strategy	Percentage of pre-primary schools meeting the mini- mum standard (Level 4)	0.01%	10.80	%	Inspection result
	Percentage of primary and middle schools meeting the minimum standard (Level 4)	0.01%	10.80	Ио	
	Percentage of secondary schools meeting the mini- mum standard (Level 4)	0 %	10.80	%	
Develop and impleme	ent an accelerated school tran	sformation str	ategy		
Equip schools with m	inimum learning resources				

Document and disseminate best practice in pre-school, primary, middle and secondary schools

Provide equipment and facilities to those who need special attention to accelerate school entry standards

Introduce and promote a special incentive package to upgrade schools to Level 3 and above

Provide capacity building training for education leaders

Conduct performance audits and take immediate corrective action



Programme 4 Access to general education, equity and internal efficiency

Goal

To improve equitable access and internal efficiency from pre-primary to secondary education, enabling all children and young people to participate in quality and inclusive education

Component 1: Pre-primary

Themain objectives for access, equity and internal efficiency in ESDP VI are to continuously improve the participation of all children and young people in education, focusing on four levels: bringing schools closer to communities and ensuring that all children can access pre-primary education as a preparation for schooling, and improving access to primary and middle school, and then participation in secondary education. This will require a continued focus on system expansion and quality development, as well as a rapid reduction in dropout and repetition rates to improve internal efficiency.

The strategy to reduce repetition and dropout recognizes that virtually all interventions designed to increase access and improve quality will also reduce wastage. Both in-school and outof-school factors will be addressed, including the use of continuous assessment, remedial teaching, information campaigns to counter negative parental attitudes, partly through radio and media, and the creation of strong, communitybased parent-teacher-student-associations (PTSAs). In addition, direct incentives will be used for the most vulnerable and poorest students, including financial assistance to offset the direct costs of schooling.

A school feeding programme will be implemented, prioritizing food insecure areas and gradually expanding the programme to all primary schools, ensuring that the initiative is sustainable. Making schools a safe and conducive environment for teaching and learning and improving the standard of schools also plays an important role in reducing dropout and repetition.

Priority will also be given to the needs of the most disadvantaged children. In doing so, existing inequalities in current education provision, relating to gender, disability (physical and mental), geographical location and family characteristics, will be reduced. In response to access, equity and internal efficiency, challenges were identified in the situation analysis and, as a result, six components were identified as priorities: pre-primary, primary, middle school, secondary education, the special support programme for the four emerging regions, and non-formal education for youth and adults.

Component 1 objective: Every child aged 5 to 6 has access to free, safe, quality and developmentally appropri- ate pre-primary education in order to be ready for primary education

Indicators	Baseline (2018/19, unless stated) T(F/M)	Targets (2024/25) T(F/M)	Source
GER in pre-primary education for 5-6 year olds	41.8(39.7/40.7)	74.1(73.2/73.6)	
GPI in pre-primary education	0.95	1	EMIS
GER for children with disabilities	1.3(1.2/1.5)	11.1(11.1/11)	EIVII3
GER in pre-primary education for refugee children	61.2 (64/58.6)	82.7(84/82)	

The government is committed to providing free and compulsory pre-primary education in Ethiopia. Pre-primary education covers children aged five to six years and has become one of the main priorities of the education sector. Exposure to quality learning in a healthy environment and good nutrition can improve student learning in the upper grades, reduce dropout and repetition rates and thus contribute to improving the efficiency of the system.

Pre-primary education will gradually establish a culture of learning from an early age and develop critical thinking skills later on. Therefore, expansion of opportunities by the government is highly necessary, especially for the most disadvantaged children. In most cases, pre-

Education Sector Development Programme VI

primary education will favour children from relatively affluent backgrounds in predominantly urban areas. It should also be noted that, where pre-primary is targeted, children can be given maximum support to move successfully into Grade 1.

By the end of the ESDP VI period, the education system is expected to achieve an average GER of 74.1% in pre-primary education for both boys and girls. A range of modalities will be implemented to achieve this target. In terms of infrastructure and teacher training, certified teachers will be deployed for a preprimary education programme. A well-defined standard will be established and operational by the start of ESDP VI. The standards for public pre-primary education will be applicable to all schools, regardless of ownership. A licence for non-governmental providers to run pre-primary education will depend on the achievement of these standards.

Achieving this goal will require the design of a special incentive strategy to stimulate nongovernmental participation. The expansion of pre-primary education will be coupled with policy dissemination events and strong government advocacy within communities to send their children to nearby schools offering pre-primary education. Additional motivation will be provided by school feeding programmes in schools, which are essential to ensure that they are ready to learn in school.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source			
Ensure that pre-pri- mary education is free, compulsory and accessible to all	GER for pre-primary (5-6 years)	41.8(39.7/40.7)	74.1(73.2/73.6)	EMIS			
	Percentage of pre-primary schools with school feed- ing programmes, by region	0	100%	EMIS			
children aged 5-6	Percentage of household expenditure on pre-prima- ry education	DNA	TBD	CSA			
Advocate for free a	nd compulsory pre-prima	ry education in a	all areas				
Establish and improve a formal structure to coordinate, supervise and professionally support pre-primary education /ECCE programmes at all levels							
Expand and improve 'O' classes from a one- to two-year programme							
Expand kindergarte	ens in an equitable manne	r					
Create satellite cer	tres to accommodate chil	dren living far fr	rom schools				
Provide preschools with gender- and age-appropriate materials, equipment, facilities (including WASH facilities) and safety measures							
Provide gender- and disability-sensitive materials and facilities to accommodate children from disadvantaged groups							
Expand and upgrad	le school feeding program	mes in pre-scho	ools				
Strengthen inclusive pre-primary teacher training programmes, in relevant mother tongues, with a focus on holistic child development							
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source			
Strengthen relation- ships between pre- schools and their communities	Parent/guardian and community engagement strategy in pre-schools de- veloped and implemented	0	Parent/community engagement strat- egy developed and implemented	Inspection report			
Develop a system that maximizes community involvement in pre-primary education							
Develop a strategy for parent/guardian and community engagement in pre-primary education through a participatory process							
Design and implement mechanisms to encourage the private sector to expand pre-primary education							
Link the safety-net programme to pre-primary school attendance							
Develop a pre-primary parent/guardian and community engagement strategy through a participatory process							
Develop and implement a community awareness campaign on the importance of early childhood education, sustainable support and engagement in pre-primary education							

Component 2: Primary

Component 2 objective: Student equitable access, participation and completion of primary education (Grades 1-6) will improve significantly

Indicators *All disaggregated by gender, region and disability	Baselin e T(F/M)	Targets T(F/M)	Source
NER Grades 1-6	100(95/105)	100(98/102)	
GER Grades 1-6	115(109/121)	107(104/110)	
GER SEN	11.0(9.7/12.3)	32.65(30/31)	
GPI 1-6	0.91	0.95	
Drop-out rate in Grade 1	25(25/25)	15(15/15)	EMIS
Drop-out rate 1-6	18(18/17)	12(12/11)	LINIO
Repetition rate 1-6	4(4/4)	1(1/1)	
Completion rate 6	82(79/86)	91(90/93)	
Percentage of Grade 1 students having completed at least one year of pre-primary education	NA	100%	

During the ESDP VI period, the GER in primary education (Grades 1-6) is expected to increase from 115.2% to 106.9% and the NER from 100.2% to 100%. These increases will be achieved by focusing on increasing enrolment in primary education (Grades 1-6) and improving the level of girls, so that the GPI in primary education will rise from 0.97 to 1.0.

In line with the new educational structure, there will be a reorganization of schools (1-4 to 1-6) and (1-8 to 1-6) throughout the country. In addition, opportunities for alternative modes of primary education will be crucial, especially in

pastoral and semi-pastoral areas. This approach will include the construction of new schools and the renovation of schools. ABE centres will be transformed into formal primary schools (1-6).

In order to achieve the SDGs and other national agendas, the MoE has designed a goal to ensure access to inclusive quality education for children and students with special educational needs. Targets have therefore been set for the participation rate of children with special educational needs in primary education. By the end of ESDP VI, the participation rate will increase from 11% to 32.6%.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source		
Ensure that primary ed- ucation is free, compul- sory and accessible to all children	GER, disaggregated by gen- der and region	115(109/121)	107(104/110)	EMIS		
	School mapping conducted for primary schools by wore- da/region	None	All prima- ry schools mapped by woreda/re- gion	MoE, REBs		
	Percentage of primary schools with school feeding programmes, by region	TBD	100%	SIP report		
	Percentage of household expenditure on primary education	TBD	TBD	CSA		
Conduct a comprehensive mapping of primary schools to determine physical infrastructure needs and build more schools if necessary						
Link the safety-net programme to student attendance						
Develop and implement a school feeding policy and strategy						
Provide school feeding in accordance with the policy and strategy						
Create a child-friendly school environment (WASH, playground, substance-free, improved school standards)						
Provide targeted scholarships and cash transfers for children from economically and socially disadvantaged families to complete their primary education

Develop a school-based system to identify students at risk of dropping out of school and provide them with comprehensive support to continue their education

with comprehensive support to continue their education						
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source		
Develop a system that maximizes parent and community participation in primary education	Percentage of primary schools with functioning PTSAs	TBD	100%	EMIS		
Strengthen PTSAs to ac	tively participate in school a	affairs				
Establish PTSAs at class	sroom level in all schools					
Develop and implement a n teachers and head teach	nechanism for effective and reg ners	ular communicatio	on between pare	ents,		
Strategy	Strategy Indicators Baseline Targets Source					
Provide alternative primary schooling	Review and update of the ABE strategy and modalities	0	Implemen- tation of updated ABE strategy			
modalities to enable out-of-school children who have dropped out	Number of out-of-school children (disaggregated by gender and region)	TBD	TBD	EMIS, Survey report		
before completing basic education	Number of children enrolled in ABE (disaggregated by gender and region)	TBD	TBD			
Design and implement an a building a database on d	ppropriate region-specific and ropouts and out-of-school ch	locally relevant mo nildren	echanism for mo	onitoring and		
Develop flexible inclusive e pastoral communities	ducation modalities for out-of-	school children in	rural and urban	areas and		
Redefine, where appropriat to increase enrolment	te, existing ABE through a critic	al review of experi	ences and impro	ove facilities		
Develop a standardized fra modalities of transfer to	mework for assessment and cer formal school	rtification of ABE a	nd other alterna	ative		
Strengthen partnership ar	nd coordination with private pro	oviders and civil s	ociety organisa	tions in ABE		
Introduce the use of IC	T/digital technologies as an	alternative mod	le of delivery			
Strategy	(Baselines and targets a	cators as indicated in the able)	previous	Source		
Establishment of support	GPI of primary school enro					
systems for disabled stu-	GPI of primary school com	pletion		EMIS		
dents, women and other children from disadvan-	GER of disabled children a	t primary schoo	l level			
taged backgrounds	GER by socio-economic sta	atus		CSA		
	es to encourage the enrolment support and tutoring, etc.).	of out-of-school c	hildren, especia	lly girls		
	dentify, monitor and improve gion. (In contexts where boys are d					
	nd guidelines for the coordination ngthen efforts to address the m					
	trategy for early identification a sto education for these chil		hildren with spe	cial needs,		
Maintain data on children w to inform policy and plar	rith disabilities down to the lowe nning	est administrative	unit level – Kebe	ele/village –		

Incorporate inclusive education practices and skills into teacher training programmes, including childcentred and gender-sensitive pedagogy

Adopt and introduce the Speed School accelerated learning classrooms, instructional methods and holistic teacher training model to cater for out-of-school primary school-age children in the mainstream primary school, thereby enhancing quality and relevance to achieve greater efficiency in internal and external education

Establish and implement a girls' education fund

Strengthen and expand inclusive education resource centres

Expand special needs education to cater for learners with autism and deaf-blindness, in addition to visual, physical, hearing and mental disabilities

Establish teams of trained and equipped specialists in each region to help schools and communities identify children with special educational needs

Implement community mobilization and awareness campaigns to encourage the enrolment of disadvantaged children

Design and implementan individual student tracking system that monitors the socio-economic, academic and health profile of children, enabling teachers to identify children at risk and intervene appropriately

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Ensure continuation of	Percentage of schools in emergency-prone areas with preparedness plans	0	100%		
education in emergencies	Percentage of schools pro- viding uninterrupted primary education in emergency-af- fected locations	DNA	100%	MoE, REBs	
Developastrategyandp	${\sf Develop} a {\sf strategy} {\sf and} {\sf preparedness} {\sf planto} {\sf ensure} {\sf continuity} {\sf ofeducation} {\sf in} {\sf an} {\sf emergency}$				
Provide schools in emerger continuation of educatio	ncy-affected areas with appropr n, including WASH	iate training and e	quipment to en	able the	
Establish a national coo	rdinating body to continue e	education in em	ergencies		
Create safe, child-friendly services can be provided	learning spaces where basic lea I during emergencies	rning, recreation,	psychosocial ar	nd health	
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
	Percentage of schools offer- ing counselling services	TBD	75%+		
Creating a child-friendly and supportive	Percentage of schools offer- ing basic health services and WASH facilities	TBD	75%+		
environment in all primary schools	Percentage of schools with a code of conduct	TBD	100%	EMIS, REBs	
	Percentage of schools with disability and gender- responsive infrastructure	TBD	100%		
	selling and psychosocial suppor for student health and impro			e screening,	
Providebasichealthand	nutritionservicesandlifeskill	sonHIV/AIDS,d	rugabuse, etc	inschools.	
	plans for new construction are <u>c</u> ties, and improve facilities in			mmodation	
Ensure the availability of	of basic and adequate schoo	l infrastructure	and WASH fa	cilities	
Conduct an assessment of how safe children feel in school, addressing physical and psychological risks, particularly for marginalized children					
	ed reporting and intervention sy personal problems and receiv			violence,	
Trainteachersandschooll celebrates diversity	eaders to create a positive and i	nclusiveschoolcu	Iltureandpract	icethat	

Enforce school codes of conduct with zero tolerance for any form of harassment, discrimination and violence in schools

Mainstream children's rights throughout the education system, and embed them in primary school teachers' curricula and classroom practice

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Expand basic education	Percentage of refugee children receiving primary education services	67.25%	82.7%		
for refugees and displaced populations	Percentage of teachers in refugee camps who have received in-service training	0	100%	EMIS,REBs	
Develop mechanisms a	nd strategy to address the ϵ	educational need	ls of refugees		
Provide in-service training for teachers in refugee camps					
Provide school-based infrastructure and teaching and learning materials in refugee camps and host communities					

Component 3: Middleschool

Component 3 objective: Students' equitable access, participation and completion of middle-level education (Grades 7 and 8) will improve significantly

Indicators *All to be disaggregated by gender, region and disability	Baseline T(F/M) (%)	Targets T(F/M) (%)	Source
NER Grades 7-8	97(93/101)	99(97/100)	
GER Grades 7-8	112(106/118)	105(102/108)	
GER SEN	10(9/11)	25(25/25)	
GPI Grades 7-8	0.94	1	EMIS
Drop-out rate Grades 7-8	12(12/12)	7(7/7)	EIVIIS
Repetition rate Grade 8	5(5/5)	1(1/1)	
Completion rate Grade 8	62(60/64)	76(75/77)	
Survival rate Grade 7	30(31/29)	60(60/60)	

A middle school is a new approach in Ethiopia. It is free and compulsory. During the ESDP VI period, the middle school GER (Grades 7 and 8) is expected to decrease from 111.9% to 105.3% and the NER to increase from 97.4% to 98.8%. This increase will be achieved by focusing on increasing enrolment in the middle schools (Grades 7 and 8). The middle school GPI will increase from 0.97 to 1.0.

School rearrangement will be effective and (1-6 to 1-8) nationwide. Further alternative middle school densities could be implemented by building new schools (7-8).

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	GER broken down by gender and region	112(106/118)	105(102/108)	
Ensure that middle	Percentage of household expenditure on middle school education	TBD	TBD	
education is free, compul- sory and accessible to all children	Percentage of middle schools with school feeding pro- grammes, by region	TBD	50% +	EMIS, CSA
	Percentage of middle schools with health services and WASH facilities	TBD	100%	
Encourage and enforce parents to send their children to school				

Improve school health, r	et programme to student atter nutrition and school feeding pr		niddle school	S
	duce repetition and dropout and			
Provide targeted scholarshi educational costs	ps and cash transfers to disadvant	aged families to o	cover additional	
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Develop a system that maximises parent and community involvement in middle school education	Percentage of middle schools with PTSAs	TBD	100%	EMIS, REBs
Strengthen PTSAs that i	nvolve parents from all backg	rounds		
Establish PTSAs at the c	lassroom level in all schools			
Develop and implement a m teachers and school lead	echanism for effective and regular ers	communication	between paren	ts,
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Ensuring that ICT/digital technologies are available	Percentage of middle schools meeting national standards for ICT in education	0	100%	REBs
at the middle school level	Percentage of middle school teachers trained in the use of digital technology	0	100%	report
Equipallmiddleschoolsw	ith relevant ICT teaching and lea	arning equipme	ntandinfrastr	ucture
Trainmiddleschoolteach	ersintheuseofdigitaltechnolog	yintheteachin	gandlearning	process
Strategy Indicators Baseline Targets				Source
Designing support sys- tems for students with disabilities, women and other disadvantaged	Middle school GPI	0.97	1	
	GER of students with disabilities at the middle-school level	10(9/11)	30(30/31)	EMIS
parents/guardians and children	GER by socioeconomic status at the middle-school level	TBD	TBD	CSA
Incorporate inclusive ed	ucation practices and skills int	o teacher train	ing programn	nes
Upgradeschoolfacilitiest	obemoregenderresponsivean	dtoincludechild	drenwithspec	alneeds
	ve programme to promote access, Iren from disadvantaged familio		d completion of	middle
Implement community mob marginalized children, in	ilization and awareness campaign cluding girls	s to encourage th	e enrolment of	
	ent tracking system that monitors eachers to identify children at ri			
	dentify, monitor and improve girls' n. (In contexts where boys are disa			
Review the special support	strategy in line with the global an	d national agend	la, declarations	andlaws
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Ensure continuation of education in emergencies	Percentage of middle schools in emergency-prone areas that continue to provide education during emergencies	TBD	100%	EMIS, REBs
	and the second sec	optionity of od	ucation in om	orgoncio
Develop a preparedness	strategy and plan to ensure c	continuity of ed		lei gencie.

Create safe, child-friendly learning spaces where basic learning, recreation, psychosocial and health services can be provided during emergencies				
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	Percentage of schools with counselling services	TBD	75%+	
Create a supportive and	Percent of schools with basic health services and WASH facilities	TBD	100%	EMIS, REBs
child-friendly environ- ment in all middle schools	Percent of schools with a code of conduct	TBD	100%	reports
	Percentage of schools with disability-friendly and gender-sensitive infrastructure	TBD	100%	
Provide in-school counse	elling and psychosocial suppor	t		
Provide basic health, nu	trition and life skills services ir	n schools		
	children's sense of safety at school cularly for marginalized popula		unt physical ar	d
	d intervention systems in schools, personal problems and receive a			nce,
Train teachers and school le diversity	eaders to create a positive and incl	usive school cult	ure that celebra	ates
Implement school codes of discrimination or school	conduct with zero tolerance for any violence	/ form of gender-	based violence	1
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Expanding basic edu- cation for refugees and	Numberofrefugeechildren receiving middle school education services	TBD	TBD	EMIS
displaced populations	Numberofteachersinrefugee camps receiving in-service training	TBD	TBD	EMIS
Develop a strategy to integrate refugees into the basic education system				
Provide in-service training for teachers in refugee camps				
Invest in school infrastructure and teaching and learning materials in refugee camps and host communities				

Component 4: Secondaryschool

Component 4 objective: Equitable access to and participation in secondary education will increase significantly as a prerequisite for building a skilled middle and higher-level workforce				
Indicators *All to be disaggregated by gender, region and disability	Baseline T(F/M) (%)	Targets T(F/M) (%)	Source	
NER Grades 9-12	25(25/26)	53(53/53)		
GER Grades 9-12	32(29.8/34.2)	56(55/57)		
GER SEN	2.8(2.4/3.2)	11.4(11.2/11.6)	EMIS	
GPI Grades 9-12	0.87	0.92		
Transition to Grade 9	76(74/77)	83(82/84)		

Quality secondary education is the basis for the economy's demand for middle and higher-level human resources. The dream of becoming a middle-income country can become true if there is an increase in secondary school enrolment and completion rates. The target is to raise the secondary NER and GER to 55.5% and 52.9% respectively. Emphasis is also placed on improving the access and completion of female students in secondary education. The GPI for

secondary education will increase from 0.94 to 1.00. However, this will require several tasks, including the construction of new secondary schools and the upgrading of existing schools (from 9-10 to 9-12 and from 11-12 to 9-12).

To improve access to secondary education, secondary schools that do not have standard classrooms will be upgraded to meet the standards set by the government. As more secondary education options become available, students who have recently completed secondary school will be allowed to re-enter formal or continuing education courses (evening and distance learning). Their re-enrolment will be encouraged through extensive community mobilization and outreach mechanisms.

For hard-to-reach children, particularly in pastoral and semi-pastoral areas, where secondary school provision remains low, boarding and hostel options will be offered. These measures will be complemented by the provision of scholarships for the purchase of educational materials and financial support for children at risk and from particularly disadvantaged backgrounds to ensure their access to secondary education. The enrolment rate for children with special educational needs is expected to increase to 0.92% by the end of ESDP VI.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	GERforsecondaryeducation	32(29.8/34.2)	56(55/57)	
Ensure free and acces-	Number of newly established secondary schools	0	TBD	REBs,
sible secondary educa- tion for all children	Number of secondary schools rehabilitated	TBD	TBD	EMIS, MoE
	Percentage of household expenditure on secondary education	TBD	TBD	
Introduce a policy of free	education at secondary level, wi	th a strategy to n	naintain school q	uality.
Design mechanisms to	reduce repetition and drop-c	out rates, espec	ially for girls	
	ols in areas where they do not exi ehensive school mapping	st and rehabilitat	e existing second	ary schools
	identify, monitor and improve gir tion. (In contexts where boys are			
Provide cash transfers to targeted households or disadvantaged parents/guardians to cover additional education costs				lditional
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Establish comprehen- sive and special sec- ondary schools for the	Establishment of a transparent and credible mechanism for identifying gifted and talented students	None	Mechanism for identifying gifted and tal- ented students developed and implemented	EMIS, REBs
gifted and talented	Number of specialized secondary schools/pro- grammes for gifted and talent- ed students established	TBD	12+	
Develop mechanisms f	or identifying gifted and taler	nted students		
Establish specialized se	econdary school programmes	for gifted and t	alented studen	ts
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Ensuring that ICT/dig- ital technologies are available in secondary education	Percentage of secondary schools meeting national ICT in education standards	0	100%	Inspection
Equip all schools with relevent laboratory, Internet acc	vant ICT teaching and learning eq cess, tablets)	uipment and infra	astructure (comp	uter
Incorporate ICT into te	eacher training curricula			

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	GPI of secondary school enrol- ment	0.87	0.92	
	GPI of secondary school completion	TBD	TBD	EMIS
Designing support systems for students	GER of children with disabili- ties at secondary school level	3(3/3)	12(12/12	
with disabilities, women and other disadvantaged families and needy	Percentage of female teachers in secondary education	TBD	TBD	CSA
children	Percentage of secondary schools with disability and gender	TBD	TBD	EMIS
	Percentage of secondary schools with disability- and gender-sensitive infrastructure	TBD	100%	LMIS
Implement a special strate school teachers	egy to attract female candidates a	ind increase the n	umber of female	secondary
Incorporate inclusive educed centred and gender-set	cation practices and skills into tea nsitive pedagogy	cher training pro	grammes, includi	ng child-
Upgrade school facilitie	es to accommodate women ar	nd children with	special needs	
Provide scholarships in	various forms to children at	risk, especially	girls	
	tudent tracking system that moni teachers to identify children at ris			
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Ensuring the contin- uation of education in emergencies	Percentage of secondary schools providing education during an emergency	TBD	100%	EMIS, REBs
Develop a preparednes	ss strategy and plan to ensure	e continuity of e	education in em	ergencies
Provide schools in emerge their education, includi	ncy-prone areas with training and ng WASH services	d equipment to en	able students to	continue
Create safe, child-friendly services can be provide	learning spaces where basic lear d in emergencies	ning, recreation,	psychosocial and	health
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Expanding secondary education for refugees	Percentage of refugee children receiving secondary education services	12.7	54.3	EMIC
and displaced popula- tion	Percentage of teachers in ref- ugee camps who have received in-service training	TBD	100%	EMIS
Develop a strategy for	incorporating refugees into the	he secondary e	ducation syster	n
Provide in-service trair	ning for teachers in refugee ca	amps		
Invest in school infrastructure and teaching and learning materials in refugee camps and host communities				

Component 5: Special support to pastoral and semi-pastoral areas

Component 5 objective: Students' equitable access, participation and completion of middle level education (Grades 7 and 8) will improve significantly

Indicators *All to be disaggregated by gender, region and disability	Baselin e T(F/M)	Target s T(F/M)	Source
GER by level (pre-primary, primary, middle, sec- ondary respectively)	13.4/95.8/45.6/21. 0	56/100/66.1/45.4	
NER by level (primary, middle, secondary respec- tively)	74.2/16.8/14.0	87.8/49.1/39.5	
SEN GER by level (pre-primary, primary and mid- dle, secondary respectively)	1.3/2.8/2.8	11.1/26.4/30/11.4	EMIS
GPI by level (primary, middle, secondary respec- tively)	0.91/0.79/0.87/0.7 5	1.00/0.91/0.92/0.9 0	
Drop-out rate by level (primary, middle school)	17/11	7/5	
Repetition rate by level (primary, middle school)	6/5	2/2	

Afar, Somali, Gambella and Benishangul-Gumuz, pastoralist areas in SNNP and Oromia have relatively low levels of development as compared to other regional states. According to ESDP V performance evaluation, regional variations in enrolment have been observed particularly among the above-mentioned regional states concerning access and participation. It should also be noted that, within these regions, though many indigenous groups have been benefited much more remains to be done in the coming years. However, students in these regions are still facing greater challenges due to the absence of water, frequent drought and natural disasters, amongst others. The special support programme for these regions therefore should consider three levels of capacity development (individual, organizational and the enabling environment) in a multi-sectorial approach. This approach is important in a way that we can solve the challenges mentioned above in an integrated manner from federal to regional levels. Therefore, considering the above challenges, the following strategies will be instrumental in the ESDP VI period.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	Organs established for the coordination and oversight of education in pastoral and semi-pastoral areas	TBD	Coordination bodies established	
Establishing an effective and sus-	Number of partnership forums established and made func- tional at federal and regional level	TBD	Partnership forums established and made functional at federal and regional level	
tainable system to advance education in pastoral and semi-pastoral areas	Number of research/studies undertaken by higher educa- tion institutions that contribute to the advancement of educa- tion in pastoral and semi-pas- toral areas	TBD	TBD	MoE, REBs, Survey report
	Preparation of a localized curriculum	None	Preparation and implementation of a localized curriculum	
	Level of satisfaction of key stakeholders with the revised curriculum	None	Very satisfactory	
	curriculum Level of satisfaction of key stakeholders with the revised	None	implementation of a localized curriculum Very satisfactory	pastoral

areas (building on the results of the previous special support programme)

Provide additional incentives for teachers working in pastoral and semi-pastoral areas

Conduct continuous needs assessments and research to identify the learning needs of communities as well as to establish child profiles and community mobility patterns

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Improving the capacity of schools in pastoral and semi-pastoral areas	Percentage of schools upgrad- ed in pastoral and semi-pasto- ral areas	TBD	TBD	
	Percentage of schools with WASH facilities	TBD	TBD	REBs, EMIS
	Percentage of ABE centres at- tached to and benefiting from cluster resource centres	TBD	100%	

Provide additional resources through school improvement grants in pastoral and semi-pastoral areas

Intensify extraordinary efforts to improve WASH facilities in pastoral and semi-pastoral areas, as a priority need for children and girls to come to and stay in school

Attach ABECs to cluster resource centres and strengthen the cluster through the provision of essential materials and professional development for head teachers, education staff, supervisors and teachers

Apply the multigrade classroom approach in situations where there are not too many pupils in each grade so that children are not deprived of learning opportunities due to class size by providing professional support to schools/ABECs and teachers/facilitators on a regular basis

Explore partnership opportunities with influential, traditional/cultural and religious leaders for the promotion of education in their respective regions and communities

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Develop alternative education modali- ties appropriate to pastoral commu- nities	GER of pastoral children at all school levels	TBD	TBD	
	Completion rate ofpastoral children at all school levels	TBD	TBD	FMIC
	Number of mobile schools established	TBD	TBD	EMIS
	Number of boarding schools/ hostels established	TBD	TBD	

Establish a flexible school calendar for pastoralists

Strengthen and expand boarding/hostel services where needed

Establish mobile pre-primary and primary schools in pastoral areas

Establish satellite schools/classrooms run by a neighbouring school in case children cannot travel long distances in rural communities

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Provide special support to communities in pastoral and semi-pastoral areas	Special support/incentive package designed and provided to indigenous and minority ethnic groups	None	Incentive package developed and im- plemented	REBs
Provide special academic and economic support to female pastoralist communities				

Design targeted interventions with a special support package for indigenous and minority ethnic groups to exercise their rights to education

Programme 5 Youth and adult non-formal education

Goal

To build a learning society linked to a lifelong learning opportunity that meets the diverse learning needs of young people and adults

Ethiopia today has a high level of illiteracy. This is becoming an obstacle to the achievement of the SDGs and the country's dream of becoming a middle-income country by 2025. Improving the adult literacy rate will also support other development goals. Children whose parents are literate stay in school longer, and each additional year of education for mothers is also associated with a significant drop in infant mortality and better child health.

Because of the diverse demands of youth and adults, the National Adult Education Strategy was revised in 2020 to integrate various ANFE programmes into one document. ANFE programmes, in general, are designed for people between the ages of 15 and 60. They provide literacy and numeracy skills in the mother tongue, combined with practical knowledge and skills, for example in family health, agriculture, hygiene and other practical and vocational skills.

Continuing education programmes and other alternative means of education are also included in this sector. ANFE programmes are designed to use indigenous knowledge. The implementation of non-formal adult education programmes requires the intervention of various government and non-government service providers in multiple contexts.

The Welfare Monitoring Survey Report of the Central Statistical Agency estimated that there were about 21,047,152 (46.21%) million illiterate youth and adults aged 15-60 years in 2017. Of these, 57.8% (13,758,043) are women and the rest are men. During the ESDP V period, only 4.4 million youth and adults graduated from the two-year IFAE programme. There remains a target

group of 17 million illiterate youth and adults to be enrolled and made literate during ESDP VI.

The following are some of the main challenges identified during the review of the ESDP V implementation period. The ineffective practice of the National and Regional Adult Education Council which has led to continued fragmentation of adult and non-formal education provision; poor performance of the IFAE and post-IFAE programmes: low level of women's participation in adult and non-formal education programmes; lack of access to and ownership of continuing education programmes (evening and distance learning) at federal and regional levels; lack of access to alternative education opportunities for youth and adult learners; limited capacity of adult and non-formal education facilitators; very limited expansion of standardized Community Learning Centres (CLCs); and lack of monitoring, evaluation and reporting skills at all levels. To address the challenges identified above, six components are identified for the youth, adult, and non-formal education sub-sector to be implemented under ESDP VI. These components are: expansion of youth and adult education and training programmes in all regions; improvement of women's participation in adult and non-formal education programmes; expansion of continuing education programmes (evening and distance) in all regions; expansion of short-term nonformal vocational training for youth and adults; improved access to alternative basic education programmes for over-aged out-of-school children; and institutionalization of adult and non-formal education programmes at all levels.

Component 1: Youth and adult skills education and training

Component 1 objective : Youth and adult learning needs will be met through equitable access to appropriate learning and skills programmes through well organized and planned youth and adult skills education programmes

Indicator s	Baseline	Targets	Source
Percentage of youth and adults over 15 years of age who graduated from a youth and adult skills training programme	4,438,051 (% TBD)	10,294,955(70 %)	
Percentage of youth and adults who completed a youth and adult skills programme who transferred to other programmes	725,438 (% TBD)	5,147,478 (50%)	EMIS, CSA
Percentage of youth and adults aged 15 and over who are literate	38.9%	70%	

During the ESDP VI period, the adult and non-formal education sector will focus on expanding equitable access to adult and nonformal education programmes in all regions in order to improve the quality of life and increase literacy levels after eradicating illiteracy in the country. The adult non-formal education (ANFE) sector of the MoE will work closely with the regions and support the National and Regional Adult Education Council to plan and implement youth and adult education and other alternative education programmes for youth and adult learners. Adequate centres for life skills programmes should be established and organized close to community villages to improve access for adult learners. Primary schools in the country can serve as community learning centres. Learner-centred programmes will be used, closely linked to the lives of young people and adults, their livelihoods and the needs of the wider community. Adult skills in agriculture, health, food, etc. are to be improved. Adults are also expected to use technology to enhance the growth and development of the country.

During the ESDP VI period, a needs assessment will be carried out in all regions to review existing adult education programmes. These assessments will enable us to develop new education and training programmes for youth and adults, as well as continuing education programmes, guidelines, etc. Large-scale community mobilization will be implemented at all levels using print and electronic media. Various youth and adult education programmes will be designed in collaboration with all stakeholders.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Provision of vocational training programmes for youth and adults in all regions	Number of new youth and adult skills training centres established	0	0		
	Number of youth and adult skills training centres trans- formed into Community Learn- ing Centres (CLCs)	0	0		
	Multisectoral coordination mechanisms created and made functional for the youth and adult education pro- gramme	None	Multisectoral co- ordination mecha- nisms created and made functional	MoE, EMIS, REBs, Survey report	
	Youth and adult skills educa- tion programme data integrat- ed into EMIS	None	Data captured by EMIS		
	Impact assessment report on youth and adult skills educa- tion produced and dissemi- nated	None	Production and dissemination of impact assessment report		
Carry out a needs and impact assessment of previous IFAE programmes					
Review and adapt the existing adult and non-formal education strategy					
Develop a new curriculum to meet the skills needs of young people and adults					
Develop a new gui	ideline for youth and adult ski	ills programme	es		

Develop MLCs for youth and adult skills education programmes

Create new youth and adult skills education learning centres

Equip Learning Centres (LCs) and Community Learning Centres (CLCs) with teaching and learning materials

Transform learning centres into community learning centres (based on the standard)

Establish new CLCs in primary schools offering youth and adult skills education programme.

Adapt EMIS to capture youth and adult education programme data

Develop and strengthen multisectoral coordination mechanisms, including civil society and NGOs/CSOs.

Conduct a needs assessment of adults with disabilities and adapt the curriculum to them

Raise awareness and mobilize communities for skills training programmes

Provide refreshment training for facilitators working in CLCs

Develop a transfer guideline for youth and adult skills training graduates to other education and training programmes

Develop various reading materials for neo-literates

Conduct a sustainable media campaign on the youth and adult skills training programme

Component 2: Women's participation in youth and adult skills education programmes

Component 2 objective: Women's participation in youth and adult skills education programmes will increase significantly

Indicator s	Baselin e	Targets	Source
Percentage of increased female graduates in youth and adult skills education programmes	45%	55%	
Percentage share of females enrolled in the evening pro- gramme	54%	70%	EMIS
Percentage share of females enrolled in the distance edu- cation programme	TBD	50%	EIVIIS
Percentage of females certified in short-term vocational skills training programmes	TBD	60%	

Illiteracy is one of the major problems in Ethiopia. The illiteracy rate for women remains high compared to that of men. The government's commitment to reducing infant and child mortality, improving reproductive health and family planning, and the resulting decline in fertility will be accelerated by increasing female literacy level. It should be noted that the benefits of educating mothers are multiple. The positive effects of women's literacy on income, gender equality and improved status within the family are well known. Literate mothers are better able to understand health education and child development materials that have a direct impact on their children's lives. For a variety of reasons, a large number of women are not in school. Alternative means of education should be designed to enable them to continue their education, either in the evenings or at a distance.

It is estimated that there are about 21,047,152 (46.21%) million illiterate youth and adults aged 15-60 in Ethiopia. Of these, 57.8% (13,758,043) are females. Much more needs to be done during the ESDP VI period to reduce illiteracy and empower women in the coming years. Therefore, during the ESDP VI period, more women will be encouraged to participate in non-formal education programmes for youth and adults.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Working closely with women's de- velopment groups to increase	Number of women participat- ing in adult and non-formal education programmes linked to women's development groups	None	TBD	MoE, REBs
women's participa- tion in adult and non-formal educa- tion programmes	Number of women's develop- ment groups supporting adult and non-formal education programmes	None	TBD	REDS
Update existing se	election criteria for female faci	litators		
Strengthen links w	vith women's development gro	oups to increas	se women's enrolme	nt
Strengthen the ca	pacity of women's developme	nt groups		
Adapt existing cur	riculum for young women and	l adult learners	S	
Recognize and rewar programmes	d women's development groups tl	hat support adul	t and non-formal educa	ation
Link adult and nor	n-formal education programm	es to the produ	uctive safety net pro	gramme
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
E	Percentage of women enrolled in evening programmes	TBD	TBD	
Expand access to continuing edu- cation for female learners	Percentage of women enrolled in distance learning programmes	TBD	TBD	EMIS
	Percentage of women certified in skills training programmes	TBD	TBD	
Encourage private sector participation in the management of continuing education				
Encourage the private and other sectors to offer scholarships to women				
Reward and recognize the most successful organizations working to improve women's participation in continuing education				

Component 3: Continuing education programmes (evening and distance learning)

Component 3 objective: Access to continuing education (evening and distance learning) will be improved for out-of-school youth and adults

Indicator s	Baselin e	Targets	Source
Number of youth and adults enrolled in evening programmes	188,482	TBD	
Number of youth and adults enrolled in distance learning programmes	DNA	TBD	
Number of youth and adults enrolled in e- learning programmes	DNA	TBD	EMIS, REBs
Number of schools offering evening programmes	DNA	11,550	
Number of schools offering distance learning programmes	33	TBD	

Improving equitable access to education is central to development. Lack of education is part of the definition of poverty. In other words, access to education is essential for long-term improvements in productivity, for reducing intergenerational cycles of poverty, for empowering women and for reducing inequality. During the implementation of ESDP V, it was planned to pilot continuing education (distance and evening programmes) in emerging regions. No significant achievements were observed in this area. However, guidelines for both programmes have been developed by the Ministry of Education and disseminated to the regions. In view of this situation, it is now proposed that during ESDP VI, Education Sector Developm ent Program me VI an in-service training programme be designed and implemented in all regions. The private sectors are strongly encouraged to participate.

This programme will be carefully monitored and evaluated to ensure its quality. Former IFAE and

post-IFAE graduates will be consulted on their transfer to further training programmes. Young people and adults who are not in school are also encouraged to join the continuing education programmes.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Expanding access to the evening programme for young people and adults	Development of a comprehensive guideline for evening programmes	None	Evening programme guideline published and implemented	MoE, REBs	
Develop a strategy/guideline for evening programmes that are inclusive and accessible to all youth and adults					
Encourage schools t	o offer evening programme	S			
Review payment/ind	centive guidelines for teache	ers, support sta	aff and school manag	gement	
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Increase access to	Revision of guidelines for distance education	None	Distance education guidelines and stan- dards published and implemented	MoE,	
distance learning for young people and adults	Standard for distance education established	None	Standard developed	REBs, EMIS reports	
	Distance education data captured by EMIS	None	Distance education data captured by EMIS		
Revise distance edu	cation guidelines to be inclu	sive and acces	sible to all youth an	d adults	
Encourage private s	ector participation in distan	ce education p	rovision		
Establish a standard	I for the provision of distand	ce education			
Adapt EMIS to captu	ure data on distance educat	ion			
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
	Availability of standards and guidelines for youth and adult e-learning	None	Guidelines and stan- dards developed and fully implemented	MoE, REBs	
Introducing e-learning for young people and adults	Number of institutions offering accredited e-learning programmes	None	TBD	MoE,	
	Number of youth and adults enrolled in e-learning programmes	None	TBD	REBs	
Encourage the private sector to provide e-learning services					
Develop standards and guidelines for e-learning					
Harmonize the yout	h and adult skills curriculum	n with e-learnin	ng		

Component 4: Short-term non-formal vocational skills training for youth and adults

Component 4 objective: Short-term non-formal vocational training will be available for youth and adults					
Indicator Baselin Targets Source s e					
Percentage of youth and adults with diplomas and certificates from vocational skills training programmes	DNA	35%	EMIS, REBs		

Education Sector Development Programme VI

In this section, young people and adults will be provided with non-formal training in short-term skills (vocational, digital, financial and life skills). To achieve this, all primary schools in the country will be transformed into community learning centres so that learners be able to access a variety of short-term vocational and life skills training. The strategies and activities in this section are presented in the following table.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source		
Increasing access to	Percentage of youth and adults enrolled in different short-term vocational skills training programmes	0	TBD			
short-term non-formal vocational skills training for young	Percentage of disabled youth and adults trained in vocational skills	0	TBD	EMIS, REBs		
people and adults	Number of vocational skills trainers trained as part of a capacity development pro- gramme	0	TBD			
Develop a strategy a	nd implementation guidelines	for short-term	non-formal vocation	al training		
Design and impleme	ent a needs-based short-ter	m vocational t	raining programme			
Link youth and adul	t vocational training to the ⁻	TVET institution	nal standards			
Develop and implen	nent an accreditation and ce	ertification syst	em			
Strengthen the capa	acity of trainers in vocationa	l skills training	J			
Provide appropriate	training for disabled youth	and adults				
Adapt EMIS to capto	ure data on short-term voca	tional skills tra	ining programmes			
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source		
Expand Community Learning CentresNumber of CLCs offering vocational skills trainingTBDTBDREBsschools in all dis- tricts/woredasprogrammesTBDTBDREBs						
Establish and equip new CLCs						
Strengthen existing CLCs						
Link CLCs to micro	Link CLCs to micro and small-scale enterprises					
Evaluate existing CLCs according to established standards						

Component 5: Alternative basic education (ABE) for out-of-school children

Component 5 objective: Over-aged out-of-school children will have access to continued education in alternative basic education (ABE) centres, including in upgraded ABE programmes, equivalent to formal schooling

Indicator s	Baselin e	Targets	Source
Number of children enrolled in alternative basic education (ABE) programmes who are over-aged	210,000	All over-aged children (TBD)	
Number of alternative basic education (ABE) centres for older children	640	640	EMIS,
Number of improved ABE centres for over-aged children	DNA	TBD	REBs
Assessment of the effectiveness and impact of the ABE programme and action taken where appropriate	None	Impact assessment report produced	

Education Sector Development Programme VI

Alternative Basic Education (ABE) stems from the Ethiopian government's effort to provide better access to quality primary education for out-ofschool and hard-to-reach children, particularly in pastoral and agropastoral communities. There are different types of ABE programmes. An ABE programme is initially aimed at older children who have not had the opportunity to attend school at an appropriate age. It should also be noted that ABE offers a flexible learning environment in terms of adapting learning schedules to local conditions and the needs of learners and parents, in order to meet the learning needs of pastoral and agropastoral communities in Ethiopia. The modalities, in general, are different from those of the formal school. The detailed strategies and activities that will be implemented during ESDP VI are listed in the following table.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Creating access to	A study on out-of-school youth	None	Study report pro- duced and shared	
alternative basic education (ABE) in urban and rural ar- eas for out-of-school	Availability of the revised ABE curriculum framework and manuals	Existing	Introduction of revised framework and manuals	MoE,
children	Number of children enrolled in the ABE programme	TBD	TBD	REBs
Upgrading of existing ABE centres to for- mal schooling	Number of upgraded ABE programmes	TBD	TBD	
Conductastudyonou	t-of-school youth to generate e	vidence for non-	-formal education prog	ramming
Create/expand alter	rnative basic education (ABE	E) programmes	5	
Equip ABE centres v	with appropriate materials a	nd facilitators		
Revise/updatetheex	xistingABEprogrammeframe	ework in line wit	h the new curriculum	reform
Conduct an impact	study on ABE effectiveness			
Link ABE centres to	cluster resource centres			
UpgradeandequipA	BEcentres with appropriate te	eaching and lea	rning facilities and ma	iterials
Encourage and stre	ngthen ABE centre manager	nent committe	es	
Provide for in-servio	ce training for ABE facilitator	rs to improve t	heir skills	
Encourage commun	ity participation in ABE prog	grammes		

Component 6: Organizational structure for ANFE at all levels

Component 6 objective: Youth and adult education programmes are managed, coordinated and delivered through an efficient and effective organizational structure at all levels

Indicator s	Baselin e	Targets	Source
Implementation of a legislative framework for youth and adult education	1	1	
Number of strong and effective top-down structural arrangements available (from federal to local level)	1	13+	MoE, REBs
Number of federal and regional adult education councils working in an integrated way	1	13+	

An organizational structure describes how certain activities are directed to achieve the objectives of a given organization. These activities may include rules, roles and responsibilities. The organizational structure also determines how information flows between the different levels of the sector. Having an organizational structure in place allows the sector to remain effective and focused. Until now, there has been no clear organizational structure for adult and non-formal education in Ethiopia. Although it was planned during the ESDP V period, no significant realization has been observed. There is therefore an urgent need to establish a clear structure for adult and non-formal education at the federal and regional levels, in order to make progress in achieving the goals.

Development Programme VI

The establishment of a strong and effective ANFE structure can help to improve efficiency and bring clarity to everyone at all levels. And each

department of ANFE can also be more productive, as roles and responsibilities are assigned to the specific department.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Create a strong and effective organiza- tional structure for non-formal youth	Number of strong and effec- tive top-down structural ar- rangements available (from federal to grassroots level)	None	Strong organiza- tional structure for youth and adult non-formal educa- tion in place at all levels	MoE, REBs	
and adult education at all levels	Number of youth and adult education councils/boards established at federal, re- gional and woreda levels	None	13 +		
Develop and execut	e a legislative framework fo	r youth and ac	lult non-formal educ	ation	
Establish and imple	ment the ANFE sector at fed	leral, regional	and woreda levels		
Establish and strengt	nen youth and adult education	councils at feder	al, regional and wored	a levels	
Establish a system fo	rthe collection, analysis and s	sharingofreleva	ant and timely data or	ANFE	
Ensure that youth and infrastructure, equip	adulteducation institutions/orga oment and materials	anizations have c	ualified staff, adequate	5	
Strategy	Indicators	Indicators Baseline Targets			
Building the capacity	Number of training work- shops, conferences, orga- nized during the year	TBD	TBD		
of youth and adult education staff at all levels	Number of staff who received training	TBD	TBD	MoE, REBs	
	Number of research studies conducted and disseminated	None	TBD		
Organize continuing	professional development of	courses and wo	orkshops at different	: levels	
	various fields such as curri priate educational technologies,				
Organize conferences, and adult education	workshops, symposia, lectures	and seminars or	topical issues related t	o youth	



Programme 6 Use of digital technology for the education sector

Goal

To build an effective and efficient education system through the use of digital technology that transforms education management, the teaching and learning process, assessment and examinations, school inspection, teacher licensing and education datamanagement

Traditionally, education has been centred on sources such as schools, teachers and print media. Learners accessed information sources by enrolling in schools, teachers and libraries. Before the digital age, information was not accessible to the majority of the school community, and even those who had access could not obtain current information about today's context. Modern society wants to know information as it happens and when it happens, and the world is moving from an information society to a knowledge society. Education is therefore given the highest priority and brainpower becomes an organization's most valuable asset. Education is a public good for social, political and economic transformation and therefore graduates must be equipped with the skills, knowledge and abilities needed to use and produce digital technology. To this end, efforts have been made to equip secondary schools with digital technology.

However, these efforts are not effective, both in terms of access and use, resulting in the education system producing graduates who have never been exposed to computers or who have limited knowledge of digital technology. When these graduates are assigned toteaching positions, they lack the knowledge and skills to use technology for educational purposes. Technological and educational reforms must be carried out with these elements in mind, thus creating virtually accessible knowledge with a focus on the student. Virtual access is achieved through the Internet/Intranets. Techniques such as e-mail, web-based notices, discussion forums and video conferencing allow the student to access information without visiting the physical location of the delivery. A typical interactive e-learning system has these features and thus demonstrates the paradigm shift. Therefore, in the ESDP VI, the education system is progressively implementing and using digital technology for assessment and examinations; an online education and training programme for teachers and school management; data acquisition, processing and management in the education sector; and digitally strong schools.

Education plays a major role in the development of a country. It is a public good for social, political and economic transformation. Therefore, in the digital age, students must be equipped with the digital knowledge and skills to contribute to the development of their country. Therefore, the use of technology in schools is becoming common in different countries.

Regarding the expansion of technology in our education system, radio and television broadcasts have been used in primary and secondary schools respectively. Lack of interactivity is one of the main disadvantages of television broadcasts. Interactive radio programmes in sign language and English have been produced and broadcast with digital content for television programmes. However, there has been a lack of access to content for special needs, pastoralists and out-of-school children. Although 78.7% of secondary schools have computer labs, about 23% of computers are not functional and only 21.5% of all secondary schools have access to the Internet¹. With regard to human capacity training in digital skills, little effort has been made to train teachers, headmasters, instructors and supervisors.

To fill these gaps and create an education system that produces productive and creative students who are sufficiently competent in the global market, ESDP VI foresees a paradigm shift to transform the education system through the effective and efficient use of digital technology. To achieve this, four sub-components are designed: ICT infrastructure for effective teaching and learning, enhancing the capacity to use digital technology through institutional capacity building, digital content development and digital learning for inclusive access to education.

Therefore, by implementing the activities listed in each sub-component, digital technology will be used for assessment and examinations, the education and training programme for teachers and head teachers, data acquisition, processing and management in the education sector, and the gradual creation of digitally strong schools.

¹ Education sector annual abstract 2011E.C (2018/19G.C).

In addition, digital content in different formats accessible on different digital devices will be developed and digital learning mechanisms will be designed and implemented for students with special needs, students in pastoral areas and out-of-school children.

Component 1: Use of digital technology for assessment and examination

Component 1 objective: Students at all levels of secondary education will use digital technology for assessment and examination

Indicator s	Baselin e	Targets	Source
tage of secondary school students benefiting e use of digital technology for assessment and a- tion	NA	100%	MoE report

The use of technology-based assessment and examination approaches and related infrastructure is now essential at all levels of academia. Computer labs and the necessary ICT are becoming an economic and staffing resource barrier for all educational institutions. Efforts to provide more efficient solutions will therefore have a concrete impact on education.

As well as supporting learning in all subject areas, the use of digital technology for assessment and examination can help reduce the time, resources, and disruption to learning required to administer paper-based assessments. Conducting assessments using digital technology can also provide a more comprehensive and nuanced picture of students' needs.

Sub-component 1: Establishment of an online learning outcomes assessment platform

Online education is used as a platform to deliver educational content and facilitate interaction between instructor and student over a computer network. Technological developments have the potential to reinvigorate learning outcomes assessment (LOA) efforts for both traditional and online education. Although LOA efforts have grown considerably over the past decade, most institutions have used assessment results simply to satisfy accreditation pressures, unfortunately, rather than using them to improve student learning.

Yet assessment of learning outcomes promises that, through continuous improvement of programmes and teaching, the learning outcomes of all students should increase. In previous education sector development strategies, the assessment of learning outcomes online has not yet received much attention. Thus, in this strategic development plan, the use of an online assessment of learning outcomes platform will be implemented throughout primary and secondary education.

Sub-component 2: Creating an online national examination platform

An online examination system is a web-based examination system where examinations are given online, either via the internet or intranet using a computer system. The main objective of this online examination system is to effectively assess the student thoroughly through an automated system that not only reduces the time required but also obtains fast and accurate results.

Nowadays, the online examination system is considered a growing examination method because of its accuracy and speed. It also requires less manpower to administer the exam. Many organisations are now managing their exams using an online exam system, as this reduces the time spent by students on the exam. Organizations can also easily track the progress of the student they are examining. Therefore, the result is calculated in less time. This also minimizes or reduces the need for paperwork.

Under ESDP VI, the creation of a national online examination platform is therefore one of the main areas of intervention to administer assessments and examinations effectively and efficiently, without corruption and cheating. Education Sector Development Programme VI

Sub-component 1: Creation of	an online learning outcomes a	ssessment p	latform	
Objective: To	o create an online learning outo platform	omes asses	sment	
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Create an online learning outcomes assessment platform	Percentage of students using an online learning outcomes assessment platform	0	100%	MoE report
Establish and communicate clear criteria for assessing learning outcomes for success	Percentage of schools imple- menting criteria for online learning outcomes assessment	0	100%	Survey
Formulate a comprehensive	framework for assessing e-lea	arning outco	omes	
Raise awareness and provide gui framework	dance on the newly developed e-I	earning outco	omes assessm	nent
Develop a national performa	nce monitoring and evaluatio	n system		
Review and update the criteria for accountability and corrective	or assessing e-learning outcomes, action	, including cla	rification of	
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Design formative and summa- tive assessments that can be used during the online teach- ing and learning process	Percentage of subjects with types of formative and sum- mative assessment of online learning outcomesthrough digital technology	0	100%	MoE report
Create opportunities for students to self-assess or ask questions, based on criteria	Percentage of students using self-assessment quizzes/crite- ria-based assessment	0	100%	MoE report and survey
Develop self-checking quizze	es as a formative assessment	to check stu	udent learni	ng
Develop formative and sumr	native assessment types for o	online learni	ng outcome	S
Examine and determine whe	ther or not teaching strategie	s need to b	e modified	
Review and update the asses	ssment of online learning out	comes base	d on feedba	ck
Provide capacity-building trainin assessments	g on digital technology, particular	ly on online le	arning outco	mes
Develop and provide self-che	ecking quizzes to verify stude	nt learning		
Review and update the conte	ent of the self-checking quest	ions provide	ed by e-lear	ning
Ensure the implementation of	of the assessment system in a	all schools		
Sub-component 2: Creation of	an online examination platform	۱		
Objective: To	provide online national examination technology	ation throug	h digital	
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Creation of an online national examination platform	Percentage of examinations conducted using digital tech- nology	0	100%	
Establishment and communi-	Percentage of schools setting up a national online examina- tion platform	0	100%	MoE report
cation of a clear national online examination platform	Percentage of teachers, head teachers and education experts trained in the national online examination platform	0	100%	
Develop a national online ex	amination platform			
Raise awareness and orient stud	dents on the newly developed na	tionalonline	examination	platform
Conduct an evaluation/researc	h on the implementation of the na	ational online	examination	platform
Revise and update the national or recommendations	nline examination platform accor	ding to the re	search results	sand

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Enhancing the provision of	Percentage of subjects pre- pared and presented using digital technology	0	100%	Mo E roport
national examinations through digital technology	Percentage of students ben- efiting from online national examinations	0	100%	MoE report
Equip schools and educational i	nstitutions with digital equipmen	it to conduct i	national exan	ninations
Provide standardized nationa	al examinations			
Develop and administer nati	onal and regional examination	ns through a	digital techn	ology
Conduct an evaluation/research	into the whole process and organi	ization of nati	onal online ex	aminations
Review and improve the national recommendations	online examination process and c	organization b	based on resea	arch

Component 2: Digital technology for online training for teachers and school leaders

Component 2 objective: Implement digital technology for e-learning to enhance the implementation capacity of teachers and leaders to improve the quality of educational services

Indicator s	Baselin e	Targets	Source
Development and implementation of digital content for online courses for teachers and leaders.	0	Digital content developed	MoE report
Number of school and college leaders and teachers li- censed or relicensed online	0	508,168	MoE report

Teacher competence and professionalism play an important role in the successful learning of students. Educational institutions shape a person's orientation towards social action and attempt to overcome the constraints of inequality, poverty and social structure. As Ethiopia is a developing nation, it may be relevant for it to understand the education system.

The current teacher training system has not been ableto produce graduates who have the necessary skills to become professional educators. Many teachers still lack basic skills, such as mastery of teaching materials. Therefore, to fill the skills and knowledge gap, different modalities need to be established. During this planning period, teacher training, short- and long-term training modalities, as well as the licensing process, will be provided through digital technology.

Improving the capacity of teachers and leaders and upgrading professional qualifications will contribute to improved learning outcomes for students. One way to achieve this is through technology-based online education and training for school leaders and teachers, revitalization of CPD content and implementation of licensing and relicensing, which are key strategies.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Improving the use of technolo- gy and providing online training for pre-service and in-service	Digital content developed and pre-service teachers	0	Digital content develope d	MoE report
teachers	Number of in-service teachers trained using online courses	0	TBD	
Develop strategies and training manuals on the process and approach of technology-based management at school level				
Build teachers' capacity to tr	ansform learning through tec	hnology		
Provide ICT-based training to pre teaching and learning process	e-service and in-service teachers o s	on how to inte	grate technol	ogy into the
Provide opportunities for teacher offer in-service short courses	rs to attend ICT training in teache within one to three months	r training coll	eges or unive	rsities that

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Establish digitally supported CPD for teachers and head	Number of modalities developed to support the implementation of CPD with online technology	Not applicable (NA)	Digital content developed for the CPD course	MoE report,
teachers	Percentage of in-service teach- ers benefiting from the online CPD programme	0	100%	Survey
Connect CPD training to and	from the teacher's work with	students in	the classro	om
Provide ongoing and intensiv	e peer and school leader sup	port for CPE) at school l	evel
Integrate CPD outcomes into t	hewiderframeworkofteacher	careerregula	ationsandin	centives
for in-service teachers, focusing and student learning	n that supports the provision of sl on subject content, curriculum de	evelopment, p	edagogies, a	ssessment
	rorks' consisting of teacher college rs with the resources to engage			er-
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Supporting the use of e-learn- ing for school leaders	Development of digital content for school leaders	NA	Content develope d	Report and Survey
	Percentage of head teachers trained using online courses	NA	100%	Survey
Develop strategies and training r teacher approach	nanuals on technology-based mai	nagement pro	ocesses and th	ne head
Developandimplement digital c	ontentforpre-service and in-ser	viceteachers	andprincipa	lsatalllevels
Develop and implement digit	al content for school leaders	at all levels		
Provide incentives and a mot	tivating environment for scho	ol leaders		
Support ICT-based, ethical a	nd accountable data administ	ration proce	ess	
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Improving the use of tech-	Numberofhead teachers and teachers licensed online	0	483,966	
nology that strengthens the accreditation and certification system for teachers and school	Number of head teachers and teachers relicensed online	0	20,952	EMIS, Inspection report
leaders	Number of CTE teachers licensed online	0	3,250	report
Review the framework and guid Education Policy	elinesforlicensingandrenewalo	flicencesinli	newiththeIC	Tin
Implement a functioning dig	ital licensing system for schoo	ol leaders ar	nd teachers	
Develop digital assessment of	juidelines for licensing and re	licensing		
Carry out licensing and relice	ensing for teachers and leade	rs		

Component 3: Use of data acquisition, processing and management technologies in the education sector

Component 3 objective: The educatio efficiency and quality in service management systems with appropriat woreda and school levels	delivery by c	leveloping and implementing e	ffective
Indicator	Baselin	Target	Source
S	е	S Disitel technology, mode	
System developed and implemented to use digital technology in data acquisition, pro- cessing and management	None	Digital technology made function- al in four identified areas (school information; data on pupils' daily schooling; school inspection system; and processing, dissemination and management of education statistics)	MoE, REBs

Education Sector Development Programme VI

Setting clear priorities and high standards, collecting reliable performance data to monitor system and student progress, and using data to foster accountability are consistent features of the world's best-performing education systems. The ultimate goal of evidence-based policymaking in the education sector is to fuel progress towards three outcomes: improved student learning, greater equity and stronger accountability relationships between policymakers, school administrators, teachers, parents and students. Improving the quality of decision-making and strengthening the mechanisms available to monitor progress and motivate responsiveness are two ways in which the use of data can lead to these desired outcomes.

Different methodologies by which technology can be used as an instrument to effectively deliver education services, develop skills, and ensure accountability in the education sector. During the plan period, an IT-based database will be set up compiling all information concerning education atall levels, so that everyone can use it easily. All this information needs to be kept up to date.

The MoE and regional education bureaus (REBs) use education data for policy design, strategic planning, and decision-making. The MoE and REBs diagnose the strengths and weaknesses of the system, measure and ensure equity within the system, monitor the distribution of resources, and hold the system accountable for progress against defined standards and targets.

RECs and WEOs use the data to allocate resources, identify and support low-performing schools, monitor the implementation of education programmes and make comparisons between schools. They will be able to plan and implement action plans and allocate funding according to local needs. School leaders use the data to monitor progress towards system goals, formulate school action plans, guide school-level practice, and evaluate and support teachers and staff.

The overall objective is to develop and install the ICT infrastructure and technical support needed to implement and maintain modern pedagogy and effective educational planning and management. It aims to maximize the effective use of digital technology to improve the quality of education in schools. The programme focuses on the use of ICT as a basic management tool.

The introduction of ICT starts with the development of general infrastructure and services as needed, and then the extension of its use to institutions and staff who can use the technology appropriately in their daily management activities at all levels.

The programme will address one of the most significant barriers to effective planning

and management, namely the lack of timely information and reliable data available to the Ministry and REBs. The EMIS will be extended to all education sub-sectors and will integrate other internal sources of information, including those related to HR, infrastructure development and finance.

All management and administrative staff should have the opportunity to become digitally literate by including this objective in staff training plans and programmes.

Schools do not yet have effective school management information systems (SMIS). The infrastructure in place to use digital technology in the teaching and learning process is very limited.

It is recognized and evident that special schools and WEOs are at different stages of their journey towards ICT integration and it is recognized that a one-size-fits-all approach will not be successful. Therefore, it is essential to identify the status of schools and WEOs at this stage of their journey and provide a range of support to help them progress with ICT integration over the next five years.

It is envisaged that digital technology will help transform the acquisition, processing and management of data in the education sector in four areas: school information, data on pupils' daily schooling, the school inspection system, and the processing, dissemination and management of general education statistics.

Sub-component 1: Use of digital technology for the acquisition of school information (on a quarterly, half-yearly and annual basis)

This sub-component aims to transform school reporting from a paper-based to a digital system, thereby radically improving the efficiency of data collection, analysis and periodic performance reporting. The tedious paperwork that is a norm in schools will be radically transformed into quarterly, half-yearly and annual data and reporting through digital technologies.

All schools will be uploaded to the national education information system and school reports will be monitored periodically.

The main activities involved include the development of the digital application, the preparation of the manuals and associated guidelines, the establishment of the necessary infrastructure in the schools, the capacity building of the headmasters, supervisors and other relevant staff, and the provision of ongoing technical support to the schools.

Sub-component 2: Use of digital technology to acquire data on students' daily schooling

Regular collection of data and information allows for more consistent evaluation of the functioning of the education system – students, teachers, schools and policies – based on objective performance indicators and targets. Acquiring data on the day-to-day schooling of students and teachers helps all stakeholders, including parents and the public, to keep abreast of school performance.

Therefore, a learning-oriented education system needs to capture accurate, timely and comparable data that link inputs (e.g., school resources and funding) to outputs (e.g., enrolment and attendance) and outcomes (e.g., performance assessments and other quality indicators).

Local planning units use the data to allocate resources, identify and support low-performing schools, monitor the implementation of education programmes and make comparisons between schools. Depending on the level of autonomy, some sub-national governments may plan and implement action plans and allocate funding according to local needs.

School leaders use the data to monitor progress towards system goals, formulate school action plans, guide school-level practice, and evaluate and support teachers and staff.

Linking student-level data longitudinally, such as when data from different years or grades are stored separately or in an inconsistent format, making it difficult to match records and analyse individual pathways over time. The data system needs to collect and maintain high quality, detailed student and staff level data that is linked across entities and over time, providing a complete history of each student's education and performance; and make this data accessible through reporting and analysis tools.

There is a need for a longitudinal data system to link student data collected at different times and/ or by different bodies, institutions, or schools, and which may therefore be stored in different repositories or sub-systems. This depends on the availability of unique individual identifiers that remain with each student across data collections. The ability to link student data over time distinguishes longitudinal systems from systems that keep repeated cross-sections of data, which may nevertheless include unique school identifiers to allow for the monitoring and evaluation of schools over time.

The system should combine data elements reflecting student academic and learning outcomes with data on enrolment, attendance, demographic background, and other factors that serve to contextualize student outcomes. It should be designed to provide a comprehensive picture of student experiences and performance.

Sub-component 3: Use of digital technology for the school inspection system

School inspection represents an accountability approach to school performance and, especially, to teaching and learning. In addition, school inspection provides policy and decision-makers with accurate information on the current state of education in their respective schools.

The purpose of inspection is to ensure the maintenance of high standards and the continuous development of the education system. It aims to advise those working in the education system and to contribute to the development of education policy. Inspection helps to strengthen accountability at school level.

So far, inspectors visit schools, evaluate them according to the SIP standard and collect data on paper. Consolidation and reporting are timeconsuming and, as a result, decisions are not made in time. Furthermore, data and information are not stored electronically and easily accessible to decision-makers and other stakeholders.

Therefore, this sub-component aims to transform the practice of data collection, storage, analysis, and reporting of the school inspection system from a paper-based to a digital system, thereby improving the effectiveness of the system in establishing, evaluating, and promoting the highest standards of quality in educational provision.

Sub-component 4: Use of technology for the processing, dissemination, and management of general education statistics

The education sector has an EMIS that compares favourably with many countries at similar stages of development. However, despite efforts to maximize the benefits of this system, it has not yet produced the desired quality of information in time.

There is therefore a need to establish, improve and strengthen EMIS using the latest technology that will comprehensively integrate all internal databases (education sub-sectors, human resources, teacher training, infrastructure, finance) and all relevant external databases, such as the census, population displacement, poverty, national infrastructure development, etc. It must be geographically oriented so that the information is 'visible' on maps to facilitate micro-planning exercises. It should be accessible and interactive, with all information available from a single interface. In addition, it must be easy to use and customizable so that any user can format what he/she wants to see at any time.

The sector must be able to develop effective management systems with appropriate use of digital technology at federal, regional, woreda and

school management levels. The current paper and pencil approach will be replaced by data collection, recording, processing, dissemination, and management using various digital/electronic technologies.

Therefore, this component mainly focuses on producing timely, reliable, and accessible quality data for use by all education sub-sectors and stakeholders.

rce
REBs
tal
ntion
im
o a
rce
DEDa
REBs
ils
ils
ils
ition
Education Sector Developm ent Program me VI Set up a strong team to monitor, supervise and support schools to ensure that the system is running smoothly and without interruption

Sub-component 3: Use of digital technology for the school inspection system Objective: Transform the practice of data collection, storage, analysis and reporting in the school inspection sys- tem from a paper-based to a digital system, which will improve the effectiveness of the system in establishing, evaluating and promoting the highest standards of quality in education Indicators Baseline Targets Source Strategy Application Establishment of an effective Digital application system None developed and sustainable digital techdeveloped for this purpose and released nology that facilitates the effi-MoE, REBs ciency of the school inspection Percentage of school None 100% system at all levels inspectors trained Develop a digital application for the school inspection system at all levels Prepare technical guidance documents/handbook for inspectors for the management and use of the introduced digital technology Undertake training for school inspectors on how to use the introduced technology Sub-component 4: Use of technology for the processing, dissemination, and management of general education statistics Objective: To generate timely, reliable and accessible quality data for use by all education sub-sectors and stakeholders Indicators Baseline Targets Source Strategy Applications Digital application systems developed None developed for this purpose and made operational Establishment of an effi-Number of key performance cient and sustainable digital indicators(KPIs)thatare technology that facilitates the NA TBD monitored and analysed on MoE, REBs processing, dissemination an annual basis and management of general Percentage of stakeholders education statistics expressing satisfaction with NA 75% + the quality of statistical information on education produced by the government Develop digital applications for data collection, processing, dissemination and management of general education statistics Design and implement a training programme for relevant staff in the use of EMIS Equip national, regional and woreda offices and schools to meet the minimum technological infrastructure requirements necessary to support administration and management, and build staff competence in the use of relevant ICT Improve EMIS data collection and verification in collaboration with regional and woreda offices and schools Integrate EMIS with SMIS to improve monitoring and evaluation and support school management Integrate EMIS with internal databases (all education sub-sectors, HR, teacher training, infrastructure, finance) Integrate EMIS with relevant external databases (including census, population displacement, poverty, national infrastructure development, etc.) Develop and ensure that EMIS has a user-friendly interface accessible to all decision-makers in the Ministry and REBs Develop a public version of EMIS accessible on the Ministry/REC website and promote ICT-based social accountability. Develop a mechanism to ensure that the online provision of sector information is effective and regularly updated Develop capacity for network maintenance, data analysis, compilation and use

Component 4: Creating digital-intensive secondary schoolsmanagement technologies in the education sector

Component 1 objective: To produce digitally literate students for the world of work by equipping the digital infrastructure and building the capacity of the school system

the alguar initiative and banding the capacity of the school system				
Indicator s	Baselin e	Targets	Source	
Percentage of educational institutions/schools equipped with digital technology	62.3 (secondary school Plasma TV)	100%		
Percentage of schools having access to digital content	62.3(secondary school use Plasma TV)	100%	MoE, CEICT.	
Percentage of teachers, school leaders trained in digital technology	0	100%	Survey re- port,	
Percentage of teachers and administrators using digital technology for learning, teaching and ad- ministrative purposes	0	100%	EMIS	

Sub-component 1: ICT infrastructure for effective teaching and learning

Traditional school curricula tend to focus on the accumulation of knowledge rather than its application, and many school systems do not sufficiently train students in digital citizenship and culture. Educational reform is essential to equip learners with what are commonly referred to as '21st century skills', i.e., the skills and values needed to become responsible citizens in a learning society and remain employable throughout life in a knowledge economy. Technological change is a constant driver of the economy, and economic reshaping is closely linked to the need for a technologically competent workforce to be competitive and successful.

Therefore, during this planning period, the aim is to establish high-speed interconnection in all secondary schools by equipping schools, CTEs and training institutions with ICT infrastructure to deliver education and monitor performance through digital technology. This programme will also be progressively extended to primary and middle schools.

Sub-component 2: Improving capacity to use digital technology

With the development of technology in the 21st century, education systems are trying to integrate technological tools to improve pedagogical and administrative experiences. It is becoming increasingly important to build human capacity and ICT infrastructure in educational institutions, from policy development to implementation.

The formulation of digital policies and strategies to provide national guidance in terms of integrating ICT into teaching, learning and administration at all levels of education will contribute to effective and efficient education delivery and will also improve access and quality of education. The lack of clear strategic policies for ICT capacity building is still considered to be the primary cause of digital technology abandonment.

Therefore, strengthening and training of educational institutions at different levels through the development of digital policy, standard and strategy to improve the development and use of digital content, online and distance learning, meeting, systemic performance monitoring and delivery of educational services and digital identification using digital technology will be the relevant needs and priority areas of our educational system.

Sub-component 3: Digital content development

Digitization of content involves the delivery of content in different portable formats such as videos, images, audio, e-books and design tutorials, etc. Digitization of content allows students and teachers to access content on different electronic devices such as tablets, computers, mobile phones, radios, etc. at any time and place. However, as far as the use of digital content in our education system is concerned, it is still in its infancy. Primary schools use radio and secondary schools use television to access digital content via radio and television, respectively. For example, 62.3% of schools use educational television and 72.7% of primary schools have access to radio assisted learning.

However, due to technological advances in the world and the need to use digital content in the country, for the next five years, one of the priority areas of our education system is to make content accessible using e-learning, digital textbooks and reference books, audio and video formats, online courses, and tutorials, etc. in secondary schools and gradually in primary and middle schools, non-formal education, and teacher training Education Sector Development Programme VI

114

institutions. Digital content will be produced to meet the needs of students with special needs.

The videos will be accompanied by sign language and the content will also be provided in audio format for blind students. Therefore, students and teachers can use the content using digital devices in and out of the classroom. Furthermore, to improve its implementation, effectiveness and efficiency, research on the digital content and monitoring and evaluation will be conducted.

Sub-component 4: Digital learning for inclusive access to education

In a school there are different types of students, including students with special needs. In addition, there are citizens who are not in school and children living in pastoral areas. Therefore, there should be a mechanism to make education accessible to this wide range of student needs. One of the mechanisms to improve access issues is to implement ICT in the education system effectively and efficiently. In our education system, there have been some efforts and initiatives to make education accessible to all students. Plasma broadcast programmes are assisted by sign language. In addition, Grade 12 students living in pastoral areas have been provided with 180 solar-powered mobile phones and 480 tablets with solar panels and power banks.

However, in relation to the needs of the students, much effort needs to be made to make the content accessible to students in pastoral areas, students with special needs and out-ofschool children. Therefore, to make the content accessible to these groups of students, various technological innovations will be implemented over the next five years, including assistive/ adaptive technologies (screen magnifiers, voice recognition software, etc.) and learning support technologies. Training will also be provided for teachers and students with special needs.

Objective: To produc	ce digitally literate students for the infrastructure and building			
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	Percentage of secondary schools equipped with tablets with learn- ing resources	0	100%	
	Percentage of middle schools equipped with computers/tablets with learning resources	0	50%	
Equip schools and CTEs with ICT infra- structure	Percentage of primary schools equipped with tablets with learn- ing resources	0	25%	
	Percentage of secondary schools equipped with computers and virtual labs	0	100%	EMIS, MoE/CE-
	Number of schools with Internet service	TBD	100	ICT, Survey report
	Number of smart classrooms established in secondary schools	0	500	
	Number of secondary schools using digital content connected to a high-speed data connection network	0	350	
	Number of teacher training institutions equipped with the necessary ICT technology and equipment	TBD	38	-
Develop a fully costed a	nd feasible plan for the expansion o	fICTinfrastr	ucture in scho	ols/institutions
Provide tablets to all sec address primary and r	ondary school students, equipped w middle schools.	ith e-learning	g resources, a	nd gradually
Progressively equip s	chools with computer laboratori	es		
Equip all secondary s	chools with a high-speed data r	network con	nection	

Develop mobile applications and platforms to access digital content

Establish smart classrooms with educational technologies in secondary schools in a phased approach

Equip teacher training institutions with the necessary ICT technology and equipment

Create centres that develop ICT materials for different subjects (e.g., simulation, role-playing, demonstration) in teacher training institutions

Establish regional centres of excellence in ICT-supported curriculum, materials development and teaching

Establish systems for analysing and monitoring student/teacher performance

Sub-component 2: Improving the capacity to use digital technology

Component 1 objective: To improve teaching and learning outcomes through the use of digital technology

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	Development of an ICT in education policy	0	Policy produced	
	Establishing national data centres with content	0	Data centre established	
a	Development of manuals and standards	0	Standard produced	
Strengthening institutional capacity for the use of digital	Number of ICT teaching standards developed	NA	100%	EMIS, MoE/CEICT,
technology – ICT in education	Percentage of experts and leader instructors with ICT skills	NA	100%	Survey
	Percentage of institutions using the MoE online meeting platform in woreda	NA	100%	
	Assessment of the digital technology use status in schools and CTEs undertaken	NA	Assessment report produced	
Finalize and impleme	nt the ICT in education policy, s	supported b	y the ICT in	education law
Develop and implement programmes	an editorial policy for Ethiopian educ	cational telev	ision and radio	production
Develop national star	ndards for ICT in education			
Develop a policy fram	nework for public-private partne	ership on IC	T in educatio	'n
Provide online trainin	g for leaders and experts on IC	T skills		
Develop a platform fo	or online meetings and conferen	ices		
Provide training and s	short-term courses using digital	l technology	/	
Conduct research on	the state of digital technology ι	use in schoo	ols and CTEs	
Sub-component 3: Dig	ital content development			
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	Percentage of digitized curriculum content developed for primary, middle and secondary schools and non-for- mal education	0	100%	
Transforming the curriculum from print to digital content	Percentage of content integrated with ICT	0	100%	EMIS, MoE/CEICT, Survey report
to digital content	Percentage of curriculum content for pre-primary, primary, middle and secondary schools and non-formal education provided byICT	0	50%	

Produce and disseminate digital content for primary, middle and secondary schools (broadcasting, e-learning, online courses and tutorials, etc.)

e-learning, online courses and tutorials, etc.)					
Develop and impleme	ent an ICT skills framework for I	head teache	ers, facilitator	s and teachers	
Provide short-term capa digital skills	city-building training for head teach	ers, supervis	ors and teache	rs to improve	
Conduct research to im	prove the use of ICT for education in	n schools and	teachertraini	nginstitutions	
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Establishmentofasys- tem for analysing and monitoring teacher and pupil performance	Percentage of students and teachers monitored through digital technology	0	100%	EMIS	
Develop digital monit	oring tools				
Train experts in the use of digital technology for monitoring					
Pilot and scale up per	formance analysis and monitor	ing in the e	ducation syst	em	
Sub-component 4: Dig	ital content development for inclu	isive access	to education		
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source	
Establish a digital learning mechanism for students with special needs	Number of schools equipped with ICT infrastructure and innovative programmes for students with special needs	0	1,500	EMIS, MoE report	
Conduct a baseline survey					
Pilot innovative ICT prod	rammes in selected schools, teache	er training inst	titutions and n	on-formal	

Provide access to various technological innovations to students with disabilities, with adequate training to improve their skills in using digital technologies

Providing all secondary schools with innovative facilities for students with special needs



Programme 7 Quality assurance

Goal

To put in place a rigorous, systematic and objective quality assurance system to monitor school, CTE and ANFE centre performance; to assess teacher and head teacher competence; to ensure that acceptable standards of education are maintained; and to monitor student performance to ensure that student learning is taking place in school

Quality assurance is the systematic review of educational provision to maintain and improve its quality, equity, and effectiveness. The design of quality assurance mechanisms (tools, processes, and actors) varies in different national contexts, but their common objective is to support the teaching and learning process and the ultimate goal is to improve student learning outcomes. Quality assurance generates data on the overall performance of the education system for policy decisions. It includes school inspection, evaluation of teachers' and head teachers' competences, and national student assessments

Component 1: School inspection

Component 1 objective: The school inspection system will be strengthened to monitor school, CTE and ANFE centre performance to ensure school quality and accountability						
Indicator Targets Source						
Percentage of schools, CTEs and ANFEs that have been externally inspected	100%	Increasion report				
Percentage of digitized inspection data management systems developed	100%	Inspection report				
Availability of an impact assessment report on the contribution of school inspection implementation to quality education	Impact assessment report produced	Assessment report				

In 2012, the school inspection system was established to monitor school standards and report on overall findings to support system-wide change. It is an independent external evaluation process to assess quality and performance in terms of input, process, and output criteria. The classification of schools is done by giving a value to the three criteria in relation to the minimum standards required. These criteria have different areas of interest, such as school infrastructure; learning environment and facilities; human and financial resources; participatory school improvement planning; learning and teaching effectiveness; service provision; parental and school community engagement; internal efficiency and student achievement as part of overall schooldevelopment.

The school inspection will be carried out every three years, in line with the national framework. The school inspection classified schools into four levels, based on the overall percentage score (input, process, and output performance). These levels are as follows: Level 1, if a school scores below 50%; Level 2, if a school scores between 50% and 69.99%; Level 3, if a school scores between 70% and 89.99%; and Level 4, if a school scores between 90% and 100%. Where a school does not achieve the expected standards (Level 3), it will be re-inspected after one year, to monitor actions taken and to understand school's response to the process. Level 1 schools have the lowest score and have a lot of work to do to improve their standards. On the other hand, Level 4 schools are the model schools that score well in all areas.

Under ESDP VI, quality inspection will continue for all schools in class 'O', kindergarten, ABE, primary, middle, and secondary. Inspection standards for the College of Teacher Education and ANFE (for community learning centres only) will be developed and implemented in ESDP VI. Each inspection will include feedback to school leaders and the community on the steps to be taken to achieve the next level.

In addition to feedback at school level, the inspection system will seek to find and understand the strengths and weaknesses of the system in school inputs, processes, and outputs.

Education Sector Development Programme VI

118

Key stakeholders from the woreda to the federal level, including policy-makers in each region, will be encouraged to use this information in their quality improvement efforts. In addition to assuring the quality of service delivery through inspection, CTEs will be accredited to certify that teacher training standards are met.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source			
	Percentage of inspectors trained	0%	100%				
Strengthening the school inspection system	Percentage of woredas conducting school inspection	68.3%	100%	Inspection report			
	Number of annual inspection reports issued	N/A	5				
	Strengthen school inspectors' capacity in inspection framework, guidelines, digital data collection, organization and management system						
Strengthen quality inspecti woreda inspectors	on through joint sample inspection	with the minis	stry, regional, z	zonal and			
Organize school inspection	n experience sharing through pract	tice between	regions and in	ternationally			
Develop an integrated of	ligital data management syster	n					
Monitor and evaluate inspe	ection data management, reporting	g and implem	entation of qu	ality inspection			
Conduct an impact assessmeducation	nent on the contributions of the imp	lementation	of school inspe	ction to quality			
Ensure that elements of dis training for inspectors	sability-inclusive education are well	integrated in	to inspection t	ools and			
Review the national sch	ool inspection framework, guid	elines and c	hecklist				
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline (2018/19)	Targets (2024/25)	Source			
	Percentage of Class O schools inspected once	9%	100%				
	Percentage of pre-schools in- spected once	20%	100%				
Strengthen the provision of inspection services to	Percentage of primary and mid- dle schools inspected once	81%	100%				
schools, CTEs and ANFE training centres	Percentage of secondary schools inspected once	66%	100%				
	Percentage of ANFE training centres inspected once	0%	100%				
	Percentage of CTEs inspected annually	0%	100%				
	Percentage of Class O schools re-inspected once	0%	100%	Inspection			
	Percentage of nursery schools re-inspected once	0%	100%	report			
D	Percentage of primary and mid- dle schools reinspected once	0%	100%				
Providing re-inspection services to ANFE schools, CTEs and	Percentage of secondary schools reinspected once	0%	100%				
training centres that do not meet	Percentage of ANFE training centres re-inspected once	0%	100%				
expected standards	Percentage of CTEs re-inspected annually	0%	100%				
	Percentage of audited schools, CTEs and ANFEs that incorpo- rate and implement inspection findings to improve their perfor- mance	N/A	100%				

Develop the national inspection framework and guidelines for CTEs and ANFEs					
Conduct an impact assessment on the contribution of school, CTE and ANFE inspection to quality education					
Conduct and provide re	gular inspection/re-inspection s	services for	schools, CTE	s and ANFEs	
Strategy	Indicators Baseline Targets Source				
Strengthening the provision of accreditation services for CTEsPercentage of teacher education institutions accreditedN/A100%Inspection report					
Develop national accreditation standards and guidelines for CTEs					
Establish an accreditation	Establish an accreditation service for CTEs				

Component 2: Teacher and school leader licensing and relicensing

Component 2 objective: The licensing and relicensing assessment system will be strengthened to ensure teacher and school leader competence to improve educational quality and accountability

Indicator s	Baselin e	Targets	Source	
Availability of a digital licensing information sys- tem	NA	Digital licensing system established	Licensing	
Number of analytical reports on licensing and relicensing results produced and disseminated annually	NA	5	and relicensing report	

There are over 661 707 teachers and head teachers in the general education sector, with qualifications ranging from college diplomas to masters. The system of licensing and relicensing of teachers and principals is one of the strategies in place to ensure the quality of education. This system aims to assess the competences of teachers and school leaders through assessments of competences developed at national level.

As noted, regarding teacher education and professional development, teachers' current pedagogical skills are largely insufficient for effective teaching. Similarly, subject knowledge and pedagogical skills are not uniform among qualified staff. The teacher and head teacher licensing process will provide independent validation that qualified professionals demonstrate the skills required to teach, manage, and lead effectively. The system assesses preprimary, primary and secondary school teachers, as well as CTE teachers through written tests and portfolio competency assessments against established standards.

Since the implementation of licensing and relicensing ofteachers and head teachers in 2012, the system has developed generic standards for teachers, head teachers, school supervisors,

licensing guidelines, examination frameworks and is sensitising experts at each level, teachers, and head teachers to the materials. In addition, it develops both written tests and portfolio assessment tools based on subject content, pedagogy, school management and leadership to ensure the knowledge and skills of teachers and principals. The system also conducted a gap analysis and provided a guidance note for policy-makers and stakeholders to use in their interventions. During ESDP VI, the licensing and relicensing system was strengthened with digital licensing for information technology, human and material resources, and continued assessments of teachers and head teachers, including preschool and CTE teachers, to ensure their competence. The aim is to allow all eligible preschool, primary and secondary school teachers and head teachers, as well as technical and CTE teachers, to go through the licensing and relicensing system, with special attention to teachers with special needs and to men and women. In addition, those who scored below the tolerance level in the first assessment session will be re-tested to ensure their progress using an online digital technology system.

Education Sector Developm ent Program me VI

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
Strengthen teacher	Percentage of digital licensing infor- mation systems developed	NA	100%	
and head teacher licensing and renewal	Percentage of regions using digital licensing and relicensing system	NA	100%	MoE, REBs, Inspection report
system	Number of annual outcome analysis reports disseminated	NA	5	report
5	d relicensing framework and guidelines policy and the Education Law	in line with th	ne revised pro	fessional
Develop a manual fo	or evaluation preparation and admi	inistration		
Build the capacity of	licensing experts to prepare quali	ty assessme	ent tools	
Strengthen the capa	city of licensing experts at regiona	al, zonal and	woreda leve	els
Strengthen experience institutions	sharing events between regions and in	ternational lic	ensing and rel	icensing
Implement a digitize	d operational licensing information	n system		
Develop teacher and	l head teacher licensing system us	ing online re	egistration	
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source
	Teachers' licensing and relic	ensing asses	sment	
	Percentage of new graduates who have completed the licensing system	0%	100%	
	Percentage of pre-primary teachers who have completed the licensing system	0%	100%	
	Percentage of primary school teachers who have completed the licensing system	72%	100%	
	Percentage of middle school teachers who have completed the licensing system	72%	100%	
Improving teacher	Percentage of secondary school teachers who have completed the licensing system	75.3%	100%	
and school leader	School principals' licensing and	relicensing a	ssessment	Licensing, relicensing
licensing assessment	Percentage of pre-primary school principals who completed the licens- ing system	0%	100%	rencentaring
	Percentage of primary and middle school headmasters who completed the licensingsystem	24%	100%	
	Percentage of secondary school principals who completed the licensing system	48.7%	100%	1
	School supervisors' licensing and	relicensing a	ssessment	
	Percentage of primary and middle school supervisors who completed the licensingsystem	31.5%	100%	
	Percentage of secondaryschool supervisors who completed the licensing system	56.7%	100%	

	Teachers' licensing and relic	ensing asses	sment	
	Percentage of pre-primary teachers who have gone through the licensing re-exam system	0%	100%	
	Percentage of primary and middle school teachers who have gone through the licensing re-exam system	0%	100%	
Improving teacher	Percentage of secondary school teachers who have gone through the licensing re-exam system	0%	100%	
and school leader	Principals' licensing and relic	ensing asses	sment	
licensing assessment at reexamination for those who scored be-	Percentage of primary and pre-pri- mary school principals who have gone through the licensing re-exam system	0%	100%	Licensing, relicensing
low the cut-off poin	Percentage of secondary school principals who have gone through the licensing re-exam system	0%	100%	
	School supervisors' licensing and	relicensing a	assessment	
	Percentage of primary and middle school supervisors who have gone through the licensing re-exam system	0%	100%	
	Percentage of secondary school supervisors who have gone through the licensing re-exam system	0%	100%	
	Teachers' licensing and relic	ensing asses	sment	
	Percentage of pre-primary school teachers who passed the relicensing assessment system	0%	100%	
	Percentage of primary and middle school teachers who passed the relicensing assessment system	0%	100%	
	Percentage of secondary school teachers who passed the relicensing assessment system	0%	100%	
Enhancing teachers	Principals' licensing and relic	censing asses	sment	
and school leaders relicensing assess- ment	Percentage of pre-primary, primary and middle school principals who passed the relicensing system	0%	100%	Licensing, relicensing
	Percentage of secondaryschool principals who passed the relicensingsystem	0%	100%	
	School supervisors' licensing and re-licensing assessment			
	Percentage of pre-primary, primary and middle school super- visors who passed the relicensing system	0%	100%	
	Percentage of secondary school supervisors who passed the reli- censing system	0%	100%	
Enhancing CTE teach- ers licensing and reli- censing assessment	Percentage of college teachers who passed the licensing system	0%	100%	Licensing, relicensing

Develop a set of standardized assessment tools for teachers and school leaders
Translate assessment tools into mother tongues for pre-school, primary and middle school teachers
Administer a digital-based written assessment of the license, with special attention to teachers with special needs and gender
Establish an item bank system for storage and retrieval for future administration
Carry out a portfolio assessment for teachers and school leaders
Develop portfolio assessment tools for college teachers
Train portfolio assessors for college teachers
Carry out portfolio assessment for teacher educators.
Produce results analysis reports and disseminate them to stakeholders

Component 3: Assessment and examinations systems

Component 3 objective: The assessment and examination systems will be strengthened to monitor student performance and use the results to ensure quality education and accountability

Indicator s	Baselin e	Targets	Source
Number of national learning assessments con- ducted periodically	TBD	9	NFAFA
Percentage of national examinations administered online	0	100%	NEAEA

National learning assessments (NLAs) are sometimes referred to as system-level educational assessments. They provide information on learning achievement, on what students know and can do in identified grades and subjects. They help the government to monitor changes in learning outcomes over time and to highlight inequalities in learning outcomes within the population. By identifying correlates of learning outcomes and providing a deeper insight into how a range of variables interact, NLA data also provide a better understanding of the dynamics underlying the performance of education systems. It also provides a basis for designing policies and strategies to improve students' knowledge and skills and equity in learning.

There is an established system for the NLA within the National Education Assessment and Evaluation Agency (NEAEA), which conducts NLAs every four years in Grades 4, 8, 10 and 12. These assessments, linked to the minimum learning competencies set out in the curriculum, will continue in Grades 6, 8 and 12 during the ESDP VI period, in line with the recently developed Education Roadmap. These assessments will identify minimum proficiency levels, gaps in learning outcomes, variations by region or gender and variables influencing learning outcomes.

The aim of the Measurement of Early Learning Quality and Outcomes (MELQO) is to promote a feasible, accurate and useful measure of children's development and learning at the start of primary school, and of the quality of their preprimary learning environment.

The Early grades, Literacy/Reading and Numeracy/Mathematics Assessments (EGRA, EGMA) will be carried out as initial tests of learning and as a monitoring and correction tool where improvements need to be made at an early stage.

It is very important to develop standardized formative assessment tools and to train teachers on how to assess students regularly at the beginning of Grades 2 and 3. This allows for the identification of areas for improvement and the monitoring of high-performing schools, woredas, zones and regions, and the extension of best practice to others.

Students will be assessed at the end of Grades 6 and 8 exit levels by regional and city administrations, while Grade 12 will be assessed annually by NEAEA for certification or transition to the next level of education. For the Grade 8 regional exam, standards and plans will be developed and monitored by NEAEA.

Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source						
	Early grade asse	ssments								
	Number of early grade mathemat- ics assessments (EGMA) evaluated and disseminated to stakeholders	1	2							
	Number of early grade reading assessments (EGRA) assessed and disseminated to stakeholders	2	4							
	Number of Measurement of Early Learning Quality and Outcomes (MELQO) completed and dissemi- nated to stakeholders	0	2							
	National learning as									
Revamping the over- all assessment and	Number of Grade 6 National Learn- ing Assessments (NLA) evaluated and disseminated to stakeholders	0	1	NEAEA						
examination system	Number of Grade 8 National Learn- ing Assessments (NLA) assessed and disseminated to stakeholders	1	2							
	Number of Grade 10/12 Nation- al Learning Assessments (NLA) assessed and disseminated to stakeholders	1	2							
	National/public exa	minations								
	Percentage of Grade 12 National Examination developed that main- tained itsstandard									
	Percentage of Grade 12 National Examination that was administered online	0%	100%							
Develop and implement a policy framework for assessment and examination systems										
Revise national and reg	gional assessments to assess higher o	rder cognitiv	e skills and skill	development						
Revamp the periodic	early grade reading and mathem	atics assess	sment (EGRA	and EGMA)						
	asurement of early learning and o		omes (MELQO).						
Conduct periodic lea	rning assessments at the end of e	ach cycle								
Build the capacity of reg development	gional experts in the field of educationa	al assessment	and examination	on						
i	specification and related standard			l exam						
	and coordinate other competency									
	f national assessment and test develop prough short- and long-term trainin		to produce high	n quality						
administration, analy	erience of regional and international as vsis, dissemination, etc. and extend	l best practio	ces							
Prepare analytical re	ports on the results of reviews an	d evaluatio	ns for relevan	t bodies						
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source						
Strengthening the classroom assess- ment system	Percentage of regional assessment experts trained in continuous class- room assessment (ToT)	NA	100%	NEAEA						
	Survey report on the extent of im- plementation of continuous class- room assessment in schools	NA	Survey report produced and disseminate d							
•	k for formative assessment									
Develop manuals for	continuous classroom assessmer	nt								

Education Sector Developm ent Program me VI

Strengthen/establish competent and well-functioning assessment units in the regions									
Monitor and evaluate the implementation of continuous classroom assessment									
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source					
Establishing a regional and international evaluation system	Number of international learning assessments conducted and disseminated to stakeholders	0	0 1						
Develop a national framework for participation in international learning assessments									
Alignthecurriculumwi international assessr	th the regional curriculum in essential nents	subjectsand	elements, in pr	reparationfor					
Align the curriculum w	ith the international curriculum/guide	elines in esse	ntial subjects a	nd elements					
Select, and be involved based competitions,	in, international education assessment etc.	(SACMEQ, PI	SA and TIMSS)	competency-					
Translate and adapt	test instruments to Ethiopian lang	guages							
Strategy	Indicators	Baseline	Targets	Source					
Standardizing assessments and examinations and improving alignment with the national curriculum	Number of Grade 6, 8, 10 and 12 NLA questions stored in the item bank	Aquestions stored in the item 5,160 9,120							
	Number of Grade 12 National Examination questions stored in the item bank0%13,680								
	Percentage of Grade 12 exams administered online	0%	100%	NEAEA					
	Percentage of Grade 8, 10 and 12 national exams administered online	0%	100%						
	Number of NLA, regional/interna- tional assessments whose analyti- cal results have been disseminated to stakeholders	NA	9						
Use assessment tech	nnologies that maintain assessme	nt standards	6						
Strengthen the item bank for national examinations									
Strengthen item bank for NLA									
Align the items developed with the revised curriculum									

Summary of cross-cutting issues integrated into the priority programmes

Cross-cutting issues are mainstreamed and taken into account in the priority programmes. This summary section provides a quick check on whether the whole sector plan is gender-sensitive and whether the necessary attention is given to special needs and inclusive education, HIV/AIDS, drug abuse, water sanitation and hygiene, school health and nutrition, environmental protection, and climate change. In the capacity building programme, it was foreseen under ESDP V to establish a unit for the full implementation of cross-cutting issues. However, the unit was not established as planned. Instead, close followup and monitoring of progress was carried out by the respective directorates indicated in ESDP V. Environmental protection, climate change and green legacy are high priorities at national level. As a result, educational institutions and communities are strongly committed to tree planting on school grounds and soil conservation on and off school grounds.

Programme 2. Component 2: School culture and ethics

Students will develop a greater sense of cohesion when they feel safe to be included. To promote cohesion, schools should protect students from bullying and create a safe environment for learning. All schools should have effective approaches in place to deal with incidents of prejudice, bullying and harassment.

Programme 3: Quality improvement and labour market relevance

This priority programme has integrated and mainstreamed cross-cutting issues, as they are essential to improving the quality of education through the upgrading of physical facilities and the promotion of a safe and healthy environment. Emphasis is placed on gender mainstreaming in the curriculum, the teaching and learning process and the school environment. Special needs and inclusive education, HIV/AIDS, substance abuse, water sanitation and hygiene, school health and nutrition, environmental protection, climate change and education in emergencies are addressed in the programme as appropriate. These and other activities will be planned, implemented, and monitored by the respective directorates indicated in ESDPVI.

Programme 3. Sub-component 2: Supportive school environment and education in emergencies

In each school, a set of 'student services' that support the development of students' life skills and promote a safe and healthy school environment will be provided. Student services will pay particular attention to HIV/AIDS, DSA, school and student health and nutrition. To increase the reach and relevance of 'student services', the education administration will work closely with other government agencies and NGOs working in these areas. School feeding will be provided from pre-primary to primary school level. Other health interventions, such as school-based de-worming, will be linked to the `student services' provided, and all schools will have a supply of safe drinking water, adequate and gender-sensitive sanitation facilities and a basic set of facilities for children with special educational needs. Schools will be encouraged to prepare and equip sports facilities according to their local context. Standards for WASH facilities in schools will be in line with the agreed One WASH national strategy.

Programme 4: Access, equity and internal efficiency

This programme includes key strategies and activities to ensure equitable and quality education for all, with particular attention to disadvantaged groups, namely girls, students with special needs, IDPs and refugee children, pastoralists' children and out-of-school students.

Programme 5: Non-formal education for youth and adults

The programme includes strategies and activities to increase adult female literacy and vocational training. In addition to the plan to adapt and

develop the curriculum to the needs of adults with disabilities, all cross-cutting issues will be integrated, where appropriate, throughout the programme. Appropriate training will be provided for disabled young people and adults.

The programme will be designed to be a rich field of study, a practical activity full of varied experiences. It aims to ensure that young people and adults participate in their society and the world of work by internalizing and applying their knowledge of cross-cutting issues in a practical way.

Programme 6. Component 4: Digital learning for inclusive access to education

In a school there are different types of students, including students with special needs. In addition, there are many out-of-school children and children living in pastoral areas. Therefore, there should be a mechanism to make education accessible to this wide range of students. One of the mechanisms to improve access issues is the effective and efficient implementation of ICT in the education system. In our education system there have been some efforts and initiatives to make education accessible to all students. Plasma broadcast programmes are assisted by sign language. In addition, Grade 12 students living in pastoral areas have been provided with 180 solar-powered mobile phones and 480 tablets equipped with a solar panel and power bank.

However, in relation to the needs of the students, much effort is required to make the content accessible to students in pastoral areas, children with disabilities and out-of-school children. Therefore, to make the content accessible to these groups of students, various technological innovations will beimplemented over the next five years, including assistive/adaptive technologies (screen magnifiers, voice recognition software, etc.), and the development of new technologies to make the content accessible to them.



Section 4

Implementation, monitoring, and evaluation



Introduction

ESDP VI has been developed at national level with a series of consultations and active engagement of REBs to ensure a common vision and purpose as well as consistent implementation and monitoring. The REBs will also prepare their respective five-year education plans in line with the strategic priorities, outcomes and outputs of this sector programme, taking into account their regional context and challenges.

To operationalize this sector programme, all subsectors under the state ministers, directorates, specialized agencies and units under the Ministry of Education will develop annual work plans linked to the objectives and outcomes of the different priority areas of the programme outlined in ESDP VI.

Progress will be monitored on a quarterly basis. Outcome planning will need to be readjusted annually. After measuring what has been achieved in the previous year, plans will be adjusted for the following year, in order to stay focused on the long-term objectives.

A similar process will be followed at regional, zonal, woreda and school levels.

Evaluation activities to be carried out during the implementation of ESDP VI include monitoring of key performance indicators (KPIs), periodic reviews, supervision missions, thematic and evaluation studies. The objective is to assess whether implementation is proceeding according to plan and leading to the desired results. The aim is also to learn from past implementation so that performance can be improved in the future. Specifically, monitoring, review and evaluation efforts serve accountability, learning and development purposes.

To this end, a robust monitoring and evaluation structure and arrangements will be established at the federal, regional, zonal and woreda levels to track the implementation and progress of the sector programme.

Establishing baseline data and setting targets

Designing an appropriate monitoring and evaluation framework to measure the achievement of ESDP VI outcomes will require the development of baseline data against which future results can be assessed, as well as a performance monitoring and evaluation framework consisting of a set of output, outcome, and impact indicators. Baseline data provides information on the initial situation before the programme starts. Without baseline data, it will be difficult to determine whether there has been progress, or what results have been achieved by the programme interventions. For each indicator, baseline data and annual targets should be established and recorded to facilitate systematic monitoring, review, and evaluation.

Ideally, data should be collected during the situation analysis phase or before the programme is launched. However, if this is not possible, baseline data should be collected as soon as possible, but no later than one year after the start of the programme. In this respect, most of the indicators in this sector programme have baselines. Some are yet to be defined

Targets are set using projection models, where appropriate. On the other hand, some of the indicators identified for the different strategies do not have a specified baseline due to the unavailability of reliable and recent data. This process will be finalized as part of the operationalization of the sub-sector plans. Therefore, it is expected that the annual work plans prepared by the sub-sectors and implementing bodies will necessarily include a baseline data collection plan indicating when and how baseline data will be collected in the first/ second year of ESDP VI.

Baselines are zero for indicators where interventions and outcomes for each priority programme are newly introduced, because of the education reform that will be undertaken over the next five years. Thus, a zero baseline does not imply that similar outcomes have not been produced before, but simply that the current interventions have not produced these outcomes.

In setting the targets, care was taken to ensure that the targets met two conditions, namely: (a) compliance with the policy objectives set by the government (policymakers); and (b) feasibility of the targets in terms of human, material, and financial resources, as well as capacity to manage implementation.

In cases where no baseline data exists, targets are set, based on several considerations. Firstly, historical trends over the past five years have been considered. Secondly, expert judgements and opinions have been sought from professionals at federal and regional levels who have good experience and knowledge of the programme areas and who know what is and is not possible from a technical and practical point of view. Thirdly, it was also possible to obtain the views of stakeholders on what they expect from the education sector. This was reflected in the results of the education and training roadmap study and in the subsequent consultation forums organized for all categories of people throughout the country. The feedback, comments and suggestions helped to select realistic targets that can be reasonably achieved during the planning period.

This approach involved deciding on the programme's performance target for the final year, and then defining a trajectory of progress for the intervening years, based on a careful analysis of what is realistic to achieve, given the stage of programme implementation, availability of resources, country conditions, technical constraints, etc. Judgements were made on what can be achieved each year.

It is expected that the sub-sectors, specialized agencies and directorates of the MoE and REBs will complete the missed baselines and targets (labelled TBD, DNA in the tables under each priority programme) for their respective interventions by 2013 E.C./2020/2021 G.C./. The Planning and Resource Mobilization Directorate and the EMIS Directorate will monitor the whole process, collect data, and document it as an addendum to the ESDP VI plan.

Completing missed baselines and targets

A continuous planning process is another key feature of modern sector management. ESDP VI recognizes that targets change during the implementation of the plan as long as data indicates that target values need to be corrected or revised. Some targets may be achieved more quickly than expected, while others may take longer to achieve. Assumptions also change. The plan should therefore be adjusted at regular intervals (annually if possible) to take account of these developments.

Performance monitoring and evaluation

Monitoring the implementation of the plan provides the information needed to update it. As a rolling plan, the plan will be regularly updated, based on information generated by the monitoring and evaluation processes and evidence-based recommendations.

Implementation will be monitored and tracked using digital technology, which allows for immediate corrective action and sharing of best experiences.

The structures and processes for implementing ESDP VI will follow the current division of

responsibilities in the education sector in Ethiopia under the decentralization policy.

The various monitoring and consultation platforms will ensure that federal, regional, and local organizations across the country focus their energies on achieving nationally defined goals and standards with a common vision and purpose for education reform.

Implementation structures

and processes

The Federal Ministry of Education has a major role to play in policy development, planning, monitoring, and evaluation to ensure balanced and equitable development of the education sector. The effectiveness of this role has been enhanced by the recent organizational reform.

Specific structures will be put in place for the monitoring of ESDP VI and the supervision of the implementation of the education sector plan at federal and regional levels, as indicated below.

National Steering Committee

The National Steering Committee (NSC) is chaired by the Minister of Education and meets twice a year. It brings together ministers of state, heads of REBs, heads of agencies and directors of federal and regional offices, chairs/ deans of university centres of excellence. They will be joined by key stakeholders from CSOs, associations, and development partners. The NSC serves as a top-level decision-making body, responsible for deciding on any major adjustments to the strategy and implementation.

In addition, Joint Consultative Meetings (JCMs) will be held, bringing together a wider group of people. The members of the JCM include the minister, state ministers, heads of regional education offices, directors general, heads of Federal Ministry of Education agencies and other participants invited by the MoE.

The JCMwillmeetquarterly. The MoE's Directorate of Planning and Resource Mobilization will serve as the technical secretariat of the JCM and will be responsible for preparing its meetings.

Education Technical Working Group (ETWG)

The existing ETWG brings together ministry officials and representatives of development partners active in the education sector,

Figure 1: Implementation structures and processes



representatives of CSOs and the professional association of teachers. The ETWG is responsible for ad hoc monitoring of progress in the implementation of ESDP VI and coordination of resource mobilization decisions. In addition, it will play an important role in promoting dialogue and collaboration between government, development partners and CSOs for the success of ESDP VI.

The ETWG is co-chaired by the Minister of Education or the Director of Planning and Resource Mobilization (PRMD) and an elected development partner representative. The PRMD will also provide the secretariat for the ETWG. The ETWG will have its own terms of reference and an annual work plan.

Technical Monitoring Group (TMG)

The Technical Monitoring Group (TMG) is chaired by the Director of the Planning and Resource Mobilization Directorate. The TMG will bring together regional planning officers and focal persons/planners of the sub-sectors and agencies of the MoE. The TMG meets four times a year. The TMG serves to monitor progress against the plan in each region and at the federal level and to make basic recommendations and implementation decisions. It also coordinates joint review missions. The TMG reports to the National Steering Committee.

Programmatic Working Group

The plan is organized into seven programmatic areas, namely: system strengthening, governance and accountability, values, national unity in diversity, quality improvement and labour market relevance, access to general education, equity and internal efficiency, youth and adult non-formal education, use of digital technology for the education sector and quality assurance. For each programme, a technical and coordination team will be set up to monitor the implementation, results, and challenges of their respective projects. This will allow for close monitoring of each programme and increased coordination to improve results.

The programmatic team is coordinated by the Planning and Resource Mobilization Directorate. The monitoring process will be conducted annually, and the findings and results of the exercise will allow for readjustment of activities and objectives for the next planning year.

Regional Steering

Committees (RSCs)

The RSCs are envisaged as regional partnerships between the state and stakeholders to oversee and coordinate the implementation of regional education sector plans. The RSCs will bring together the heads of regional government institutions and stakeholders, with the Regional Education Bureaus (REBs) Planning Process acting as the secretariat. Under ESDP VI, the RSCs will be strengthened, as will coordination between the NSC and the RSCs.

The coherent implementation of ESDP VI will largely depend on the existence of an annual operational plan to be prepared at national, regional and woreda levels. The annual operational plans will allow ESDP VI to be transformed into an adaptive process, to

regularly adjust the initial objectives and means in the light of changing circumstances. The AOPs will set out the activities to be undertaken at each administrative level during the year to progress as effectively as possible towards the achievement of ESDP VI objectives and outcomes.

Continuous monitoring of the national to school level

Evaluation activities to be carried out during the implementation of ESDP VI include monitoring of key performance indicators (KPIs), periodic reviews, joint monitoring missions and thematic and evaluation studies. The overall objective of these activities is to assess whether the implementation of the programmes is proceeding as planned and achieving the desired results. The aim is also to learn from past implementation so that performance can be improved in the future by understanding the reasons that contributed to successes and failures.

The effective implementation plan will be supported by continuous monitoring using different modalities and technologies for a more effective and efficient way of focusing on student learning outcomes.

Progress in the implementation of activities, use of inputs, use of budget, implementation of recommendations from each review, and achievement of planned outputs and outcomes will be critically reviewed.

A single consolidated performance report, listing achievements against all KPIs, with a full commentary explaining any variances, will be prepared by the PRMD and the TMG and submitted to the NSC for decision and future guidance.

Joint Review Mission

The Joint Review Mission (JRM) is an important element of a comprehensive programme evaluation and monitoring system. An important feature of the JRM is the strong emphasis on field visits based on terms of reference agreed by the MoE and development partners supporting the education sector. Joint supervision is carried out once a year, and in conjunction with each other, making it unnecessary for each donor to set up its own separate evaluation system. Mission members will be drawn from the MoE, development partners, regional education offices and CSOs, as appropriate. Key thematic areas will be selected each year by the ETWG to monitor what is actually happening on the ground.

Joint monitoring reports will be consolidated and presented to the MoE, ETWG, REBs, and various stakeholders for comments and inputs, and then submitted to the National Steering Committee and the Annual Review Meeting for decision and guidance.

Annual Review Meeting

The Annual Review Meeting will be organized every year with the active participation of the regions, development partners, civil society and PTA representatives to assess the progress of the implementation of the annual plan, thereby identifying achievements, challenges and taking corrective actions.

Mid-term and final evaluation

A mid-term evaluation will be conducted to assess the achievement and status of ESDP VI against the KPIs at the mid-point of the plan period (2023/24). The findings of the evaluation will be discussed, and appropriate action will be taken on challenges encountered and objectives not achieved as planned. The mid-term evaluation will take stock of the initial lessons learned and address specific design, implementation and management issues or problems.

Thematic/specific studies and

evaluations

In addition to regular monitoring, research and studies will be carried out to provide evidence to influence educational policy decisions. Specific issues may be identified, during the JRM and ARM, in particular regions and at the centre. Thematic studies may be commissioned to provide regional and central policymakers with the information they need to make evidencebased decisions to improve ESDP VI.

The final evaluation will be carried out at the end of the plan period, in the second half of 2025, by an independent body. The findings will be discussed and disseminated to the respective entities for policy, strategy and plan development.

Summary of key performance indicators (KPIs)

Progress in implementing the plan will be measured through the collection and analysis of performance data against the set target and baseline results. The design of KPIs will focus on the priority programmes: quality, relevance, access, equity, and governance, so that the implementation and progress of the ESDPVI is monitored in a compact manner. Key performance indicators should be few in number, measurable and manageable

Table 1: Key performance indicators for ESDP VI

Table 1. Key perion							
KPIs (all targets are exp termsof women and r appropriate; all are exp percentages, unless stated). (Percentages are giv in %, where appropria	nen, where pressed as otherwise ven	2018/19	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25
GOVERNANCE AN	ID FINANCE						
Institutional arrangen lished with the new re		Existing	100%				
Annual operational pl (implement- ing bodie adequately address a cross-cutting issues	es that		100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
Share of Governmen education	t budget to	68 %	76.6%	68.86%	69.7%	70.58%	71.4%
Share of education b DPs and NGOs	udget from	21%	8.4%	19.74%	18.48%	17.28%	15.96%
Share of educational community	budget from	11 %	15%	11.4%	11.8 %	12.2%	12.6%
		2018/19 T (F/M)	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25
QUALITY AND REI	EVANCE			1			
			QUALIT Y				
Textbook/learner rational levels. (KG- primary,		DNA	1:1	1:1	1:1	1:1	1:1.5
Students textbook utilization ratio at primary and middle level schools		DNA	100	100	100	100	100
Digitalized secondary schools teach- ing and learning materials		0	100	100	100	100	100
	Pre-primary	15,000 (79.5/20.5)	20,900 (81.5/18.5)	26,800 (83/16.5)	32,70 0 (85/14)	38,60 0 (86/15)	44,500 (88/12)
Qualified teachers at all levels	Primary and middle	57,824 (40.6/59.4)	10,2315 (43.5/56.5)	14,6806 (46.4/53.6)	23,5788 (49.2/50.7)	28,0279 (52.1/47.8)	32,4770 (55/45)
	Secondary	7,903 (19.3/79.7)	11,635 (20.2/78.9)	23,269 (21.2/78.2)	34,903 (22.1/77.5)	46,537 (23/76.7)	58,171 (24/76)
Licensed teachers at all levels	Pre-primary	DNA	13	26	35	43	50
	Primary	24.1	27	35	45	55	58.5
	Secondary	24.1	30	35	45	55	58.5
Vocational and technical teachers appropriately qualified for Grades 11-12.		DNA					100



KPIs							
(all targets are expressed in terms of women and men, where appropriate; all are expressed as percentages, unless otherwise stated). (Percentages are given		2018/19 (F/M)	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25
in %, where appropri							
	Pre-primary	0				5,285	10,571
Appropriately quali- fied school leaders at all levels	Primary and middle	66.4 (11.2/55.2)	76.4 (12.7/60.3)	86.4 (14.3/65.5)	96.4 (15.8/70.7)	100 (19/81)	100 (81.19)
	Secondary	62.8 (6.8/56)	72.8 (7.6/61.8)	82.8 (8.5/68.4)	92.8 (9.3/75)	100 (11/89)	100 (11/89)
Percentage of qual- ified school super- visors	Cluster superviso r	77.8 (5/72.8)	87.8 (9.4/72.8)	97.8 (13.8/72.8)	100 (18.3/72.8)	100 (22.7/72.8)	100 (27.2/72.8)
	Secondary	90	95	100	100	100	100
Porcontago of	Pre-primary	0	13	26	35	45	57.38
Percentage of licensed school	Primary and middle	DNA	70	70	70	70	70
leaders	Secondary	DNA	70	70	70	70	70
Percentage of satisfi	ed teachers	65%			80		90
Attrition rate		2.6			1.5		1
Percentage of	Grade 6,	0					85
Grade 6, 8, and 12 students who score	Grade 8	25.2			75		80
50 or above on national learning assessments	Grade 12	26.6		55			75
Percentage of	Pre-primary	5	15	25	30	37	45.2
pre-primary to	Primary	11	15	25	30	37	45.2
sec- ondary schools level 3	Middle	11	15	25	30	37	45.2
and above	Secondary	11	15	25	30	37	45.2
Percentage of stu-	Grade 6	NA		70	75	80	85
dents in Grades 6,8 and 12 who	Grade 8	34	50	60	65	75	80
scored 50 and above	Grade 12		50	55	60	70	75
Percentage of Grade 2/3 student scored proficient and above on EGRA		4.2/8.1		36/48			50/50
Percentage of Grade student scored profic above on EGMA	e 2/3 cient and	DNA			50/50		50/50
Percentage of Schoo talized laboratory.	ols with digi-	DNA	80	90	95	100	100
Number of students innovation	recognized in	DNA	30	60	90	120	150
Percentage of teachers trained in mother tongue language proficiency skills		DNA	10	20	30	40	50
Percentage of teacher English language pro		DNA	10	20	30	40	50
Percentage of teachers trained in sign language.		DNA	10	20	30	40	50
Percentage of middle school English language teachers trained in English language skills special training. F/M		DNA	10	20	30	40	50
Percentage of schools that allocate at least half of the school grant for SIP teaching & learning domain.		DNA	60	70	80	90	100

Education Sector Development Programme VI

136

KPIs								
(all targets are expressed in terms of women and men, where								
appropriate; all are expressed as	2018/19 (F/M)	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25		
percentages, unless otherwise stated).	(F/M)							
(Percentages are given								
in %, where appropriate)								
ACCESS, EQUITY AND INTERNAL EFFICIENCY ACCESS								
Pre-primary GER	40/41	46/47	53/54	60/60	66/67	73/74		
Grade 1 NIR	88/97	89/96	90/97	92/98	93/98	95/99		
	00/97	09/90	90/97	92/90	93/90	90/99		
Primary grade 1-6, including ABE,GER	109/121	108/119	107/117	106/114	105/112	104/109		
Primary grade 1-6, including ABE,NER	95/105	96/104	96/103	97/103	97/102	98/102		
Middle school 7-8, GER	106/118	105/116	104/114	104/112	103/110	102/108		
Middle school 7-8,NER	93/102	94/101	95/101	95/101	96/100	97/100		
Secondary school 9-12, GER	30/34	35/39	40/43	45/48	50/52	55/57		
Secondary school 9-12,NER	25/26	30/32	36/37	41/43	47/48	53/53		
Pastoralist								
Pre-primary GER	12.7/14	21.5/22.6	30.3/31.2	39.1/39.8	47.9/48.6	56.7/57.3		
Primary 1-6 GER	84.7/106.4	87.7/104.2	90.8/102.1	93.8/100	96.9/100	100/100		
Primary 1-6 NER	65.7/82.3	69.5/84.2	73.3/86.2	77.1/88.1	80.9/90.4	84.7/92.1		
Middle school GER	42.2/48.6	46.2/52.6	50.4/56.6	54.6/60.6	58.38/64.6	63/68.6		
Middle school NER	16.1/17.1	22.7/23.5	29.2/29.9	35.8/36.4	42.3/42.8	48.9/49.2		
Secondary GER	18/24	23.2/28.4	28.4/32.9	33.6/37.4	38.8/41.8	44.1/46.2		
Secondary NER	12/15	17.3/20	22.6/25	27.9/30	33.3/35	38.6/4		
Refugee Education								
Pre-primary GER	58.6/63.7	63.2/67.7	67.9/71.8	72.9/75.8	77.2/79.8	81.9/83.8		
Primary 1-8 GER	54.9/78.6	58.8/80.9	62.7/83.3	66.6/85.3	70.5/88.1	74.4/90.5		
Secondary 9-12 GER	7.2/17.2	15.9/25.3	24.5/33.4	33.1/41.4	41.7/49.5	50.4/57.6		
Number of youth & adults aged 15+ years old participated in skills educa- tion programme	4,438,051	5,609,432	6,780,813	7,952,193	9,123,574	10,294,955		
	I.	EQUITY		I.	I			
GPI in pre-primary (index)	0.95	0.96	0.97	0.98	0.99	1.00		
GPI in primary (index)	0.91	0.92	0.93	0.94	0.95	0.96		
GPI in middle (index)	0.97	0.98	0.99	1.00	1.00	1.00		
GPI in secondary (index)	0.87	0.88	0.89	0.9.	0.91	0.92		
Enrolment Rate of Children with SNE, pre-primary	1.2/1.5	3/3.4	4.4/5.2	6.8/7	8.7/8.9	10.6/10.7		
Gross Enrolment Rate of Children With SNE, Grade 1-8	9.7/12.3	12.7/14.8	15.8/17.3	18.8/19.8	21.9/22.4	25/25		
Gross Enrolment Rate of Children With SNE, Grade 9.12	2.4/3.2	4.1/4.8	5.9/6.5	7.6/8.2	9.4/9.9	11.2/11.6		
Number of female graduates in youth & adults life-skills education	1,997,123	2,627,194	3,257,265	3,887,336	4,517,407	5,147,478		
INTERNAL EFFICIENCY								
Grade 1 dropout rate	25/25	23/23	21/21	19/19	17/17	15/15		
Grade 1-6 dropout rate	18/17	17/16	15/15	14/13	13/12	12/11		
Grade 1-6 repetition rate	6/6	5/5	4/4	3/3	2/2	1/1		
Grade 7-8 dropout rate	12/12	11/11	10/10	9/9	8/8	7/7		
	,		,	0,0	0,0	.,.		

KPIs (all targets are expressed in termsofwomen and men, where appropriate; all are expressed as percentages, unless otherwise stated). (Percentages are given	2018/19 (F/M)	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25
in %, where appropriate) Grade 7-8 repetition rate	5/5	4/4	3/3	2/2	1/1	1/1
Completion rate grade 6	79/86	81/87	83/89	85/90	87/92	90/93
Completion rate grade 8	60/64	63/67	66/69	69/72	72/74	75/77
Survival rate grade 7	31/29	35/33	39/37	43/41	47/45	50/50
USE OF DIGITAL TECHNOLOG	Y FOR THE	EDUCATIO	N SECTOR			
Percentage of students used Digital Technology for Assessment and Examination	0	100	100	100	100	100
Percentage of clear Online National Examination Platform established and communicated	0	100	100	100	100	100
Percentage of digital contents de- veloped for teachers' and leaders' online course	0	100	100	100	100	100
Percentage of school and college leaders and teachers licensed and re-licensed on line	0	100	100	100	100	100
Percentage of school leaders trained with online course	0	100	100	100	100	100
System developed and put in place to utilize Digital technology in data acquisition, processing and manage- ment	0	100	100	100	100	100
Percentage of schools utilizing pro- ducing and communicating quarterly, biannual and annual data using digital technology	0	100	100	100	100	100
Systems established to manage school, students and teachers' ID	0	100	100	100	100	100
Percentage of schools inspected online	0	100	100	100	100	100
Percentage of stakeholders ex- pressing satisfaction with quality of statistical information on education produced by MoE/REBs	0	100	100	100	100	100
Percentage of schools provided tablets equipped with learning re- sources	0	100	100	100	100	100
Number of secondary schools equipped with computers and virtual laboratories	0	100	100	100	100	100
Percentage of digitalized curriculum contents developed for primary, mid- dle, secondary schools & non-formal education	0	100	100	100	100	100
Percentage of students , teachers monitored through digital technology	0	100	100	100	100	100
Percentage of schools equipped with innovative ICT infrastructure and access programmes for special need students	0	100	100	100	100	100

Education Sector Development Programme VI

Section 5

Cost and financing




Over the past two decades, the education sector in Ethiopia has remained at the top of the country's priorities. The Government's strong commitment to education is reflected in a significant proportion of public resources regularly invested in the sector. With enrolment up to Grade 12 increasing from 10 million in 2003 to over 25 million in 2018, these efforts have resulted in remarkable progress, particularly in terms of access.

The Government's high level of commitment to the sector is also reflected in its spending priorities. Public spending on education has consistently outpaced other priority sectors as a percentage of GDP. In the most recent year for which data were available, education spending as a share of GDP (4.7%) was more than twice the next highest spending (road construction, 2.2%) and almost equal to the next highest 2-4 spending (agriculture, natural resources, and public health, 4.9%) combined. In addition, over the last four years, education spending has averaged 24.4% of public spending. For example, still maintained as the Government's number one priority, this share increased from 22.9% in 2013/14 to 26.1% in 2016/17. Furthermore, a regional analysis shows that, in sub-Saharan Africa, Ethiopia performs above average in terms of the share of GDP allocated to education. And it is a leading economy in terms of the proportion of public expenditure on education.

The nature of education spending has changed in recent years. In 2012/13, spending was split fairly evenly between capital and recurrent. Namely, 41.4% of the budget was for capital expenditure and 58% for recurrent expenditure. However, although in recent years both types of expenditure have increased, these shares have evolved differently: in 2017/18, 73.6% of education expenditure was recurrent and 26.3% was capital, meaning that recurrent expenditure has increased more than capital expenditure.

Budget execution was equally divided between regional and federal governments: in 2016/17, 48.9% of the education budget came from federal accounts, 51.1% from regional governments.

Distribution by sub-sector in education

The equal distribution of budget shares is accompanied by a clear division of responsibilities: while the Federal Government invests almost all its resources in higher education, the regional government is responsible for general education and TVET. In 2017/18, 91.4% offederal resources went to higher education. Now, with the division at federal level of the Ministry of Education into the Ministry of General Education and the Ministry of Science and Higher Education, a special effort may have to be made to protect the budget of the general education sector, so that the ambitions of ESDP VI can be achieved.

This may be a challenge. In 2017/18, general education received almost 44% of the country's investment in education, while a slightly larger share of public resources went to higher education, reaching 45.6%. In other words, the shares of the total budget devoted to higher education exceeded those for pre-primary, primary and secondary education combined. Higher education receives the most, even though the number of learners at university represents only 3% of the student population compared to 94% in basic education. Two fundamental reasons can be identified to explain this situation. First, the development of higher education started at a very low level: the country had only one public university and a few colleges before the launch of ESDP I in 1996/97. The expansion of higher education was therefore a necessity, even if it is capital intensive. Secondly, expenditure per student varies significantly by level. The unit cost is much higher for higher education than for other levels: for example, in 2017/18, expenditure per student in universities was 16.4 times that of secondary education, and 50.5 times that of primary education. In the same year, recurrent expenditure in Higher Education per student was 37.4 times that of a primary student.

The differences in expenditure by level are not unique to Ethiopia, but they are very high. A comparison with a diverse group of other countries in Figure 2 shows that Ethiopia spends much more on tertiary education as a proportion of its total education expenditure than the other countries in the table. Ethiopia's share of education spending on tertiary education (46%) is more than twice that of all but two of the other 17 countries shown.

To meet this challenge, the Government is committed to increasing funding for general education, which is reflected in the simulation results presented in this section.



Figure 2: Distribution of education expenditures by sub-sector

Criteria used for the simulation

Key objectives

The cost of ESDP VI depends primarily on its main policy objectives, which are translated into specific intake and internal efficiency targets. As part of the Government's overall vision of becoming a lower middle-income country, several key objectives of ESDP VI were defined: the achievement of universal primary education; the expansion of pre-primary and secondary education; the inclusion of ICT; and salary reform to improve quality by maintaining teacher motivation.

The description of the priority programmes mentioned all specific objectives. The most important ones in terms of costs are briefly presented below. They are all to be achieved by 2024/25, unless otherwise stated:

- GER for pre-primary will reach 74% mainly due to the expansion of kindergartens and 'O' classes for 5-year-olds. The share of public kindergartens will remain stable over the plan period (23%).
- GER for primary education will 104/109% (girls/boys).
- GER for basic education (primary ad middle) will be 99/104% (girls/boys).
- GER for secondary education will 55/57% (girls/boys).

- C 100% ofteachers in kindergarten, primary, middle, and secondary schools will receive in-service training of various types.
- C 100% of pre-primary (kindergarten and 'O' classes) and primary school students and 50% of middle school students will receive school feeding (public schools only).
- C Reflecting the more affordable nature of ICT, the costs related to ICT and inservice teacher training are set at 80% of the initial unit costs.
- C Education for refugees will expanded.
- The number of adults participatingin adult education programmes will be doubled.

Assumptions on norms and standards of resourceuse

The cost of further expansion and improvement of the education system under ESDP VI depends heavily on norms and standards related to the use and cost of human and material resources. Some of the key assumptions are listed below.

Regarding salary costs (teaching and nonteaching staff), the simulation predicts that salaries will start to increase in 2022/23 in line with the salary reform, while teachers' qualifications will improve over the plan period. Table 2: Key assumptions for costing

Pre-primary	Target
Student-teacher ratio (kindergarten)	49
% of enrolment in non-government kindergarten	77%
Basic education (primary and middle)	
Students per school	600
Student-teacher ratio	40
% of enrolment in non-government schools	5%
Secondary education	
Students per school	1000
Student-teacher ratio	24
% of enrolment in non-government schools	6%
Adult and non-formal education	
% of learners in government centers	25%

Macroeconomic framework for ESDP VI

Despite the focus on education at all levels of government, the sector is likely to face financial constraints in the coming years due to the economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. Ethiopia has distinguished itself as one of the fastest growing economies in the world, with an average growth rate of 9%. However, due to the pandemic, the government has revised economic growth downwards, especially for the first three years of the plan period (Table 3). This will certainly influence the evolution of resources available for education. The simulation model reflects the financial impact on education resources and funding gaps.

Table 3: Projected GDP growth (million ETB, 2019 price)

	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25
GDP	2,472,056	2,620,379	2,830,010	3,070,560	3,346,911
% of growth	6.0%	6.0%	8.0%	8.5%	9.0%

Source: Data provided by National Planning Commission.

As we saw in the previous section of this chapter, general education received only 44% of the total education budget, while higher education was allocated 46%. In 2018/19, the share of general education as a % of GDP was about 2%, which is low compared to international experiences. The Government plans to increase the budget for

general education during the ESDP VI period. In the simulation, it is assumed that the share of general education as a % of the total government budget will increase from 9.7% in 2018/19 to 13.7% (Table 4). This means that the general education budget will reach 3.0% of GDP in 2024/25, which is more in line with international examples.

Table 4: Projected	education budget ((million ETB, 2019 price)
--------------------	--------------------	---------------------------

	2018/19	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25
Education budget	44,363	63,629	72,918	85,006	92,290	100,658
% of total government budget	9.7%	10.3%	11.5%	12.8%	13.2%	13.7%
% of GDP	2%	2.6%	2.8%	3.0%	3.0%	3.0%

Total cost and funding gap for ESDP VI

Cost of ESDP VI

Table 5 shows the total projected cost of ESDP VI by programme (costs related to programmes 2 and 7 have been integrated into programmes 1, 3, 4, 5 and 6).

The main driver of the increase is teachers' salaries, following the recent reform. As shown in Figure 3, the cost of teacher salaries is expected to increase by about 24 billion Birr over the ESDP VI period. This is an increase of 47% in 5 years. Other cost factors are related to school expansion and modernization (especially at the secondary level), as well as universal school feeding coverage for pre-primary and primary students, and coverage of 50% of middle school students.

Programmes	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25
Programme 1: System strengthening, Governance and accountability	13,458	14,102	15,999	17,912	19,949
Programme 3: Quality enhancement and relevance to job market	38,532	40,619	46,291	52,448	59,117
Programme 4: General education access, equity and internal efficiency	20,749	25,527	30,436	35,456	40,305
Programme 5: Youth and adult non-formal education	753	913	1,073	1,234	1,394
Programme 6: Use of digital technology for the education sector	3,693	3,693	3,693	3,693	3,693
Unallocated	261	306	382	464	550
Total	77,446	85,162	97,875	111,206	125,008

Table 5: Costs by programme (million ETB, 2019 price)

Due to the substantial increase in the cost of teacher salaries and school feeding, the share of recurrent costs in the total cost is expected to increase from 70% in 2020/21 to 81% in 2024/25. This indicates that a reorientation of capital investment towards recurrent costs may be necessary during the ESDP VI period.

The allocation of resources by sub-sector is expected to remain stable over the plan period (Figure 4). The largest share of costs will remain in basic education (Grades 1-8), with about 55% of total costs, with secondary education (Grades 9-12) requiring about 35% of total costs.

Table 6: Percentage of	recurrent and capital cost
------------------------	----------------------------

	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25
Recurrent	70.4%	72.9%	76.2%	78.8%	81.2%
Capital	28.6%	26.1%	22.7%	20.1%	17.7%
Unallocated	1.0%	1.1%	1.1%	1.1%	1.1%

Education Sector Developm ent Program me VI

Figure 3: Cost by programme



Figure 4: Cost by type



Education Sector Development Programme VI

Figure 5: Cost by level



Table 7: Projected costs by level (million ETB, 2019 price)

	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25	Average %
Early childhood development/ pre-primary education	2,153	3,145	4,340	5,716	7,066	4%
Basicéducation (Grades 1-8)	41,700	46,197	53,460	61,254	69,049	55%
Secondary education (Grades 9-12)	29,097	30,236	33,265	37,041	41,384	35%
Teachers' education	2,341	3,097	3,946	4,038	4,038	4%
Non-formal education	753	913	1,073	1,234	1,394	1%
System-wide	1,403	1,574	1,790	1,923	2,076	2%
Total	77,446	85,162	97,875	111,206	125,008	100%

Funding gap

Due to the unfavourable economic environment caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, combined with the increased demand for resources to implement the recent teacher salary reform, the funding gap is expected to remain even with the delayed implementation of the salary increase. The funding gap will be between 12 and 18% over the plan period (Figure 6). The total financing gap for the ESDP VI period is expected to be ETB 77 billion (15% of total expenditure), with annual financing gaps presented in Table 8 below. The funding gap is expected to be smallest in 2022/23 (12%) but will start to increase in the last two years of the planning period due to the expected increase in salaries. However, the gap can be expected to narrow after the ESDP VI period, when the Ethiopian economy fully recovers from the impact of COVID-19 and wage growth stabilizes.

Table 8: Annual funding gap (million ETB)

	2020/21	2021/22	2022/23	2023/24	2024/25	Total
Funding gap	13,063	11,330	11,795	17,683	22,955	76,826
%	17%	13%	12%	16%	18%	15%





Contributions from partners, the private sector, and households

The results of the above simulation show that even when the government increases its funding for general education and adjusts the implementation of the plan, funding gaps remain. The availability of external resources is therefore of paramountimportance.

The Government budget is the main source of funding for the implementation of ESDP VI. At the same time, the implementation of this programme will require that other sources than the government contribute to the financing of education: external aid, community contributions and internal revenues can be additional sources for the education sector. For this reason, a financial and resource mobilization strategy that addresses the need for additional resources to improve the quality of education in Ethiopia will be developed, while the Government will seek further efficiencies in the implementation of the plan.

Communities have played a key role in the progress of the education sector. In Ethiopia,

there is a tradition of strong community support for education - in terms of cash and in-kind support for classroom construction, and in terms of school management and decision-making. The expansion of schools in local areas has been led by communities with the support of woreda and REB officers. The education roadmap foresees strengthening the role of communities in the education sector by developing a system that maximizes parental involvement in the overall school programme and by establishing a community financial support system to improve the quality of education. Particular attention will be paid to equity, especially in the context of the highly volatile economic situation and the COVID-19 pandemic.

The progress in education in Ethiopia in recent years has been supported by NGOs and international partners. In addition to their financial contributions, they have also provided personal support to the implementation of education programmes. Their contributions have helped to fill the resource gap in recent years and are expected to continue to do so. During the ESDP V period, donor contributions reaching government accounts averaged \$156 million per year. This represented almost 6% of the total education budget (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Education budget and donor's contributions to education during ESDP V period

The plan is to continue to mobilize support from all relevant stakeholders and NGOs. Major projects are underway and, although there is some uncertainty about the level of investment by partner countries due to COVID-19, it is expected that donor support will remain at current levels throughout the ESDP VI period. Additional resource mobilization efforts will be made with donors to offset the financial impact of COVID-19 on educational resources and support transformative changes in general education in Ethiopia.

Section 6

Major assumptions, risks, and mitigation measures

The strategic planning process is the only key time to overcome idle speculations and actually manage assumptions, risks and mitigation measures. It is useful to make a distinction between internal and external risks. Internal risks are those that are internal to the education sector itself.

They are therefore much more within the control of education sector planners and managers than external risks which may occur outside the education sector, and for which educational responses are inadequate. Within the framework of its specific history and cultural and social characteristics, each country has its own set of internal and external risks. The assumptions are directly related to the risks. They represent specific situations that will be essential for the successful implementation of a large-scale educational intervention, such as an educational development plan.

Assumptions

The following have been identified as major assumptions and opportunities for the implementation of ESDP VI.

f 1. Government commitment to education

ESDP VI is prepared and implemented in line with the Education and Training Roadmap. The Ethiopian Government has given due attention to the realization of the roadmap through this strategic plan. Major changes and reforms have been made from the past in many areas. There is a remarkable commitment to invest in the introduction of digital technology at all levels. Indeed, the Ethiopian Government has a comprehensive vision of development that indicates a strong commitment to this, not only in the education sector but also at the crosssectoral level, through its vision of becoming a middle-income country by 2025.

f 2. A shared vision for the education sector

The focus on quality, inclusion and equity of education and lifelong learning opportunities for all to achieve the SDG4 target is of high importance, from the federal to the woreda level. The issue of quality is a hot topic. The contribution of the community and parent-teacher associations (PTAs) at school level is also encouraging. To ensure a coherent implementation of ESDP VI, the federal level will work closely with the regions to provide technical advice for the preparation of regional plans and to engage in joint operational planning and monitoring of ESDP VI for its successful implementation.

f 3. Support from development partners

Although the Government has demonstrated its commitment by allocating 25% of its annual expenditure and 4.5% of the country's GDP, the amount of resources needed for the education sector is very difficult to cover from the public budget. With this understanding, the contribution of development partners to support the education sector over the past five years has been significant; and as such, this contribution will hopefully continue on the usual trend.

f 4. Contribution of the private sector and local and international NGOs

Currently, the expansion of public schools has increased from time to time, sharing the burden with the Government. The contribution of NGOs and local development organizations and associations to the education sector is another opportunity. Regional and local development allocations make a commendable contribution to the expansion and equipping of schools that do not meet minimum standards.

Risks

Some risks are integral to the education sector.

f 1. Emergency and natural disaster

In recent years, Ethiopia has experienced several periods of drought that have severely affected food security in some areas. Emergencies such as those caused by natural disasters affect all aspects of human life, including education. People may have to move. Children may not be able to go to school. Education funding may be diverted to emergency response and food.

ESDP VI has foreseen a cross-cutting programme on education in emergencies to ensure a rapid response to circumstances arising from the emergency.

f 2. Economic growth and the funding gap

Over the past two years, Ethiopia has experienced double-digit economic growth. However, this fiscal year's performance is 8% due to the Covid 19 pandemic. If the situation does not improve, the economic growth rate could be lower than this figure.

f 3. The Covid-19 pandemic

The current global phenomenon and pandemic is affecting the education sector in several ways. All schools are closed at present. If the pandemic continues, the education system may face a challenge to conduct the learning and teaching process in the usual way.

Mitigation measures

To mitigate the above risk, in particular the risk of a Covid 19 pandemic, efforts will be made to ensure that the teaching and learning process is conducted smoothly in a safe and healthy environment. Schools should be well equipped with WASH installations. The pupil/classroom ratio will be preserved, and a special Covid response plan will be developed and implemented in the education sector.

In addition, the pandemic has necessitated and created the opportunity to develop and use digital learning and teaching as appropriate. In addition to minimizing the risk of Covid 19 in schools, the transformation will facilitate and enhance the introduction of digital technology, increasing innovation and learning platforms as well as the use of flexible anytime, anywhere learning. As for natural disasters, the education sector is working closely with the Natural Disaster Risk Management Agency and the Preparedness plan. The strengthening of the education cluster is essential for dealing with education in emergencies.

Regarding the funding gap, a strategy needs to be developed and implemented to mobilize national resources, involving communities and the private sector. It is also expected that the funding gap in the education sector will be reduced through close partnership with bilateral and multilateral partners and other stakeholders. In addition, the sector should use available and allocated funds effectively and efficiently.